Peter Sloman
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Civic Offices, Bridge Street,
Reading RG1 2LU
 0118 937 3787

To: Councillor Gittings (Chair)
Councillors Ayub, Carnell, Challenger,
Duveen, Maskell, McGonigle, Page,
Stanford-Beale, R Williams, Khan, McElroy,
McEwan, Mitchell and Eden
Your contact is:

Direct:  0118 937 2432
e-mail:
jenny.hazell@reading.gov.uk
21 June 2021

Jenny Hazell - Committee Services

NOTICE OF MEETING - STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
30 JUNE 2021
A meeting of the Strategic Environment, Planning and Transport Committee will be held on
Wednesday, 30 June 2021 at 6.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Reading ( Please
note there will be a very limited number of socially distanced seats available for the public in
the Council Chamber). The Agenda for the meeting is set out below.
WARDS
AFFECTED
1.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2.

MINUTES

Page No

5 - 18

To confirm the minutes of the meetings held on 15 March
2021 and 26 May 2021.
3.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT
SUB-COMMITTEE

19 - 28

Minutes of the meeting held on 4 March 2021.
4.

MINUTES OF OTHER BODIES




5.

29 - 48

Joint Waste Disposal Board (minutes of the meeting
held on 17 June 2021 are not yet available)
AWE Local Liaison Committee – 17 March 2021
Reading Climate Change Partnership - 18 May 2021

PETITIONS

CIVIC OFFICES EMERGENCY EVACUATION: If an alarm sounds, leave by the nearest fire exit quickly and calmly
and assemble on the corner of Bridge Street and Fobney Street. You will be advised when it is safe to re-enter
the building.
www.reading.gov.uk | facebook.com/ReadingCouncil | twitter.com/ReadingCouncil
DX 40124 Reading (Castle Street)

Petitions submitted pursuant to Standing Order 36 in relation
to matters falling within the Committee’s Powers & Duties
which have been received by Head of Legal & Democratic
Services no later than four clear working days before the
meeting.
6.

QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS AND MEMBERS OF THE
PUBLIC
Questions submitted pursuant to Standing Order 36 in
relation to matters falling within the Committee’s Powers &
Duties which have been submitted in writing and received by
the Head of Legal & Democratic Services no later than four
clear working days before the meeting.

7.

DECISION BOOK REFERENCES
To consider any requests received by the Monitoring Officer
pursuant to Standing Order 42, for consideration of matters
falling within the Committee’s Powers & Duties which have
been the subject of Decision Book reports.

8.

ACTIVE TRAVEL
UPDATE

PROGRAMME

AND

SCHOOL

STREETS

ALL
WARDS

49 - 96

ALL
WARDS

97 - 104

ALL
WARDS

105 114

BOROUGH
WIDE

115 126

To provide an update on progress with delivering the
Council’s Active Travel Programme, including to seek
scheme and spend approval for the recommended Active
Travel Fund Tranche 2 scheme at Shinfield Road. The report
also provides an update on the Council’s School Streets
initiative, including to seek authority to progress a joint
experimental School Street for Maiden Erlegh School in
Reading, UTC Reading and Alfred Sutton Primary School.
9.

NATIONAL BUS STRATEGY - NEXT STEPS
To note the Council’s proposed next steps following the
publication of the National Bus Strategy by Central
Government and to consider authorising Officers to prepare
a Bus Service Improvement Plan for Reading as well as
establishing Enhanced Partnership Arrangements with local
bus operators.

10.

LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN - NEXT STEPS
To update the Committee on the proposed next steps for
progression of the Council’s next Local Transport Plan (LTP),
the Reading Transport Strategy 2036, following the statutory
consultation which was undertaken in 2020.

11.

MAJOR TRANSPORT SCHEMES UPDATE
To provide an update on the progress with delivery of the
current programme of Major Transport Schemes in Reading.

12.

BRIDGE MAINTENANCE (WORKS) TERM CONTRACT 20212025

BOROUGH
WIDE

127 132

BOROUGH
WIDE

133 150

ALL
WARDS

151 180

ALL
WARDS

181 186

To inform the Committee of the outcome of the
procurement process for the Bridge Maintenance (Works)
Term Contract 2021-2025.
13.

NATIONAL FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN 2021- 2027
To update and inform the Committee of the Council’s
contribution towards the updated National Flood Risk
Management Plan 2021-2027 and to obtain delegated
authority to submit the final draft to the Environment
Agency.

14.

REVIEW OF GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR READING
CLIMATE CHANGE PARTNERSHIP
To consider the proposed governance arrangements for the
Reading Climate Change Partnership Agreement following
the completion of a review by the Partnership.

15.

LOW CARBON ENERGY CAPITAL INVESTMENTS
A report providing an update regarding the development of
the Council’s low carbon investment plans as well as seeking
spend approval for the programme. In addition, the report
seeks delegated authority of any significant variance from
the programme.

WEBCASTING NOTICE
Please note that this meeting may be filmed for live and/or subsequent broadcast via the Council's
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being
filmed. You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act.
Data collected during a webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy.
Members of the public seated in the public gallery will not ordinarily be filmed by the automated
camera system. However, please be aware that by moving forward of the pillar, or in the unlikely
event of a technical malfunction or other unforeseen circumstances, your image may be captured.
Therefore, by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.
Members of the public who participate in the meeting will be able to speak at an on-camera or offcamera microphone, according to their preference.
Please speak to a member of staff if you have any queries or concerns.

Agenda Item 2

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
Present:

Councillor Gittings (Chair);
Councillors Debs Absolom, Ayub, Challenger, Duveen, Eden,
Emberson, Maskell, McGonigle, Page, Robinson, Stanford-Beale and
R Williams.

Apologies:
12.

Councillor Carnell

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Eden declared a personal interest on Active Travel Programme and Schools
Street Item (item 18) on the basis that she was Chair of West Reading Together (a
resident-led community association) which had had some involvement with the
School Streets project.
13.

MINUTES

The Minutes of the meetings held on 18 November 2020 were confirmed as a correct
record.
14.

MINUTES OF THE TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE

The Minutes of the meetings of Traffic Management Sub-Committee held on 12
November 2020 and 14 January 2021 were received.
15.

MINUTES OF OTHER BODIES

The Minutes of the following meetings were received:


Joint Waste Disposal Board – 23 January 2021



AWE Local Liaison Committee – 18 November 2020



Reading Climate Change Partnership – 3 October 2020, 8 December 2020 and 9
February 2021.

16.

QUESTIONS

A question on the following matter was asked in accordance with Standing Order 36.
Questioner

Subject

Johnathan Moore

Planting More Trees on Residential Streets

(The full text of the question and reply was made available on the Reading Borough
Council website).
17.

ANNUAL GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REPORT 2019/20

The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report on
progress made by the Council in reducing corporate greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
for the 2019/20 year against the baseline year 2008/09, the targets set out in the
2015-20 Carbon Plan and the previous financial year 2018/19. The report advised
Page 5

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
that in 2019/20 the Council’s corporate carbon footprint was 63.5% lower than the
baseline year of 2008/09, substantially exceeding its Carbon Plan target of a 50% cut
by 2020. This had represented a reduction of 1% on the previous year 2018/19.
In addition, emissions arising from schools and ‘managed services’, which did not
form part of the corporate carbon footprint calculation, also fell over the last year –
by 9.4% and 13.7% respectively.
Appendix 1 to the report provided the full Reading Borough Council’s Greenhouse Gas
Protocol Report 2019-20 report.
The report stated that the estimated cumulative costs avoided by the Council from
reduced energy consumption since 2008 was in the region of £13 million (excluding
standing charges and other contract charges), compared to if no action had been
taken. The report provided information regarding on-going and new initiatives which
would be needed to deliver the more challenging targets set out in the new corporate
Carbon Plan 2020-25 as the Council worked towards net zero carbon operations by
2030.
The report set out the accepted protocols used by the Council to measure greenhouse
gas emissions, which were classified into three categories (scope 1, scope 2 and
scope 3). The Council’s headline corporate footprint measure was calculated by
adding scope 1 and 2 plus an element of scope 3, which was considered ‘corporate’.
In addition, the Council measured its ‘wider influence’ carbon footprint, which was
calculated by adding together everything in scopes 1, 2 and 3. This meant that it was
possible to track both the change in emissions under the Council’s direct control and
the change in emissions under the wider influence of its activities.
The report provided an analysis of the Council’s carbon footprint data for 2019/20 as
set out in tables to illustrate the changes by percentage. It also summarised the key
factors driving corporate carbon reduction.
In addition, the report identified some of the key considerations for the Council in
the journey to becoming a net zero council by 2030.
Resolved –
(1)

That the continued reduction in 2019/20 of the Council’s carbon
footprint, which has fallen by 63.5% compared to the 2008/09 baseline
figure, be noted;

(2)

That the achievement of the target set in the Council’s Carbon Plan
2015-20 of a 50% cut by 2020, which was exceeded by 13.5% be noted;

(3)

The need for the Council to redouble its efforts to meet the more
challenging targets set out in the new corporate Carbon Plan as its
works towards becoming a net zero Council by 2030 be noted.

Page 6

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
18.

ACTIVE TRAVEL PROGRAMME AND SCHOOL STREETS UPDATE

Further to Minute 10 of the meeting held on 18 November 2020, the Executive
Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
providing an update on the delivery of the Council’s Active Travel Programme. The
report also provided an update on the Council’s School Streets Initiative, including
seeking authority to progress experimental School Street schemes for Wilson Primary
School and Thameside Primary School.
The Council’s Active Travel Programme
The report advised that the delivery of the Tranche 1 Schemes had been undertaken
during spring/summer 2020 and a list of the schemes that had been delivered were
set out in the report. It was noted that these schemes were temporary in nature in
line with Department for Transport (DfT) guidance. A review of the temporary
schemes would be undertaken after a final decision on which Tranche 2 scheme(s)
would be taken forward for delivery had been made. Further updates on this review
would be reported to a future meeting of the Committee.
In respect of Tranche 2, the Council’s bid to the DfT had included a programme of
high-quality cycle and pedestrian infrastructure proposals on some of Reading’s most
strategic routes. Due to the level of funding made available by the DfT at this stage,
the top four schemes from the bid had been taken forward to the next stage of
development work. These were as follows: 

Southampton Street and Oracle Roundabout (Pell Street – Inner Distribution
Road/Bridge Street) – creation of a segregated cycle lane along Southampton
Street, with changes at the junctions at either end, linking with existing cycle
infrastructure through the reallocation of road space from general traffic. An
alternative option to create a shared cycle and bus lane - with cyclists catered
for within a separate lane – was also being considered.



Bath Road/Castle Hill (Southcote Lane – Inner Distribution Road/Castle Street)
– creation of cycle facilities on this route to and from the town centre.



Shinfield Road (Christchurch Green – Whitley Wood Road) – creation of
segregated cycle facilities linking to the tranche 1 schemes on Redlands Road
and Christchurch Road.



London Road (Borough boundary to Crown Street) – re-allocation of road space
from general traffic to create an inbound shared bus and cycle lane from the
Borough boundary to Cemetery Junction. The scheme would continue between
Cemetery Junction and Crown Street, offering a segregated cycle lane in both
directions, by reallocating road space from general traffic.

Initial feasibility work on these four schemes had been undertaken in accordance
with the DfT’s guidance on the delivery of Tranche 2 schemes and an engagement
exercise was launched on 24 February 2021. The report set out the indicative
timeline for the delivery of the tranche 2 programme, including consultations taking
place from 24 February to 23 April 2021 (phase 1) and Summer/Autumn 2021 (phase
2). It was anticipated that the scheme would be delivered from Winter 2021 onwards.
Page 7

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
Officers would continue to seek further funding opportunities from the DfT and other
external sources so as to progress additional schemes set out within the Council’s
tranche 2 programme. The location of the Tranche 2 schemes, as well as those
delivered in Tranche 1, were illustrated on a Map at Appendix A.
The Council’s School Streets initiative
The report provided an update on the Council’s School Streets initiative, which had
been launched in Spring 2020. Park Lane Primary (Junior School) had been the first
school to submit an application and the Committee had granted approval in
November 2020 to implement an experimental School Street on Downing Road and
Lambourne Close.
The report advised that further School Street applications had been received from
three different schools – namely Wilson Primary School, Thameside Primary School
and a joint application from Maiden Erlegh school in Reading, University Technical
College (UTC) Reading and Alfred Sutton Primary School.
The following appendices were attached to the report:
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix

B: Wilson Primary School – School Street Traffic Management Plan
C: Wilson Primary School - Summary of Consultation Responses
D: Thameside Primary School – School Street Traffic Management Plan
E: Thameside Primary School - Summary of Consultation Responses

Park Lane Primary (Junior School) School Street was due to commence on 18 January
2021, but because of school closures as a result of the latest Covid-19 lockdown, the
introduction of the scheme had been delayed. Progress to date had included School
Street marshals identified by the school undertaking specific training on road safety,
conflict management and the general role and responsibilities involved. A further
Stage 2 Road Safety Audit had also been completed.
Wilson Primary School had undertaken an informal consultation with affected
properties and parents/carers on the proposal to implement an experimental School
Street in Wilson Road, the details of which were shown on Appendix B and the
consultation responses were at Appendix C. Officers had carried out parking and
traffic surveys on the proposed School Street and neighbouring streets to determine
the current baseline usage of the streets. A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit had been
undertaken by an independent road safety auditor on the proposal and no safety
concerns had been identified within the report. As a result of the assessment, and in
agreement with the Wilson Primary School, Officers recommended that a School
Street, covering a reduced area, be approved.
Thameside Primary School had undertaken an informal consultation with the affected
properties and parents/carers on the proposal to implement an experimental School
Street on Harley Road, details of which were shown on Appendix D and a summary of
the consultation responses received were shown at Appendix E.
The report advised that Officers had carried out traffic surveys on the proposed
School Street and neighbouring streets. A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit had been
undertaken by an independent road safety auditor on the proposed School Street, and
Page 8

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
no safety concerns had been identified. In view of this assessment, Officers
recommended that a School Street on Harley Road be approved.
Subject to approval of these two School Street proposals, a Stage 2 Road Safety Audit
would be carried out on each of them prior to implementation. This would include
monitoring the impact of the School Streets on neighbouring roads during the initial
trial period in response to concerns raised by some residents during the
consultations.
The report sought agreement for the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic
Services to be granted delegated authority to make the appropriate traffic regulation
orders, covering the experimental order for a period of 6 months and subject to no
objections being received during that time, to make the traffic regulation order
permanent. Any objections received during the experimental trial period of School
Streets operation would be reported back to Committee at the appropriate time.
In respect of the joint application from Maiden Erlegh school in Reading, UTC Reading
and Alfred Sutton Primary School, the schools had undertaken an informal
consultation on the proposal with affected properties and parents/carers. The
consultation had resulted in a significant number of responses. Officers were
currently undertaking a full review of this application and the supporting information
provided by the schools, prior to bringing a recommendation regarding the proposal
to a future meeting of the Committee.
Resolved (1)

That the progress with development of the Active Travel and School
Streets Scheme be noted;

(2)

That the indicative programme for delivery of the Active Travel
Tranche 2 programme be approved and notes that the initial
consultation results will be reported to the Committee at its next
meeting;

(3)

That experimental School Street schemes for Wilson Primary School on
Wilson Road and Thameside Primary School on Harley Road be
approved;

(4)

That the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services, in
consultation with the Lead Councillor for Strategic Environment,
Planning and Transport, Ward Councillors, be authorised to make the
appropriate (experimental) Traffic Regulation Orders for the proposed
School Streets on Wilson Road and Harley Road in accordance with the
Local Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales)
Regulations 1996;

(5)

That subject to no objections being received during the experimental
trial period of School Streets operation, the Assistant Director of Legal
and Democratic Services be authorised to make the experimental order
permanent;

Page 9

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
(6)

That if objections are received, they be report back to the Committee
at the appropriate time;

(7)

That the recommendation regarding the proposed School Street on
Crescent Road be brought forward to a future meeting of the
Committee.

(Councillor Eden declared a personal interest on this item on the basis that she was
Chair of West Reading Together, a resident-led community association, which had
had some involvement with the School Streets project)
19.

HIGHWAY POLICY: ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING ON PUBLIC HIGHWAY
LICENCE – PROPOSED ONE YEAR TRIAL

The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report on
the proposed one-year trial to allow residents to enter into a licence agreement with
the Council to privately charge their Electric Vehicle (EV) parked on the public
highway.
The report explained that encouraging private vehicle owners to move from higher
polluting petrol and diesel vehicles to electric would contribute to the ambitions set
out in the Council’s Climate Change Strategy. Given that the move to EVs would
result in the need to charge electric and hybrid vehicles on the public highway, the
Council had already installed 15 lamp column and six other public 22KW EV charge
points Boroughwide, with additional sites to be installed as funding opportunities
materialized.
The purpose of the one-year trial was to look at a range of options to safely charge
electric vehicles from private properties to the electric vehicle parked on the public
highway. The Council had already been approached by 23 residents requesting EV
charging on or across the highway and the intention was to approach these residents
to be included in the EV charging trial.
The property owner/occupiers would enter an ‘Electric Vehicle Charging Licence’ as
part of the proposed one-year EV Charing trial. The Licence would include a range of
criteria and conditions to reduce the risk to the public and the applicant.
The trial would be promoted via a press release, using the Council’s webpage and its
social media platform.
Resolved –
(1)

That the one-year trial of the Electric Vehicle Charging on or across the
public highway be approved;

(2)

That the Assistant Director of Environmental and Commercial Services
in consultation with the Lead Councillor for Strategic Environment
Planning and Transport, the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic
Services and the Assistant Director of Finance be given delegated
authority to enter into the ‘Electric Vehicle Charging Licence’, as
described in this report.

Page 10

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
20.

ADOPTION OF THE AFFORDABLE HOUSING SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING
DOCUMENT

The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report on
the proposed adoption of the Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD), for use in determining planning applications for new developments in Reading.
The SPD provided further details to supplement the affordable housing policies
(policies H3 and H4) in the Reading Borough Local Plan (adopted November 2019) to
ensure that developments contributed towards meeting affordable housing needs.
The report advised that although there was some level of detail regarding affordable
housing within policies H3 and H4, there was a need for an Affordable Housing SPD to
provide further details, particularly on matters such as the specific tenure sought and
on implementation details.
The report explained that a draft Affordable Housing SPD had been approved for
consultation by Policy Committee on 28 September 2020 (minute 49 refers).
Consultation took place from 2 October 2020 to 13 November 2020 and involved
contacting all those on the Council’s policy consultation list, around 1,200 contacts in
total. A total of 13 responses had been received.
A Statement of Consultation, summarising the process and the responses received,
had been included in Appendix 1. In light of those responses, a revised version of the
SPD had been prepared, as set out in Appendix 2.
The report set out the other options considered. These were, firstly, not to proceed
with the SPD at the current time or secondly, to base the SPD around different
tenure expectations for on-site affordable housing
The report recommended the adoption of the revised version of the Affordable
Housing SPD as set out in Appendix 2. Once adopted, the SPD would be used to
supplement the Local Plan in determining planning applications.
Resolved –
(1)

That the results of the consultation on the Draft Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Document, undertaken during October and
November 2020, as set out in the Consultation Statement at Appendix
1, be noted;

(2)

That the Affordable Housing SPD (Appendix 2) be adopted as a
Supplementary Planning Document.

(In accordance with Standing Order 38, Councillor Duveen requested that his vote
against resolution (2) be recorded)
21.

ADOPTION OF THE DESIGN GUIDE TO HOUSE EXTENSIONS SUPPLEMENTARY
PLANNING DOCUMENT

The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report on
the proposed adoption of Design Guide to House SPD for use in determining planning

Page 11

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
applications for new developments in Reading. The SPD provided user-friendly
guidance on how planning applications for house extensions would be decided in line
with the Council’s Local Plan, which had been adopted in November 2019.
The report explained that a draft design guide to House Extensions SPD had been
approved for consultation by Policy Committee on 20 July 2020 (Minute 22 refers).
Consultation took place from 31 July to 25 September 2020. A total of 10 responses
had been received and a summary of the main points raised was set out in the report.
A full Statement of Consultation, detailing the consultation measures and the
responses received, was set out in Appendix 1.
The report set out the main changes that had been made to the SPD compared to the
version that had been consulted upon. It also set out the implications if the
Committee decided not to adopt the SPD and instead continue with the existing
Design Guide dating from 2003. The report explained that many of the policies
contained within the existing guidance were now out of date, which would affect the
weight it could be given in decision-making.
The report recommended the adoption of the revised version of the Design Guide to
House Extensions which was set out at Appendix 2. Once adopted, the SPD would be
used to supplement the Local Plan in determining planning applications.
Resolved –
(1)

That the results of the consultation on the Draft Design Guide to House
Extensions Supplementary Planning Document, undertaken between
July and September 2020, as set out in the Consultation Statement at
Appendix 1, be noted;

(2)

That the Design Guide to House Extensions SPD (Appendix 2) be adopted
as a Supplementary Planning Document.

22.

MAJOR TRANSPORT SCHEMES & FUNDING BIDS UPDATE

The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
providing an update on progress with delivery of the current programme of major
transport projects in Reading which were as follows:







Reading Station Interchanges
South Reading Mass Rapid Transit
Thames Valley Park, Park and Ride
Reading Green Park Station
Reading West Station Upgrade
National Cycle Network Route 422

The report also gave an update on the development of future schemes and associated
funding opportunities which were as follows:



Third Thames Crossing East of Reading
Thames Valley Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership

Page 12

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
Resolved –
(1)

That the progress with delivery of the current programme of major
transport schemes be noted;

(2)

That the progress with developing future schemes, including the
submission of funding bids, be noted.

23.

VEHICLE CROSSINGS – SHORT FRONTAGE LICENCE TRIAL OUTCOME AND
POLICY

The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
providing the outcome of the ‘Short Frontage Agreement’ trial for vehicle crossings
where the minimum 4.8 metres depth requirement could not be met. The minimum
property frontage depth was reduced to 4.3 metres with a requirement that the
applicant prove that they could safely park a vehicle wholly within their property and
not overhang the public highway causing an obstruction. Failure to comply would
result in the vehicle crossing being removed and all costs recovered from the
property owner.
There had been two applications for ‘Short Frontage’ licences agreed with the
Council, both of which had been installed during the trial period and had been
proving to be managed by the residents in a successful manner.
The Committee was asked to approve the adoption of the updated ‘Short Frontage
Agreement’ Policy, as set out in paragraph 5 of the report and Appendix 1. This was
as follows:


Retain the standard vehicle crossing minimum depth of 4.8 metres, as per the
current Vehicle Crossing Policy.



To enter into a ‘Short Frontage’ Agreement where applications could only
achieve a minimum depth of 4.3 metres minimum depth, as per the completed
‘Short Frontage’ trial.



To include additional criteria for those applications that could only achieve a
minimum depth of 4.1 metres as an absolute minimum, but subject to the
following additional conditions:





There was a minimum 1.8m footway width adjacent the proposed
vehicle crossing is available.
The proposed vehicle crossing was on an unclassified residential road,
(not on a high traffic volume main ‘classified’ road e.g. A4 Bath Road).
That the pedestrian footfall passing the proposed vehicle crossing was at
an acceptably low level.
That there was sufficient visibility on exiting the property.

The cost of the licence would be borne by the applicant with current fees for Legal
Services to produce the licence being up to a maximum of £500, with the Highway
fees for the application being set to the match the vehicle crossing application fee,
which was currently £75.

Page 13

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
Resolved –

24.

(1)

That the outcome of the ‘Short Frontage Agreement’ trial be noted;

(2)

That the updated ‘Short Frontage Agreement’ Policy, as set out in
paragraph 5 of the report and Appendix 1, be approved;

(3)

That the Assistant Director of Environmental & Commercial Services in
consultation with the Lead Councillor for Strategic Environment
Planning and Transport, the Assistant Director of Legal & Democratic
Services and the Assistant Director of Finance, be granted delegated
authority to enter into the ‘Short Frontage Agreement’ licences, as
described in the report.

HIGHWAY ASSET MANAGEMENT – INTERVENTION CRITERIA AND REPAIR
FREQUENCY REGIME

The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report,
seeking the Committee’s approval to amend the intervention level criteria regarding
highway defects for a trial six-month period as well as seeking a change to highway
safety defect repair times.
The report set out the current position in relation to an actionable carriageway
defect, which was classed as having a minimum of 50mm depth over an approximate
area of 300mm x 300mm. It also set out the five options to consider in relation to the
intervention criteria, with Officers’ comments on each of them.
The report recommended option 2 - the introduction of a 6-month trial to amend
intervention level to over 40mm depth over an approximate area of 300mm x 300mm,
which would address defects earlier on, thereby improving customer satisfaction and
reducing risk. A six-month trial period would allow the full impact of the policy
change to be considered, including resource and financial implications.
The report also recommended an amendment to Category R1 of the Council’s current
highway safety defect repair frequency regime so as to provide some practical
tolerance to the R1 response time. Analysis of the data for repairs for Category R1
had shown that the repairs had been completed the next day but not within 24 hours
of the defect having been identified for repair. In the majority of cases, these
defects had been repaired between a few minutes to an hour after the 24 hours had
passed. Whilst this meant that technically, the Council had not complied with its
stated policy for repair of an R1 defect, the fact that the matter had been dealt with
and made safe the next working day was not unreasonable. Officers recommended
that from April 2021 Category R1 repairs be amended to:
“Category R1 - Correct/repair or make safe by the close of the next working day.
If it is not possible to correct/repair by the close of the next working day, (i.e. the
defect has only been made safe), a permanent repair should be carried out within
28 calendar days. The exception to this was where more substantial
maintenance/improvement works were planned within a medium timescale. This
timescale should be appropriate to the defect type, location, road/footway
classification and usage.”
Page 14

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021
Resolved –

25.

(1)

That the 6-month trial to reduce the carriageway safety defect
intervention level criteria be approved;

(2)

That the change to the highway safety defect repair times in respect of
Category R1 with effect from April 2021 be approved.

HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE PROGRAMME 2020/2021 & 2020/2021 HIGHWAY
MAINTENANCE UPDATE

The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
providing an update on the progress of year-1 of the three-year £9 million Highway
Capital Investment Programme 2020-2023. The report also informed the Committee
of year 2 (2021/22) and year 3 (2022/23) of the 3-year £9 million Highway Capital
Investment Programme 2020-2023.
In addition, the report informed the Committee of the Town Centre £450k Capital
Investment programme and the £847k Capital LED Streetlighting Investment
programme and sought spend approval for each programme.
Further, the report informed the Committee of the one-year Highway Maintenance
Award of £1.838m, as well as the £1.592m Transport Award for 2021/2022, as
announced by the DfT Local Transport Block Funding (Integrated Transport & Highway
Maintenance) settlement. Spend approval for the proposed 1-year programme was
sought.
Finally, the report provided an update on the completed Highway Maintenance
2020/2021 DfT Local Transport Block Funding Capital Works Programme.
The report contained the following appendices:

Appendix 1

3-year £9 million Highway Capital Investment Programme 20202023 – Year 1 Programme update 2020-21

Appendix 2

Public Information leaflet – “Road Improvements in Your Local
Area”

Appendix 3

Highway Maintenance 2021/2022 DfT Local Transport Block Funding
Capital Works Programme 2021-2022 – covering major road
surfacing programme and bridge maintenance programme

Appendix 4

Highway Maintenance 2020/2021 DfT Local Transport Block Funding
Capital Works – Programme Update 2020-21

The report included the following topics:


The background to the £9M Council Funded Highway Investment



Highway Maintenance Spend Proposal for 2021/2022

Page 15

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE
15 MARCH 2021


Pavement Resurfacing (£625,000) - financed by the £3.75 million Year 2
Council Investment (Year 2 of the £9 million over 3 years)



Other carriageway maintenance works – to be financed by the remaining
£7.5 million Council Investment in years 2 and 3 of the £9 million 3-year
investment



Town Centre Capital Investment – a range of works had been identified as
requiring attention to rejuvenate the Town Centre pedestrianised areas



Streetlighting Capital Led Investment Programme



Local Transport Block Funding (Integrated Transport and
Maintenance) settlement for 2021/22



The Council’s award for 2021/2022 – including the proposed work allocation
based on the DfT settlement for Carriageways & Bridges, the Lead Local
Flood Authority Flood Alleviation award & the remaining LED Streetlighting
Dft Award



Highway Maintenance Delivery Update 2020/2021

Highway

Resolved –
(1)

That spend approval for the proposed Road & Pavement Maintenance
Year-2 Programme 2021/2022 be granted;

(2)

That spend approval for the proposed Town Centre Capital Investment
Programme be granted;

(3)

That spend approval for the proposed Streetlighting LED Capital
Investment Programme be granted;

(4)

That spend approval for the DfT Local Transport Block Funding Highway
Maintenance Grant and proposed Programme 2021/2022 be granted;

(5)

That the Assistant Director of Environmental & Commercial Services in
consultation with the Lead Councillor for Strategic Environment
Planning and Transport, the Assistant Director of Legal & Democratic
Services and the Assistant Director of Finance be granted delegated
authority to enter into relevant contracts required to undertake the
proposed 2021/22 Capital Highway Maintenance Programme, as per
paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 of the report.

(The meeting started at 6.30pm and closed at 8.11 pm)

Page 16

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE MINUTES
26 MAY 2021
Present:

1.

Councillor Gittings (Chair);
Councillors Ayub, Challenger, Duveen, Eden, Khan, Maskell, McElroy, McEwan,
McGonigle, Mitchell, Page, Stanford-Beale and R Williams.

ESTABLISHMENT, MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS OF REFERENCE OF TRAFFIC
MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE

Resolved –
(1)

That, under the provisions of Sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972, a Traffic
Management Sub-Committee be established for the Municipal Year 2021/22 and the following
Councillors be appointed to serve on the Sub-Committee:
Traffic Management Sub-Committee (8:3:1:1)

(2)

Labour Councillors

Conservative
Councillors

Liberal Democrat
Councillor

Green Councillor

Ayub
Barnett-Ward
Ennis
Gittings
Hacker
Leng
Page
Terry

Mitchell
R Singh
Stanford-Beale

Duveen

Whitham

That the following Councillors be appointed as Chair/Vice-Chair of the Traffic Management SubCommittee for the Municipal Year 2021/22:
Chair
Councillor Ayub

(3)

Vice-Chair
Councillor Hacker

That the Terms of Reference of the Sub-Committee be as set out in Appendix A to the Monitoring
Officer’s report to Council of 26 May 2021 on the Constitution, Powers and Duties of the Council
and Committees etc.

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES – 4 MARCH 2021

Present:

43.

Councillors Ayub (Chair), Debs Absolom, David Absolom, BarnettWard, Carnell, Duveen, Ennis, Hacker, Page, R Singh, StanfordBeale, Terry and Whitham.

MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting of 14 January 2021 were confirmed as a correct record.
44.

RECEIPT OF PETITION - IMPLEMENTATION OF A 20MPH ZONE IN THE RESIDENTIAL
STREETS OFF THE OXFORD ROAD

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
informing the Sub-Committee that the Council had received an informal consultation,
conducted via social media channels between 11 and 32 January 2021. The survey sought
residents’ views on the proposed implementation of a 20 miles per hour zone in the
residential streets off the Oxford Road within the Battle, Kentwood and Norcot Wards.
The report stated that the request raised within the informal consultation would be
investigated by officer and a report submitted to a future meeting of the Sub-Committee for
consideration.
Councillor Lovelock, Ward Councillor for Norcot Ward, spoke in support of the proposal
outlined in the consultation.
Officer confirmed that the matter would be referred to the next meeting of the SubCommittee (June 2021).
Resolved –

45.

(1)

That the report be noted;

(2)

That the request be investigated, and a further report submitted to a future
meeting for consideration;

(3)

That the lead petitioner be informed accordingly.

RECEIPT OF PETITION AGAINST THE CYCLE LANE IN SIDMOUTH STREET, READING

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
informing the Sub-Committee that the Council had received a petition against the cycle lane
in Sidmouth Street, Reading, and to recommend that officer investigate the proposal, and
submit their findings to a future meeting.
In accordance with Section 100B (4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972, the Chair had
agreed that this item be considered as a matter of urgency in order to consider the petition,
which had been received by the Council after the statutory notice of this meeting.
The petition read:

1
Page 19

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES – 4 MARCH 2021

“We the undersigned request Reading Borough Council to dismantle and remove the
cycle lanes recently introduced in Sidmouth Street, Reading. The cycle lanes have been
introduced without public consultation, are not needed, are unused, are unsuitable, are
badly laid out and proving to be counter-productive especially in the creation of
additional congestion. The cycle lanes are in accident waiting to happen. There is a
negative impact on the response emergency services.”
The report stated that the request raised within the investigation would be investigated by
officers and a report submitted to a future meeting for consideration.
Resolved –
(1)

That the report be noted;

(2)

That the request be investigated, and a further report be submitted to a future
meeting for consideration;

(3)

That the lead petitioner be informed accordingly.

46. WAITING RESTRICTION REVIEW – OBJECTIONS TO WAITING RESTRICTION REVIEW
2020 & REQUESTS FOR WAITING RESTRICTION REVIEW FOR THE 2021A PROGRAMME
The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report,
informing the Sub-Committee of objections, support and other comments received during
statutory consultation for the agreed proposals that formed the 2020 programme, as set out
at Appendix 1. In addition, the report provided a list of new requests for waiting restrictions
for potential inclusion in the 2021A programme, as set out in Appendix 2. The report asked
the Sub-Committee to consider whether the new requests in Appendix 2 investigation of
these requests and potential development of design proposals should be resourced as part
of the next review programme.
At the meeting officers provided further clarification regarding two of the proposals set out
in Appendix 1 – namely Marlborough Avenue and Elmhurst Road. Regarding Marlborough
Avenue, Officer advised that whilst the proposed changes to the parking restrictions on
initial drawings and in the advertised textural notice were correct, regrettably some of the
early drawings did not accurately reflect the existing restrictions on the street. The drawings
had been amended swiftly, and the corrections had fulfilled the Council’s statutory
obligation in the promotion of the changes. It was therefore appropriate for the Committee
to consider the proposal at this meeting.
With regard to Elmhurst Road, the changes proposed to the existing Monday-Friday
restrictions were to extend the restrictions to all seven days of the week (Monday to Sunday)
and increase the time of the restriction from 8am – 5.30 pm to 8am to 8pm. Officers advised
that whilst the drawings which had accompanied the consultation had correctly reflected
the proposed changes, there was an error in the advertised Traffic Regulation Order (TRO)
and on-street notices proposed only the time change and did had not included the increased
weekend coverage. In view of this omission, it would be necessary for Officers to re-advertise
as soon as possible the TRO to include the extended time and day of the week change for
Elmhurst Road, which had been agreed by the Sub-Committee at its meeting on 14 January
2021.
2
Page 20

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES – 4 MARCH 2021

Officers explained that they would provide details as soon as advertising dates were
confirmed, and the consultation became live. As per the original report recommendations,
should no objections be received to the proposal, Officers would implement the restriction
as advertised. Should objections be received, Officer would report the details to the next
meeting of the Sub-Committee.
Resolved (1)

That the report be noted;

(2)

That the following proposals made under the waiting restriction review
2020, as set out in Appendix 1, be implemented, amended or removed from
the programme as follows:
























(3)

Barry place – implemented as advertised;
Princes Street – removed from the programme;
Star Road - implemented as advertised;
Tamarisk Avenue – removed from the programme;
Waldeck Street – deferred for officer to clarify the paperwork relating
to the summary of responses received and the matter be delegated to
officer, in conjunction with the Chair, Vice-Chair and Ward Councillors
to make an appropriate decision in light of this clarification;
Ledbury Close – implemented as advertised;
Pinewood Drive – implemented as advertised;
Drayton Road – implemented as advertised;
Fraser Avenue – implemented as advertised;
Kingsway Road - implemented as advertised;
Ruskin Close - implemented as advertised;
Corbridge Road – implemented as advertised;
De Beauvoir Road – removed from the programme;
Elmhurst Road – removed from the programme to allow the scheme to
be advertised again, this time to include the extended time and day of
the week change, as agreed at the meeting on 14 January 2021. Subject
to no objections being received to the proposal, the restriction be
implemented as advertised. Should objections be received, the matter
be referred to the next meeting of the Sub-Committee in June 2021;
Silchester Road - implemented as advertised;
Beverley Road - implemented as advertised;
Elvaston Road - implemented as advertised;
Hemdean Road – removed from the programme - ward councillors to
reconsider in light of the objections received;
Marlborough Road - implemented as advertised;
The Ridgeway - implemented as advertised;
Fair Isle Way– implemented as advertised;
Greenfields Road - implemented as advertised.

That the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised
to seal the resultant Traffic Regulation Order and no public inquiry be held
into the proposals;
3
Page 21

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES – 4 MARCH 2021

(4)

That the respondents to the statutory consultation be informed of the
decision of the Sub-Committee accordingly, following publication of the
agreed minutes of the meeting;

(5)

That all of the new requests for waiting restriction changes set out in
Appendix 2, be investigated by officer as part of the 2021A review
programme apart from the proposed scheme for Hexham Road (Redlands
Ward), which be withdrawn due to previous level of objection; request for
early discussion with Caversham Ward Councillors regarding Cromwell Road
Scheme;

(6)

That the office recommendations, following investigation of the new
requests, be shared with Ward Councillors, providing an opportunity for
their comments to be included in the next report to the Sub-Committee;

(7)

That should funding permit, a further report be submitted to the SubCommittee requesting approval to conduct the statutory consultation on
the recommended schemes for the 2021A programme.

47. RESIDENT PERMIT PARKING – PROPOSALS FOR STATUTORY CONSULTATION AND
REQUESTS FOR FUTURE INVESTIGATION
The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
providing the Sub-Committee with proposals for the Cintra Close, Shilling Close area and
Grovelands Road area Resident Permit Parking (RPP) schemes, which had been developed
following informal consultations.
The report also provided an update on the lists of requests that had been received by the
Council for the introduction of new RPP schemes, including the progress of developing
schemes and any new requests that had been received since the previous update.
The report contained the following appendices:
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix

1
2
3
4

–
–
–

Proposals for Cintra Close Scheme
Proposals for the Shilling Close area scheme
Proposals for the Grovelands Road area scheme
Updated list of requests for future investigation

Proposals for Cintra Close, Shilling Close area and Grovelands Roads area RPP
The report advised that informal consultations had been carried out in October 2019, asking
residents for their feedback on potential resident permit parking schemes in Cintra Close,
the Shilling Close area and the Grovelands Road area. The results of these consultations had
been previously reported to the Sub-Committee. Officer and Ward Councillors had
considered the feedback that had been received during the informal consultation stages and
had been developing proposals for statutory consultation. Appendices 1 to 3 set out the
proposals to the schemes.
Requested Schemes List – Update

4
Page 22

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES – 4 MARCH 2021

Appendix 4 of the report set out the list of requests that had been received for RPP schemes
and included comments and objections that had been received during the statutory
consultation. Where the Sub-Committee had previously allocated a priority to a scheme this
had been recorded and where a request had been previously reported to the Sub-Committee
but had not been allocated a priority, this had also been recorded, along with any schemes
that were ‘new’ to the list.
Resolved –
(1)

That the report be noted;

(2)

That the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised
to carry out the statutory consultations and advertise the proposals in
Appendix 1 – 3 in accordance with the Local Authorities Traffic Orders
(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996;

(3)

That subject to no objections being received, the Assistant Director of Legal
and Democratic Services be authorised to make the Traffic Regulation
Orders;

(5)

That any objections received following the statutory advertisement be
submitted to a future meeting of the Sub-Committee;

(6)

That the Network and Parking Services Manager, in consultation with the
appropriate Lead Councillor, be authorised to make minor changes to the
proposals;

(7)

That no public enquiry be held into the proposals;

(8)

That the requests on Appendix 4 be retained for future development.

48. EAST READING PERMIT PARKING SCHEME – UPDATE
The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
providing an update on the delivery of the East Reading RPP scheme. Appended to the report
at Appendix 1 was a plan showing the parking restrictions and area of private land on
Oaklands.
The report explained that Area 1 of a new East Reading RPP scheme had been introduced
from September 2019. The scheme had introduced restrictions in the area that was broadly
bounded by the Redlands Ward boundary to the West, Whiteknights Road and Wokingham
Road. Area 2 of the scheme was introduced in August 2020 and was broadly bounded by the
Borough boundary, Palmer Park Avenue and Wokingham Road. Both areas joined the 14R
permit parking zone. The report set out the current number of Permits by type issued in 14R
as at 18 February 2021.
The report further explained that at the July 2020 meeting of the Sub-Committee (Minute
3(a) refers), it was reported that the Council had received a petition from Oaklands, with
residents requesting for their properties to be included for eligibility to the full entitlement
of permits. The report explained that it was typical that properties containing flats/multiple
addresses, particularly those with off-street parking availability, would not be eligible for
5
Page 23

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES – 4 MARCH 2021

the full entitlement of parking permits (up to 2 permits per address and an initial visitor
permit allocation, upon application) in the TRO of a new permit parking scheme in Reading.
This approach had been taken to reduce the risks of oversaturating parking levels in a new
permit parking scheme. Oaklands was one of a number of developments within the scheme
area to which this applied. Following officer recommendations in the scheme development
process, the East Reading Study Steering Group agreed to the property exclusions.
Officers reported that within this scheme area (Area 1), there were 278 addresses that were
currently not included in the permit entitlement. Of this number there was a concentration
of addresses in the vicinity of Oaklands.
The report stated that Officers remain of the view that it would not be reasonable to
consider Oaklands in isolation of other properties that were in the same position. It explained
that to include all properties in the scheme would risk opening the scheme up to a flood of
permit applications and a significant increase in the on-street parking that would have
specific demand concentrations in Hamilton Road and Bulmershe Road.
Officers had been asked to confirm the extent of adopted Highway land on Oaklands and
whether there was scope to increase the level of on-street parking. Appendix 1 showed the
scheme drawing that had been used for the public consultation and now formed part of the
resultant TRO. It showed that the black-shaded area to the south was not adopted Highway,
and although used as a parking area, was not managed nor enforced by the Council.
Paragraph 4. 11 of the report set out the methodology for residents who already received
permits. It explained that they would be required to renew their discretionary permits on
an annual basis, and officers would be able to renew them automatically subject to certain
qualifications. Where new applications had been granted at appeal and issued personal to
the applicant, these would also be renewed automatically on application.
At the invitation of the Chair, Councillor White, Ward Councillor for Park Ward, addressed
the Sub-Committee in relation to a proposal to include some of the addresses of properties
in the vicinity of Oaklands in the East Reading Resident Permit Parking Scheme. The SubCommittee discussed the implications of Councillor White’s proposal and although
sympathetic to the parking situation experienced by residents in Oaklands, the SubCommittee considered that it would not be feasible to extend the scheme to include
properties in Oaklands for the reasons set out in the report.
Resolved –
(1)

That the report be noted;

(2)

That the current address eligibility for the full allocation of resident parking
permits remains unchanged;

(3)

That the methodology for renewing discretionary parking permits as set out
in paragraph 4.11 of the report be adopted.

49. REQUESTS FOR NEW TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT MEASURES – UPDATED LIST AND
SCHEMES PROPOSED FOR CONSULTATION

6
Page 24

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES – 4 MARCH 2021

The Director of Environment and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report informing the
Sub-Committee of requests for new traffic management measures that had been raised by
members of the public, other organisations/representatives and Councillors.
The report also provided a brief update regarding the implementation of schemes funded by
local CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) funding.
Appendix 1 provided the list of new requests for ‘Part A’, with initial officer comments and
recommendations. Appendix 2 provided the main list of requests for ‘Part A’ and the SubCommittee was asked to consider whether any of the previously reported items in Appendix
2 could be agreed for removal.
Officers advised that good progress had been made in relation to the delivery of the schemes
along Gosport Road and Redlands Road.
Resolved –
(1)

That the report be noted;

(2)

That the new requests set out in Appendix 1 be retained on the main list of
requests, subject to scheme number 1 (Battle Ward, pedestrian crossing
along Portman Road) being expanded to include the East and the West side
of Tesco;

(3)

That the schemes in Appendix 2 be retained, subject to scheme number 34
(Kentwood Ward, road marking along Oxford Road) being removed.

50. BERKELEY AVENUE ZEBRA CROSSING
The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
providing a concept design for a formal zebra crossing on Berkeley Avenue following the
removal of traffic islands as part of the NCN 422 cycle network. The report recommended
that the Sub-Committee agree to officers progressing with the necessary statutory process
to enable delivery of the zebra crossing as proposed. Appended to the report was a concept
drawing for the zebra crossing. It was emphasised that the report in itself did not guarantee
the implementation of a zebra crossing at this stage and that should any significant
alterations be necessary, or objections to the consultation received, officers would offer an
alternative scheme to reintroduce islands and remove the cycle lane for a short distance.
It was noted that Officers had agreed to have a meeting with the petitioners and Councillor
Terry in relation to concerns about a right turn into Ashley Road, although these discussions
would not cause a delay for officers in progressing with the necessary statutory process.
Resolved –
(1)

That the report be noted;

(2)

That the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised
to carry out the statutory advertisement process for a zebra crossing on
Berkeley Avenue;

7
Page 25

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES – 4 MARCH 2021

(3)

That subject to no objections being received, the Assistant Director of Legal
and Democratic Services be authorised to seal any resultant Traffic Order;

(5)

That any objection(s) received following the statutory advertisement be
reported to a future meeting of the Sub-Committee;

(6)

That the Head of Transport (or the appropriate Officer), in consultation with
the appropriate Lead Councillor, be authorised to make minor changes to
the proposals.

(6)

That no public enquiry be held into the proposals.

51. BATTLE STREET CAR PARK
The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
advising the Sub-Committee of the proposal to change the former Central Pool car park from
a building associated Pay and Display car park to a public Pay and Display car park and
rename it to the Battle Street car park.
The report contained three appendices as follows:
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Proposed Car Park tariff charges 2021
Estimated gross annual revenue
GIS mapping showing overall car park area and a photograph showing the
boundary fencing.

The report explained that should the proposal be agreed, and the associated TRO be
implemented, the car parking tariffs would be introduced from 1 May 2021, provided there
were no objections to the order. It was recognised that the proposal would benefit shoppers
who would be using the car park.
Resolved –

52.

(1)

That the report be noted;

(2)

That the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised to undertake
statutory consultations advertisement process for a zebra crossing on
Berkeley Avenue;

(3)

That subject to no objections being received during the periods of statutory
consultation, the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised to
make the Traffic Regulation Order;

(4)

That any objection(s) received following the statutory advertisement be
reported to a future meeting of the Sub-Committee;

(5)

That no public enquiry be held into the proposals.

ABATTOIRS ROAD NO RIGHT TURN – RESULTS OF STATUTORY CONSULTATION

8
Page 26

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES – 4 MARCH 2021

Further to minute 38 of the previous meeting, the Executive Director for Economic Growth
and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report providing the objection that had been
received following statutory consultation from Thames Valley Police for banned (right turn)
movements at the junction of Abattoirs Road with Caversham Road.
In accordance with Section 100B (4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972, the Chair had
agreed that this item be considered as a matter of urgency in order to consider the
objections that had been received from Thames Valley Police after the statutory notice of
this meeting.
Appendix 1 to the report provided the drawing of the consulted design and appendix 2
provided the consultation feedback received from Thames Valley Police alongside officer
recommendation. Thames Valley Police raised a number of points, including concern that
drivers would disregard the no right turn movements, and this would be a safety issue that
had the potential to increase personal injury collisions at the junction. Officer’ position was
that the proposal was not expected to have a negative road safety impact and sought to
prohibit movements that could otherwise have a negative impact to road safety. If there
were significant issues relating to motorists’ compliance, officer would consider what further
physical measures could be provided.
Resolved -

53.

(1)

That the report be noted;

(2)

That the scheme as advertised be implemented;

(3)

That no public enquiry be held into the proposal.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

Resolved That, pursuant to Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)
members of the press and public be excluded during consideration of item 54
below, as it was likely that there would be disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of that Act.
54.

APPLICATIONS FOR DISCRETIONARY PARKING PERMITS

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a report
giving details of the background to the decisions to refuse applications for Discretionary
Parking Permits from seven applicants, who had subsequently appealed against these
decisions.
Resolved –
(1)

That application 1 be deferred for officer from Brighter Futures for Children
to confirm with officer for Transportation and Streetcare which roles for
healthcare professionals are to be included on the list of approved
professions for a Healthcare Professional permit. Once this has been
determined, then application 1 will either be granted or refused depending
on the outcome of the review;
9
Page 27

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES – 4 MARCH 2021

(2)

That with regard to applications 2 and 4, a first Discretionary Residents
Parking Permit, personal to the applicant, be issued;

(3)

That with regard to application 5, a second Discretionary Resident Parking
Permit, personal to the applicant, be issued, subject to adequate proofs
being provided;

(4)

That with regard to application 6, a third Discretionary Residents Parking
Permit, personal to the applicant, be issued, subject to adequate proofs
being provided;

(5)

That with regard to application 7, a letter be sent to the applicant, advising
her that that a marked emergency vehicle can park anywhere in a marked
bay whilst on official duty, or if she does not have a marked emergency
vehicle, she can apply for a Discretionary Residents Parking Permit for
Western Elms Avenue;

(6)

That the Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood
Services’ decision to refuse application 3 be upheld.

(Exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1 and 2).
(The meeting started at 6.30 pm and finished at 8.28 pm).

10
Page 28

Agenda Item 4
OFFICIAL

Minutes of the 101st AWE Local Liaison Committee Meeting
Wednesday 17th March 2021
AWE, Online Meeting
Present:
Haydn Clulow
Cllr Dominic Boeck
Cllr Michael Bound
Cllr Graham Bridgman
Cllr Avril Burdett
Cllr Jonathan Chishick
Cllr Sophie Crawford
Cllr Susie Ferguson
Cllr Debbie Fisher
Cllr Roger Gardiner
Amy Gower
Cllr Clive Littlewood
Cllr David Livingstone
Cllr Mollie Lock
Cllr Royce Longton
Cllr George McGarvie
Cllr Susan Mullan
Cllr David Shirt
Cllr Ayo Sokale
Cllr Nicholas Thurlow

Chair
West Berkshire Council
Basingstoke & Dean
West Berkshire Council
Tadley Town Council
Tidmarsh with Sulham Parish Council
Aldermaston Parish Council
Pangbourne Parish Council
Wokefield Parish Council
Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council
West Berkshire Council
Holybrook Parish Council
Silchester Parish Council
Stratfield Mortimer Parish
West Berkshire
Pamber Parish Council
Tadley Town Council
Aldermaston Parish Council
Reading Borough Council
Mortimer West End

Rhian Adams
Nick Bolton
Suzanne Chenery
Scott Davies-Hearn
Anna Finney
Simon Hardaker
Mark Hedges
Val Hincks
Cleo Howie
Philippa Kent
Julie Lane
Scott Lippett
Michele Maidment
Sam Seffron
John Steele
Martin Wells

AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE
AWE

Regulators:
Gary Cook
Rob Green

Office for Nuclear Regulation
Environment Agency
1 29
Page

OFFICIAL

Guest Presenter:
Michelle Smith

CEO, Education Business Partnership

Apologies
Apologies had been received from Councillors:
Philip Bassil, Mark Binns, John Chapman, Penee Chopping, Stuart Coker, Graham Hetherington,
Max Joseph, Malcolm Large, David Leeks, Helen Manghani, Ian Montgomery, Barry Patman,
Carolyn Richardson, Tim Whitaker

Actions from previous meetings
•

100/01: Regarding the Aldermaston slide, point two about the Reading Road/Red Lane corner
site development. You mentioned needing planning permission and access being an issue and,
in that context, mentioned that Welshman Lane was a site of importance already to WBC.
Please could you elaborate on that comment? (Sophie Crawford)
A: An email was sent to Sophie stating that historically the Welshman Lane / Reading Road
staggered crossroad junction was of concern to WBC Highways in terms of potential capacity
and accidents. These matters would therefore need to be addressed in detail within any
planning application for proposed development in the south east corner of AWE Aldermaston.
We will of course inform the outcome of such studies at a future LLC meeting. (John Steele)

•

100/02: Discuss with Richard Moore the opportunity to present a talk at the Aldermaston
Local History Group. (Garry George)
A: This has been discussed with Richard Moore, but no arrangements have been put in place
as yet.

•

100/03: Dave Shirt requested that an agenda item be added to the next meeting in relation
to the role of the LLC. (Dave Shirt)
A: This topic has been included in this meeting as requested. (Suzanne Chenery)

Approval of the 100th Meeting minutes

Chairman’s update
Introduction
Haydn Clulow welcomed members to the 101st meeting.
Membership Changes
AWE welcome a new member to the LLC, Susie Ferguson, who is Parish Councillor for Pangbourne.
Nick Corp has now left Wasing Parish Council and as yet there has been no news of his replacement.
LLC Communications
Thanks was given to those who took time to respond to the questionnaires that were sent out last
year. LLC members were asked what they thought about the format and content of the LLC meetings
2 30
Page

OFFICIAL

as well as more general questions about how AWE can improve communications with the LLC and
more widely with local residents.
Prosecution
Details from the sentencing hearing were sent directly to all LLC members on the day of the hearing
(December 7). AWE plc has been fined £660,000 following a guilty plea to a charge brought by the
Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR) under Section 3 of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974. This
was in relation to an incident at AWE’s Aldermaston site in June 2019, comprising a flash-over of
electricity when a contractor’s tool made contact with a live conductor. No one was harmed as a
result of the incident.
This was a conventional health and safety matter which posed no nuclear risk to workers or
members of the public.
AWE take their health and safety responsibilities extremely seriously and have co-operated fully with
the ONR throughout the course of the investigation. AWE remain committed to achieving the
highest standards in safety performance, and continue to work collaboratively with regulators,
contractors and partners to achieve this.
Detailed Emergency Planning Zones remain unchanged
In March 2020, West Berkshire District Council determined the new Detailed Emergency Planning
Zones for both sites, with the Burghfield zone significantly larger than it had been under the old REPPIR
2001 regulations. A number of property developers and landowners (the Claimants), challenged the
Council’s determination of the extended DEPZ at Burghfield which includes land at Grazeley, south of
Reading, earmarked for 15,000 new homes.
The judicial review case was heard in the High Court in December 2020 and the judgement was
released on Friday 12 February 2021. The Claimants lost the case. The judge decided West Berkshire
District Council had determined the DEPZ around Burghfield lawfully and the new DEPZ remains as
determined in March 2020. It was necessary for AWE to take an active role in the case as it is the
operator of AWE Burghfield and the author of the technical report provided to West Berkshire District
Council which the Council relied on to determine the DEPZ.
Transition from GOCO to ALB
At the last meeting there was an update on the announcement by Secretary State for Defence that
AWE would be returning to the public sector as an Arms-Length-Body on 1 July 2021.
A lot has happened since November, including two events for DG Nuc Vanessa Nicholls and Alison
Atkinson to speak to staff in DNO (Defence Nuclear Organisation) and AWE via Teams live events
about this change. It’s a really busy time for AWE; working on two warhead programmes: the
existing Trident warhead and preparing for the initial phases of a replacement warhead. The closest
possible collaboration is needed to achieve this and we believe this model will support that.
A lot has been achieved already with employees being reassured that pay, pensions and things like
the 9-day fortnight are to remain in place and the existing pay agreement for those covered by
collective bargaining will be honoured.
A new Chairman, John Manzoni, has been selected to take up post in July. Other Non-Executive
Directors are being appointed in the next few months.
As the community relations programme was set up following the contractorization agreement, AWE
remain committed to retaining close links with the local community both through the LLC and via our
other community channels. AWE will continue to inspire the next generation of scientists, engineers
and technology specialists and know that MoD share these aspirations.

3 31
Page

OFFICIAL

New partnership with Surrey University
AWE is entering into a partnership with the University of Surrey, which is launching a new Centre of
Excellence in Materials Ageing, Performance and Life Prediction.
The University’s long-standing expertise in materials, science and engineering and its strengths in
advanced characterisation of materials in demanding environments, underpin the partnership.
This new partnership which became official in December is one of a number of centres of excellence,
focusing on different technical areas, which have been created. The others being Cranfield University
with Dstl and Defence Equipment & Support, the Universities of Oxford, Warwick, Manchester and
University College London.
Awards Success
At the last meeting it was announced that AWE had been named as one of the Top 100 employers by
RateMyApprenticeship – a review-based platform to help those seeking apprenticeships.
Since the last meeting AWE’s Skills Academy has also been named as Macro Employer of the Year
winner for the South East region at this year’s National Apprenticeship Awards.
The National Apprenticeship Awards highlight business and individual success in apprenticeships and
celebrate the very best employers, apprentices and apprenticeship champions across the country.
During 2020 the Institute of Physics also presented AWE with the Apprenticeship Employer Award in
recognition of its commitment and contribution to scientific and engineering apprenticeship schemes.
The IOP has also recognised AWE scientist, Kirk Duroe at an individual level for being an exceptional
early career physicist. Kirk, who joined AWE’s graduate programme in 2011, won the Clifford Paterson
medal and prize in December.
The medal was in recognition of Kirk’s expert technical advice to the government. Kirk was viewed as
an outstanding contributor to UK nuclear threat reduction scientific research and development, with
his work directly supporting the UK Home Office.
Supporting our local community
AWE have continued to support a number of organisations with financial and practical support.
The AWE charity fund made a £5,000 donation to the New Beginnings charity for homeless people
based in Reading last month. The charity has converted a vacant pub to provide services to people in
need.
Other donations were made to the South-Central Ambulance Charity to enable them to buy new
lifting gear and kit bags for their First Responders.
AWE also supported an outdoor classroom at South View School, in Basingstoke. The free-standing
shelter will be used by the children to engage in STEM and environmental projects - whatever the
weather.
Helping schools carry on learning
A new programme of remote schools’ outreach activities has been developed in conjunction with
AWE’s partner schools and local educational charities. More technology is now being utilised and a
range of activities has already been delivered– including one-to-one mentoring, curriculum-linked
experiments and careers chats – via the Microsoft Teams platform.
AWE graduates, along with A-level students from Queen Mary’s College (QMC) in Basingstoke, have
filmed a range of science and engineering activities for inclusion in remote learning programmes.
4 32
Page

OFFICIAL

STEM STAR Awards
AWE have also launched a new sixth form STEM award scheme with partner college QMC. The
competition will enable students to showcase their STEM skills. The prize-winning STEM stars will be
selected from students who have completed a STEM research/ development project which involves
carrying out experiments or producing something in an area of interest, such as computer
programming, robotics or biofuels.

Business Resilience Group (AWE’s Response to Covid-19)
Martin Wells
Group Leader, Site Services
Cleo Howie
Wellbeing Manager

Throughout COVID-19 AWE has remained committed to safely delivering its core mission, whilst still
implementing a robust approach to managing its response to the pandemic to protect its people.
A dedicated Business Resilience Group (BRG) was set up in January 2020 and is still in place today
ensuring the safety of the people, the sites and the community. They engage with ONR, West Berks
Council and PHE in developing AWE’s response.
Daily operational calls supported by a cross-functional group from across AWE ensure BRG maintain
complete visibility and control of all operations across each site.
Regular reviews of the safety measures that have been put in place are undertaken and adjustments
are made as required.
In order to support employees, AWE put in place additional ‘paid leave’ for parents/carers and all
clinically extremely vulnerable people.
To aid the wellbeing of all staff, AWE sent out wellbeing and hygiene packs to employees home
addresses and access to digital health services for employees and their families was also provided
and a monthly wellbeing calendar of activities, classes and webinars was also issued.
AWE has had to change its approach on recruiting new members of staff, graduates and apprentices.
Both job searches and interviews are now all online without the need for travel or face to face
meetings. When someone joins AWE there is now a short onsite induction and a comprehensive
online induction and all future careers hiring programmes are now fully virtual.

Questions arising
Q: Graham Bridgman: In relation to LFT testing, you will know that the extension of LFT testing to
large scale employers was introduced last January so it was available to employers with more than
250 employees. What surprised us at West Berkshire Gold was that we had a need to do LFT testing
on the Burghfield CSA site for quite a number of AWE employees. We were aware that AWE had their
own testing on site so want to know why AWE needed to use ours?
A: Martin Wells: The onsite capability was in place before that demand was placed upon
testing stations. That wasn’t done by choice on that day, it was an immediate reaction to a
contractor on one of our construction sites having multiple cases and they felt that the
appropriate thing to do was to urgently get everyone tested and it wasn’t necessarily the right
response to that challenge but it’s been something we have been addressing since. AWE was
5 33
Page

OFFICIAL

in contact with your emergency response lead and the providers of the testing stations to find
out what impact AWE were having and the support was fantastic. It was not a decision that
was made by AWE but by a group of contractors that were working on our site at that time.
Q: Dominic Boeck: When the Covid restrictions are lifted do you anticipate a more hybrid way of
working ie blend between what existed prior to Covid and what exists during Covid?
A: Martin Wells: That’s something that the team along with the Exec have been working on
for a number of months now. AWE is driven largely by the government guidance and the new
arrangements are as a response to that, but it’s given the team a huge opportunity to rethink
how AWE operates as a business with regards to working from home and flexibility.
Environment, Safety and Health Update
Nick Bolton
ESH Service Delivery Lead (SET)
Nick gave an overview of performance in personal and process safety during the period advising
members that the OSHA TRI (Occupational Safety and Health Administration; Total Recordable
Incidents) Injury rate for the 12 months to the end of January 2021 was 0.177 per 200,000 hours
worked. The TRI Rate is the best ever achieved.
A total of 13 Recordable Injury Events have occurred in the 12 months to the end of January 2021.
Since the last LLC meeting, two Process Safety events have been raised that also required INF1 to be
submitted to the regulator. The first relates to a solvent leak into a bund and the second related to
material being left in a foyer over the weekend. Both events have been investigated and preventive
actions instigated. Process Safety training for supervisors continues to be delivered, increasing Process
Safety knowledge across the organisation.
Bowtie analysis is being used to better understand the protective layers and their vulnerabilities and
is helping operational staff have a clearer understanding of the hazards associated with the plant
and processes.
Questions arising
Q: Dave Shirt: Have there been any community complaints during this period, and can we make this
a standard agenda item?
A: Mark Hedges: This will be covered later in the meeting in the Site Update section.
Q: George McGarvie: Noting that there is a high proportion of employees working from home. Am I
right in thinking this will impact the figures due to less people on site?
A: Nick Bolton: Yes, there is an impact on our injured performance whilst working at home. It
is a positive impact however.

6 34
Page

OFFICIAL

Ask the Regulators

Rob Green
Environment Agency
Questions arising from the EA Report

The EA report was circulated prior to the meeting and no questions arose.

Gary Cook Lead Site Inspector
Office for Nuclear Regulation
The ONR report was circulated prior to the meeting and covers the period from October to the end of
January.
Regarding Covid arrangements and our onsite presence, we cover conventional health and safety on
site as well as nuclear safety and during our recent inspections we have taken the opportunity to look
at the Covid arrangements actually onsite. All our inspectors report that all arrangements from social
distancing and sanitizing etc are really very good and more robust than you would see in the wider
community. We are continuing to observe those measures. We are ramping up our site presence and
when restrictions are lifted then we should be back to some form of normality from June onwards
with the addition of using TEAMS more for meetings rather than people having to travel.
The ONR sent an enforcement letter to AWE regarding asbestos management in October 2020. The
progress on that has been good to date. The improvement notices regarding Licence Conditions 36
have been extended to December 2021 so that AWE can provide further evidence for closure of those
notices.
Questions arising from the ONR Report
Q: Michael Bound: One of our parishioners is concerned about private aircraft flying from Brimpton
and doing aerobatic manoeuvres in the area and is concerned about it happening over AWE.
A: Gary Cook: AWE has a no-fly zone below a certain level on both sites. If any aircraft incur
on that area, then AWE raise an event to the INF1 group. We have not had any events raised
in the last 12 months. We do have very tight protocols with regards to safety and risk to our
facilities.

Site Update
Mark Hedges
Director of Site Operations
Mark gave an overview of protestor activity with regular monthly ‘Women's Peace Camp’ continuing
on second weekend of each month. Between 2-6 protesters have recently been in attendance. There
is no known planned protestor activity on the horizon at this time.

7 35
Page

OFFICIAL

Regarding community concerns, there were 6 noise related documented concerns from the period
October 2020 to February 2021. All concerns were investigated and found not to be coming from
AWE Sites. As a number of these noise concerns have been logged after the event, AWE request that
any concerns be reported immediately so a ‘live’ investigation can take place.

Estate Development Update
John Steele
Head of Estate, Development & Planning
AWE responded on behalf of the MoD to the emerging West Berkshire Local Plan. AWE is seeking a
more positive supporting policy and following on from that comes the possibility for West Berkshire
to have a Local Development Order to provide WBC with a framework for assessing future
development needs.
A planning application for a material handling store was submitted on 3rd March 2021. It’s within
the nuclear storage area at AWE Aldermaston which is behind security lines. The reference number
for this application is 21/00528/COMIND. There have been no objections to date. It has already
been constructed and AWE are seeking permission to complete the work with cladding around the
building itself.
The multi-material facility at Burghfield has been on the planning register since December and has
had no objections and with thanks to Burghfield Parish Council there was a no objection raised in the
consultation process.
The A91 Demolition is one of the last remaining structures which is going through demolition now
and it is being filmed which hopefully will be shown at the next LLC meeting.

Action 101/1: Dave Shirt: During the recent closure by Thames Water of Church Road, Aldermaston
there was a sign erected regarding In-Muster at AWE Boiler House Gate. Please could you explain what
this meant. (Mark Hedges)

Q: Avril Burdett: Tadley is still not being consulted on these planning applications. Please can this
be rectified?
A: John Steele: Tadley should have been consulted so I have no idea why they haven’t
been. It could be because of the boundary, as Tadley is classed as Hampshire and
Aldermaston is in West Berkshire. I shall write to the planning office to ensure that Tadley
Town Council is consulted.

Action 101/2: Write to the planning office to ensure that Tadley Town Council is consulted in future
planning applications (John Steele)
Q: Graham Bridgman: Could you cc myself and Avril on the correspondence with WBC Planning re
AWE B/SUDS etc (relatively new Exec Dir who may be interested).?
A: John Steele: Yes.

8 36
Page

OFFICIAL

Action 101/3: cc Graham Bridgman and Avril on the correspondence with WBC Planning re AWE
B/SUDS etc (John Steele)
Q: George McGarvie: Over the last year John has been really helpful with road safety. We would
like to make use of a Speed Identification Device [SID] to assist with controlling speeds through our
villages. I understand AWE has provided a number of these to local parishes.
A: John Steele: I would recommend that we should continue to provide additional SIDs to
parishes which meet the selection criteria.
A: Haydn Clulow: I agree and can endorse that recommendation. Please submit the
necessary paperwork via John.

School / Student Engagement 2020/2021
Michelle Smith
CEO, Education Business Partnership
Michelle Smith, from Education Business Partnership West Berkshire, one of AWE’s education
partners for over 10 years, presented an insight into some of the remote learning packages that AWE
has been working with them to support STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) in
schools during the pandemic.
EBP do two main things which are arranging around 1500 work experience placements for students
across lots of different sectors but the involvement that EBP has with AWE is where we work with
schools and colleges to deliver different programme initiatives to help prepare students for the world
of work.
We had to adapt a new way of interacting with students due to Covid so for World Environment Day
we sent 100 Primary Schools across West Berkshire and Basingstoke parent packs, activities and a Bug
Hotel competition and for Ada Lovelace day we sent resource packs and worksheets.
For the academic year, EBP have created a delivery model for a Primary Science programme and
Spotlight on Science (secondary schools) with virtual voluntary input from AWE being available.

LLC Communications
Simon Hardaker
Head of Corporate Communications

Simon provided the LLC with a brief history of when the committee was formed and why, stating that
since that time, the business has changed, technology and communication channels have evolved, and
it seems timely to revisit and update the communications guidelines.
The key functions of the LLC are mainly to provide an effective means of liaison between AWE and
representatives of the local community, in the vicinity of AWE Aldermaston and Burghfield. The LLC
is responsible for keeping the local community informed about past, present and future operations of
AWE, subject to the demands of security and to be a forum for discussions on matters of interest to
and/or raised by the local community.

9 37
Page

OFFICIAL

The LLC also ensures that AWE management is aware of local opinion and also provides an additional
forum to respond to questions and issues concerning AWE and to scrutinise AWE emergency and
environmental plans.
Last year all LLC members received questionnaires seeking their feedback. AWE wanted to find out
what was important to themselves and their parishioners.
Every LLC member was consulted and around 45% responded. Since moving the meetings to online
meetings, less than half the membership have been in attendance compared to meetings held on site
when the attendance was between 60-70%.
From the feedback that was received, 77% of the respondents were happy with length and content of
the online meetings and members taking less time off work to attend was seen as a positive by many.
92% stated that the communications sent out between meetings were well received and that the
updates had been timely and useful.
By contrast, one member declined to attend because the meeting was online and attendance figures
for July & November in 2020 were around 45% compared to 60/70% in 2019.
In response to the feedback received, AWE has taken action and training sessions on TEAMS has been
provided for members, agenda timings have been reviewed and extended to incorporate more time
for Q&A’s, we are including both positive and negative information in our meetings, ONR and EA
reports are emailed for the Council’s to print off for their parishioners, Community Concerns and
Future of Education are now agenda items. Some of the members felt that the survey answer options
were too short, so the answers have now been extended to reflect this.
A joint LLC and AWE working group is being set up to review and update communications guidelines.
Any members who wish to be involved are to contact Suzanne Chenery via the dedicated
LLC email address LLC@awe.co.uk. There will be two workshops in place the first being held w/c April
19th and the second being held w/c May 10 and these workshops will take approximately 3.5 hours
across both workshops.
Q: Dave Shirt: I want to bring to your attention the way AWE responds to bad publicity. It’s very
good at providing details of good publicity but seems to avoid the bad. Due to the importance of the
role of the LLC on local liaison if we are going to have some bad news, I think it’s important for LLC
members to be briefed so that we can feedback to our parishioners.
A: Simon Hardaker: We accept that there are occasions when there is news that is less good
for us. An example being the recent prosecution, I do believe we have been open with that.
We do however accept that there have been other incidents which you haven’t been made
aware of and we can probably do better.
Q: Roger Gardiner: Regarding the government announcement on nuclear warheads, the local press
will obviously have some alarmist headlines, we do need to have a briefing on our response fairly early
before the public start to panic.
A: Simon Hardaker: The announcement was made yesterday so we are still responding to
that. Leaving aside the politics and the policy which is left to the MoD to decide on. As far as
AWE are concerned, there are little changes to our site, however if there are changes to our
site, we will inform you as quickly as we can. If you can provide an indication on what the
parishioners would like to know about then we can ensure that these topics will be covered.

10 38
Page

OFFICIAL

AOB
Action 101/4 Avril Burdett: We’ve had a spate of antisocial behaviour and I want to know what
extend the MoD police are involved in the local community. Could we please have that as an item at
a future meeting? (Philippa Kent)

Roger Gardiner: This will be my last meeting and I wanted to thank you and the committee for an
interesting few years.
Q: George McGarvie: With 2000 people working from home, are accidents that happen whilst
working from home reported?
A: Nick Bolton: Our expectation would be that anyone working from home who suffered any
ill effects whether injury or muscular skeletal from DSE, then they would raise that through our
reporting system.

Proposed 2021 Meeting Dates
7th July
10th November (tbc)
Close

11 39
Page

This page is intentionally left blank

Reading Climate Change Partnership
Board Meeting Minutes, Tues 18th May 2021
TEAMs meeting online, 10:00-11.30 pm

Attendees: Tracey Rawling-Church (co-Chair, will Chair today)
Tim Dixon (co-chair),
Ben Burfoot,
Chris Beales,
Poppy Harris,

Cllr Tony Page,
Tricia Marcouse,
Paul Harrison,
Willem Londeman,

Peter Moore (guest),
Natalie Ganpatsingh (observer),
Rachel Hazell (observer),
Chris Maddocks (observer)
Katie Brett (Support Officer),

Item

Action

Apologies received from Paul Ducker.
A special welcome to Rachel Hazell who has recently been appointed as theme lead
for communications and engagement.
A vote of thanks to Willem Londeman for all his support and involvement over the
last several years. Your work is much appreciated and we wish you a happy future in
Kiel, Germany.
Minutes of last meeting – approved
Governance review
TD thanked PM for his hard work developing this review document and the input
and support of others, including those who participated in the theme lead workshop
in Jan. The governance review document is a large detailed document and so a
presentation was made on the key points:
Aims of the review: ‘To develop an operating model and governance arrangements
for RCCP which maximises our ability to deliver Reading Climate Emergency Strategy
objectives by supporting:
• Improved engagement (including via Theme Groups and wider networks
through a more inclusive and diverse partnership)
• Improved transparency, accountability and clarity around roles,
responsibilities and relationships between various entities within the
partnership ‘family’.
• Improved delivery capacity within the partnership and partner organisations
• Improved ability/capacity to secure resources/funding (whilst being mindful
of need not to cannibalise funding from existing partners)
• Clearer identity for the purposes of wider communications and engagement
Timeline: February 2021 Partnership Board meeting identified ‘option A –
refinement of existing model – as the preferred option in principle’ and asked the

Page 41

TD/PM

review team to develop more detailed proposals to bring to this meeting for sign off
and start implementation.
PM then continued the presentation:
Key points of the detailed proposal are as follows:
•

A new Partnership Agreement to put governance on a robust footing

•

Identity and branding: A new name to help align disparate identities

•

A newly constituted Board to better meet the aims of the review

•

New parameters and guidance to support the operation of the Board and
Themes

We were keen to provide continuity of purpose to the board and key personnel. It
also reinforces (and enhances) the commitment from RBC as ‘host’/accountable
body
New Partnership Agreement:
• Based on a tried and tested ‘good practice’ template for Partnerships which
are hosted by local authorities (developed by Manchester CC, endorsed by
RBC)
• Technically takes the form of a ‘collaboration agreement’
• Represents ‘standard Terms & Conditions’ for such an arrangement
• Protects the Partnership’s income & financial reserves in writing for the first
time
• Not legally binding but provides clarity on governance.
• Creates no financial liability (apart from for RBC as host and accountable
body) or other liability beyond indicating the agreement of the signatories to
act as an ‘appointing body’ for the purposes of nominating sector
representatives
• Appendices can ‘stand alone’ but Agreement puts everything in one place –
a governance ‘manual’ for the Partnership
No questions from the board on the above
Name and Identity:
• Potential for confusion between RCCP and RCAN, costs/risks of having 2
‘brands’
• Proposal is to reposition RCCP as the ‘Reading Climate Action Partnership’
(so Board becomes ‘RCAP Board’, ‘RCAN’ remains as ‘RCAN’)
• Aligns both under single identify of ‘Reading Climate Action’
• Reduces scope for confusion between constituent parts
• Avoids need for re-branding of website
• Doesn’t change status of RCAN and retains low barriers to entry to RCAN
Board comments:
CB and TM both asked if it could be called ‘RCAN board’ instead, as it would make a
simpler link to RCAN, which is a recognised name in the town. PM highlighted that
the board is not voted in by RCAN members. It is self-selecting. The name ‘RCAN

Page 42

board’ could indicate otherwise. TM and TD highlighted that RCCP is also a
recognised entity in Reading, and changing its name (if not to RCAN board) could
add further confusion.
RH suggested that RCCP could be seen as “the ‘Proctor and Gamble’ and RCAN seen
as the outward facing brand”. Alternatively refer to “RCCP, trading as RCAN” or
alike. NG highlighted that ‘network’ and ‘partnership’ indicate different
relationships for the public to engage with. We want to maximise public
engagement
Action: It was concluded that we will stick with RCCP as name of partnership board,
and the common identity and brand we want to promote is RCAN, which is reflected
in the website.
Newly constituted board:
• Clarity needed about mandate of Board members and the process by which
they are appointed – transparency important
• Direct election of Board (e.g. by RCAN members) considered impractical as
RCAN membership is ultimately self-selecting
• Sector representation model has served the Partnership well so this is
retained
• Proposal is to invite specified organisations to nominate Board members to
represent key sectors (not any one organisation)
• Theme leads to become full Board members (‘1 organisation, 1 vote’
applies)
• Proposals seek to improve the diversity of Board representation whilst
retaining the input and good will of existing Board members
• Appointing bodies will be invited to sign the Agreement (imposes no
obligation beyond nominating a Board member)
There was a discussion in regards to the appointing bodies. The principle for
nominating the ‘big business’ board member was clarified - that where there is not
an existing organisation that can propose a representative for the partnership board
then the board has the ability to select a representative for that sector.
We now have a group of appointing bodies that can, in principle, change the shape
of the RCCP board. PM stated that, in practice, this is unlikely as many relationships
are already in place. This document helps formalise the process of appointment.
The bodies have a reasonably representative roles that can therefore credibly
nominate board members for a sector that they are part of.
The board will approach the appointed bodies to appoint board members. We’d like
to increase the diversity of organisations that are involved.
New guidance for theme leads
• The document reflects discussions at Theme Leads meeting in January 2021
• Flexible by design to reflect the difference scopes, needs and stages of
development of themes and theme groups – no ‘one size fits all’
• Gives discretion to Theme Leads over whether/how to convene a theme
group but sets parameters where theme groups are established
• Sets expectations on behaviour and conduct which apply to Board members,
theme group members etc – designed to help chairs manage meetings and
maintain focus on delivery

Page 43

PM

No questions
Conclusion and Next Steps
• Review Team invites the Partnership Board to endorse the proposed
Partnership Agreement and empower the Chairs/officers to contact
‘appointing bodies’ to invite them to nominate Board members and sign the
Partnership Agreement
•

Subject to Board agreement, the Partnership Agreement will be appended
to a report for RBC Strategic Environment, Planning and Transport
Committee (SEPT) on 30 June seeking SEPT agreement

•

Other appointing bodies will be contacted in parallel inviting them to
nominate Board members and sign the Partnership Agreement

•

The next meeting of the Board will be the first meeting of the ‘new Board’
under the new arrangements (attendance of ‘provisional’ Board members
will be acceptable where formal conclusion of Partnership Agreement may
not have been completed by any of the appointing bodies)

PM

TRC highlighted that this document maintains the status quo. It also brings an
added degree of legitimacy to our membership.
Most substantive issues raised by TM were clarified by PM.
Actions:
document altered in:
- the Specification for Board members section, and their past experience – the
wording needs to take into account young people’s representation and their
context.
- RCAN definition – add delivery partners into the definition.
Website
-past blogs to be reviewed, revised and reposted as suitable.

PM
PM
RH

TRC to send PM a suitable sentence for the document in regards the website being a
trusted source of reliable information that has continuity and longevity, but also
reserves the right to correct any misleading or inaccurate information.

TRC

PM to circulate to all an updated version of document – with the above additions

PM

All agreed they were supportive with the process and the final governance
document
Reporting on action plan:
There is currently no agreed format for the reporting on theme progress. All were
asked to share a quick update of their plan, successes and current challenges – that
we could help resolve.

Page 44

Energy: the status of the delivery of the energy action plan is a green to amber
status. Energy policy is making good progress. SSE’s RIIO2 (ofgem revenue +
incentive + innovation + outputs) plans for reinforcement of electricity network –
seeking grid strengthening work from OFGEN. The Local Plan is helping to deliver
‘zero carbon’ for new Developments.
The Reading retrofit programme supported by the Green Homes Grant has started
with local authority owned homes for external wall insulation and air source heat
pumps. Twelve houses have had the former. There are issues with the scheme
which are making the delivery of the private sector homes more challenging and
none have been done yet.
Made a start on the behaviour change communications resources but theme needs
to get engaged with the communications/engagement group around publishing
information or signposting where needed.
Heat: it’s a huge challenge to move to electrified heat from gas. Renewable heat
reserves - Air source heat pumps are ‘renewable’ as long as they are high efficiency
systems, ground source heat pumps have greater renewable input but are a work in
progress at present. The development of District heating networks is behind on the
pace of development that is needed but a master-planning process is moving
forward
Renewable electricity: solar panels on house and commercial spaces – there is no
substantive plan as yet. We need to move forward on non subsidised schemes.
BB has visited the Reading Hydro scheme that is currently being built on the Thames
at Caversham Lock. A big thanks to all who have been involved in this programme.
RCCP has £4k of shares in the Reading Hydro scheme. Which will be a small, but long
term income for the partnership.
Smart city is progressing – aiming for a zero carbon RBC depot as first project
supported through ADEPT.
Transport: CM gave a slide presentation:
Reducing the need and demand to travel, promoting walking and cycling:
–
–
–
–

National Cycle Network routes (running east to west) are nearly completed
Active travel fund – 4 schemes in consultation. A recommendation going to next
Committee meeting.
School Streets going very well. Park Lane Primary is up and running.
DfT - Active Travel Capability Fund - application for revenue funding to have a
town centre ‘Bicycle hub’ – for secure cycle parking, maintenance, volunteers to
work here will be encouraged

Work is also progressing in the categories of Encouraging a switch to public
transport, Reducing emissions and Adaptation, communication and engagement.
Trying to develop a more proactive communications programme for the work. Be
more

Page 45

BB/KB

Cycle hub – to include the Bicycle Kitchen people. And consider using it as an
information hub on climate change issues too.
The hub will be reliant on volunteer support, and has substantial potential and
scope, with more vacant shops in Reading.

CM

Reading UK is recruiting Volunteer Ambassadors to welcome people back to Reading
post lockdown. It would be good to embed them with the sustainable travel
messages.
Resources – PD has submitted a paper on this work area (see attached). Any
comments to resources@readingcan.org.uk
Water – theme is struggling with capacity as a result of Covid. We are behind on
where we would like to be but still feeling confident that the group can pick things
up. The theme group needs energising. CB will liaise with Thames Water in regards
the huge change in water use in towns due to lockdowns – and how this will impact
on plans.
CB to talk with Lauren Shute in regards outstanding early actions in regards posting
on the Readingcan website.

CB

The Thames Valley Flood Scheme and communicating the risks from flooding to the
public is a key piece of current work.
Nature – TM has submitted a paper (attached). They have been doing a lot, but all
has been very small.
We need urgently for RBC to identify off set schemes for developers, as this links to
broader plans on the green corridor network.
Developing a programme of talks to offer for community groups – Nature theme
have a variety of themes they are happy to provide talks on and would like other
themes to share their offers too. Please feedback to TM.
TM to link with Lauren Shute on this work

Theme
leads
TM

Health – met with Paul Harrison in Feb to understand more about the Greener NHS
campaign, reaching Net Zero NHS and helped to link with strategies of broader NHS.
No meetings arranged with NHS senior staff as yet, support requested to dig deeper
into the links with current NHS priorities so as not to duplicate workload.
Support requested to develop a theme group. TRC to respond to NG with help.

TRC

Now linked to Adept Live labs, and Stantec. Also linking with Brighter Future for
Children lead practitioner, Hannah. RBC Parks and open spaces team are time poor
at the moment and haven’t got time for meaningful partnerships.
NG link to Lauren Shute about developing a blog post around work at the Royal
College of Psychologists around youth mental health and climate change and eco
distress.

Page 46

NG

TP left meeting
Communications – Rachel Hazell has now been appointed as the new lead for
Communications and Engagement. Lauren Shute, from government Kickstart
programme, starts on Monday 25 hours a week for 6 months. She will work with
theme leads to develop a programme of online/live events.
Overall on green/amber. A KPIs dashboard needs to be developed – that are
appropriate and can be measured.
All to link with RH if you are missing any content from the current website, and she
will work with you to get it back online

ALL

Reading Climate Festival is now an annual event, each year in run up to COP. Mon
20th – 26th sept. online and live content with a greater culture focus this year,
alongside the talks and workshops. Links being made with Reading University youth
led art installations. Seeking Arts Council funding for cultural involvement for the
weekend at the end of the festival – RCCP will invest £1.5k to support this.
The Reading Town Meal event is 25th Sept, and we need to link with this
appropriately.
IT infrastructure – Ionos is our domain host and can also provide cloud based file
storage for the partnership which Rachel will implement.
AOB
WL thanked everyone for being an inspiring group, and he hopes he can find a
similar group in Kiel, Germany. All shared Thanks for his hard work and
engagement.
TM would like to see some ‘action to change government’ work be developed. The
need to identify barriers to climate change under current legislation, then pick a
challenge at a time to focus on (monthly, quarterly) to try and gain 10,000
signatures – to take to the legislative. RH to lead on this
NG – showed a one minute film on eco distress and solutions
Date for the next meetings: Tues 14th Sept 10-12noon, Tues 23 Nov 10-12noon

Page 47

RH

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES
TO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

DATE:

30 JUNE 2021

TITLE:

ACTIVE TRAVEL PROGRAMME AND SCHOOL STREETS UPDATE

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

COUNCILLOR PAGE

SERVICE:

PLANNING, TRANSPORT AND WARDS:
REGULATORY SERVICES

ALL

LEAD
OFFICER:

CHRIS MADDOCKS /
LUCY PRISMALL

TEL:

0118 937 4950 /
0118 937 4441

JOB TITLE:

STRATEGIC TRANSPORT
MANAGER /
TRANSPORT PLANNER

E-MAIL:

chris.maddocks@reading,gov.uk
lucy.prismall@reading.gov.uk

PORTFOLIO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT,
PLANNING & TRANSPORT

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on progress with delivering the
Council’s Active Travel programme, including to seek scheme and spend approval for
the recommended Active Travel Fund Tranche 2 scheme at Shinfield Road and the
package of measures which make up our proposal for the Active Travel Capability Fund.

1.2

This report also provides an update on the Council’s School Streets initiative, including
to seek authority to progress a joint experimental School Street scheme for Maiden
Erlegh School in Reading, UTC Reading and Alfred Sutton Primary School.

1.3

Appendix A: Active Travel Fund - Map of Tranche 1 and 2 Schemes
Appendix B: Active Travel Fund – Summary of Initial Engagement Responses
Appendix C: Maiden Erlegh School in Reading, UTC Reading and Alfred Sutton Primary
School – School Street Traffic Management Plan
Appendix D: Maiden Erlegh School in Reading, UTC Reading and Alfred Sutton Primary
School - Summary of Consultation Responses

2

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That the progress with development of the Active Travel Fund, Capability Fund and
School Streets schemes be noted as outlined in this report.

2.2

That scheme and spend approval for delivery of the Active Travel Fund Tranche 2
scheme be agreed to provide a segregated cycle facility and pedestrian
enhancements on Shinfield Road, in line with the results of the public consultation.

2.3

That scheme and spend approval for delivery of the Active Travel Capability Fund
schemes be agreed subject to successful award of the funding, including: a secure
cycle hub with parking, maintenance and loan/donation scheme; cycling and walking
initiatives and updates to the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.

2.4

That the Committee agrees to:

Page 49

2.4.1 The approval of a joint experimental School Street scheme for Maiden Erlegh School
in Reading, UTC Reading and Alfred Sutton Primary School on Crescent Road.
2.4.2 That the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services, in consultation with
the Lead Councillor for Strategic Environment, Planning and Transport, Ward
Councillors, be authorised to make the appropriate (experimental) Traffic
Regulation Orders for the proposed School Streets on Crescent Road in accordance
with the Local Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales)
Regulations 1996.
2.4.3 That subject to no objections being received during the experimental trial period of
the School Street, the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services in
agreement with the Lead Councillor for Strategic Environment, Planning and
Transport be authorised to make the experimental Order permanent.
2.4.4 That any objections received be reported back to the Committee at the appropriate
time.
3.

POLICY CONTEXT

3.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan supports the delivery of new transport infrastructure in
order to manage levels of congestion, improve air quality and reduce carbon emissions,
whilst accommodating the significant levels of planned economic growth. The Council’s
approved Capital Programme provides capital funding of over £50m for key
infrastructure projects. Funding is provided from grants received from the Local
Enterprise Partnership and Central Government, developer contributions, investment
from Network Rail and Great Western Railway (GWR), and Council borrowing.

3.2

The Council’s current Local Transport Plan (LTP) sets out the transport strategy for
Reading to 2026. Consultation on a new Local Transport Plan (LTP) was undertaken from
4th May to 30th August 2020. The new strategy is being developed to help achieve wider
objectives including the Reading 2050 Vision, the Climate Emergency and improved air
quality. The LTP will be heavily focused on addressing these wider challenges through
a package of solutions to provide realistic sustainable alternatives to the private car,
including enhanced cycling and walking routes to improve air quality. The new strategy
will be aligned with other Council strategies including the Local Plan and Climate
Emergency Strategy.

4.

BACKGROUND

4.1

At the meeting of Policy Committee on 18th May 2020, Members approved progression
of a programme of Active Travel schemes in Reading. These proposals were developed
in response to the coronavirus pandemic, which, alongside the Climate Emergency, have
dramatically enhanced the focus on enabling greater levels of active travel through the
provision of walking and cycling facilities.

4.2

The proposals were developed with a view to short term measures that could be
implemented quickly, and medium to longer term measures that, subject to the level
of funding released by the Department for Transport (DfT), could be developed and
implemented over the next few years. In addition, the proposals are being developed
in the context of unknown changes to travel demands as a result of the current
pandemic, which may result in less peak hour congestion due to more flexible working
arrangements and greater uptake of cycling, walking and public transport.

Page 50

4.3

In June 2020, the DfT formally announced the Active Travel funding programme to be
allocated in two separate tranches. Reading was awarded £221,250 grant funding for
Tranche 1 in July 2020, which focused on implementing temporary schemes quickly in
response to the pandemic and the need to ensure social distancing. In November 2020,
the DfT announced the award of £1.179m to Reading for Tranche 2. This award was on
the basis of a detailed, high quality and ambitious bid submitted by the Council,
resulting in Reading being awarded 100% of the indicative allocation available.

4.4

On 3rd March 2021 the DfT announced the Active Travel Capability Fund 2021/22 and
allocated the Council an indicative amount of £249,454. The objectives of the fund are:




To support the development of infrastructure projects to the new standards set
out, including updating previous plans (such as LCWIPs) as necessary;
To promote increased levels of physical activity through walking and cycling for
everyday journeys; and
To support access to new and existing employment, education and training.

4.5

The Council launched a School Street application process and guidance in spring 2020
and has subsequently engaged with several schools which have expressed an interest in
the potential implementation of a School Street outside their school. Park Lane Primary
(Junior School) was the first school to submit an application and Committee approval
was granted in November 2020 to implement an experimental School Street on Downing
Road and Lambourne Close. Committee approval was also granted in March 2021 to
implement an experimental School Street on Wilson Road (Wilson Primary School) and
Harley Road (Thameside Primary School). A joint School Street application from Maiden
Erlegh School in Reading, UTC Reading and Alfred Sutton Primary School has been
received.

5.

CURRENT PROGRESS

Active Travel Fund - Tranches 1 & 2
5.1

The delivery of the Tranche 1 schemes was undertaken during spring/summer 2020. The
following schemes, which are temporary in nature in line with DfT guidance, have been
delivered:









5.2

George Street, Reading Bridge – removal of one inbound lane for general traffic
to enable the delivery of new two-way cycle facilities.
Southampton Street, Silver Street & Mount Pleasant- reallocation of road space
to create new cycle facilities.
Whitley Street - reallocation of road space to create new cycle facilities.
Sidmouth Street - temporary one-way restriction and lane closure to provide a
segregated two-way cycle lane.
Oxford Road (between Tilehurst Station and Norcot Road) - reallocation of road
space to create new cycle facilities.
Oxford Road (between Norcot Road and the town centre) – implementation of
cycle markings to raise awareness of cyclists with drivers.
Redlands Road – implementation of cycle markings to raise awareness of cyclists
with drivers and road safety improvements.
Christchurch Road – implementation of cycle markings to raise awareness of
cyclists with drivers.

The bid submitted by the Council to the DfT for Tranche 2 included a programme of
high-quality cycle and pedestrian infrastructure proposals on some of Reading’s most
strategic routes. In order to demonstrate our ambitious longer-term agenda, the bid
included schemes which would cost significantly more to deliver than the level of

Page 51

funding available as part of the current tranche of grant allocations. For instance, initial
estimated costings suggest that each scheme could cost between £750k to £1.5m to
deliver, depending on the nature of the individual scheme. Due to the level of funding
made available by the DfT at this stage, the top four schemes from the bid were taken
forward for the next stage of development work, as set out below:


Southampton Street and Oracle Roundabout (Pell Street – Inner Distribution
Road/Bridge Street) – Create a segregated cycle lane along Southampton Street,
with changes at the junctions at either end, linking with existing cycle infrastructure
through the reallocation of road space from general traffic. A key ‘missing link’ in
the existing network, it will provide a continuous link between existing routes
including NCN Routes 4 and 422, and the mandatory cycle lane that has recently
been implemented in Tranche 1 of the Council’s Active Travel programme. An
alternative option to create a shared cycle and bus lane - with cyclists catered for
within a separate lane – is also being considered.



Bath Road/Castle Hill (Southcote Lane – Inner Distribution Road/Castle Street) –
Creation of cycle facilities on this busy route to and from the town centre. A further
‘missing link’ on the existing network, the scheme would link with the new NCN
route 422 and connect with existing routes west of the railway bridge.



Shinfield Road (Christchurch Green – Whitley Wood Road) - Create segregated cycle
facilities linking to the tranche 1 schemes on Redlands Road and Christchurch Road.
This would provide a high-quality facility on a key route between South Reading and
Royal Berkshire Hospital, the University of Reading, local centres and Reading town
centre.



London Road (Borough boundary to Crown Street) - Reallocate road space from
general traffic to create an inbound shared bus and cycle lane from the Borough
boundary to Cemetery Junction. The scheme would continue between Cemetery
Junction and Crown Street, offering a segregated cycle lane in both directions, by
reallocating road space from general traffic.

5.3

Initial feasibility work on these four schemes was undertaken in accordance with DfT’s
guidance on the delivery of Tranche 2 schemes, and an initial engagement exercise
(phase 1) ran from 24th February to 23rd April 2021 (8-weeks). This engagement exercise
was heavily publicised online, through social media and with postcards delivered to
around 5,000 nearby properties for each scheme (with the delivery adhering to strict
Covid health and safety measures). Engagement also took place with Ward Councillors
of each scheme location, key stakeholders including the Cycle Forum, Cleaner Air and
Safer Transport Forum and the Older People’s Working Group.

5.4

The Council received 928 responses from residents, businesses and organisations as part
of the initial engagement exercise. Appendix B offers a detailed summary of responses
received, including an analysis per question. Based on the responses received, whilst
all schemes received a higher level of support than opposition it is recommended that
the Shinfield Road scheme is progressed to the next stage of development for the
reasons set out below.

5.5

The core of each proposed scheme was the need to provide segregated cycle facilities.
The level of support received for each in ranked order was as follows;


Shinfield Road - 61.3% supported or strongly supported the proposed segregated
two-way cycle lanes.

Page 52

5.6



Bath Road - 60.1% supported or strongly supported the proposed mostly
segregated cycle lanes from Southcote Road to the IDR.



London Road - 60.1% supported or strongly supported the proposed segregated
cycle lanes from Cemetery Junction to Kendrick Road.



Southampton Street - 54.1% supported or strongly supported the proposed twoway segregated cycle lanes from Crown Street to Bridge Street.

These results can be compared with the concerns respondents had for schemes
expressed as being opposed or strongly opposed, again ranked in order of most concern.


Shinfield Road – 18.4% opposed or strongly opposed the proposed segregated
two-way cycle lanes.



Bath Road – 21.7% opposed or strongly opposed the proposed mostly segregated
cycle lanes from Southcote Road to the IDR.



London Road – 28.5% opposed or strongly opposed the proposed segregated cycle
lanes from Cemetery Junction to Kendrick Road.



Southampton Street - 24.6% opposed or strongly opposed the proposed two-way
segregated cycle lanes from Crown Street to Bridge Street.

The Shinfield Road scheme was thus the best supported and least opposed scheme.
5.7

Additional questions were asked regarding the desire to see improved facilities for
cyclists at junctions and again Shinfield Road scored the highest level of support relative
to opposition with 62.8% support or strongly support and 17.2% oppose or strongly
oppose. The other three schemes scored higher than Shinfield Road for support but also
higher for opposition.

5.8

Further questions were asked regarding the desire to see improved crossing facilities
for pedestrians. All schemes scored highly with Shinfield Road again having the highest
score for support at 65.2% relative to opposition of 12.4% of respondents. The other
schemes scored higher than Shinfield Road for support but also higher for opposition.

5.9

It should be noted however that the highest overall support for any aspect of the four
schemes was for improved crossing facilities for cyclists and pedestrians at the
Southampton Street IDR roundabout with 70.1% support or strong support. 14.8% of
respondents were opposed or strongly opposed to such improvements.

5.10

Responses were also received from organisations as part of the consultation. Differing
views were expressed regarding the impact of proposed schemes on various users of the
highway and public space, and levels of support of the individual schemes. This has
been taken into account in the analysis of results as shown in the table below:

Page 53

Organisation
Cycling UK
Friends of
Christchurch
Green
Reading Buses

Reading Cycle
Campaign
Reading
Friends of the
Earth
The University
of Reading

Bath Road/
Castle Hill
Support
(preferred
scheme)
Neutral

London Road

Shinfield Road

Support

Support

Southampton
Street
Support

Neutral

Support

Neutral

Concerns
raised

Concerns
raised /
support shared
bus/cycle lane
Support

Concerns
raised
Support

Concerns
raised /
support shared
bus/cycle lane
Support

Support

Support

Support

Support

Support

Support

Support
(preferred
scheme)
Support
Neutral

5.11

Overall, all proposed schemes attracted high levels of support but for some there were
relatively higher levels of opposition likely due to a reluctance to give up a current
traffic lane. The Shinfield Road resulted in the lowest level of opposition and allows
provision of high-quality cycle infrastructure without significant loss of capacity for
motorists and public transport users. The scheme would link to existing tranche 1
schemes on Redlands Road and Christchurch Road, providing a high-quality facility on a
key route between South Reading and Royal Berkshire Hospital, the University of
Reading, local centres and Reading town centre. This scheme provides an opportunity
to show how facilities for cycling and walking can be improved to provide choice of
mode of travel rather than removing choice by restricting other modes of travel. With
a high-quality scheme delivered it is hoped that support for future schemes will remain
high, but opposition reduced after seeing a scheme in action.

5.12

The indicative timeline for the Tranche 2 programme is set out below:
 Initial consultation – February to April 2021 - Completed
 Initial consultation results review and recommendation for scheme(s) to be taken
forward – May to June 2021 – In progress
 Committee approval to undertake statutory consultation – June 2021 – In progress
 Detailed design - Summer/Autumn 2021
 Statutory consultation – Autumn 2021
 Statutory consultation results review and update scheme design – Winter 2021
 Scheme delivery – from Spring 2022 onwards

5.13

In order to deliver a high-quality segregated cycle facility, the DfT funding will only
allow one scheme to be taken forward, based on initial cost estimates. Scheme delivery
costs will be further refined through the detailed design and officers will continue to
seek further funding opportunities from the DfT and other external sources in order to
deliver the other schemes supported through the initial consultation. In addition, a
review of the temporary Tranche 1 schemes will be undertaken following the decision
on which Tranche 2 scheme will be taken forward for delivery has been made. The
location of Tranche 2 schemes and Tranche 1 schemes already delivered, are illustrated
in Appendix A.

Page 54

Active Travel Capability Fund
5.14

The Council submitted a proposal to the DfT on 19th April 2021 for this funding. The
proposal included the development of a town centre cycle hub, offering secure cycle
parking, cycle maintenance and a cycle loan/donation scheme, as well as various
initiatives aimed at supporting a shift in travel behaviour to active modes.

5.15

The following proposed programme of walking and cycling initiatives will be delivered
in partnership with a new Liveable Towns Officer to be funded through this grant:
 Adult cycle training
 Cycle maintenance training
 School travel planning
 School travel challenge
 Led walks
 Led cycles
 Cycle loan scheme
 E-cycle loan scheme
 Cycle security measures (secure cycle hub)
 Support for Reading Cycle Festival
 Active travel marketing/comms activities
 Research programme to identify key barriers to encouraging walking and cycling
in Reading

5.16

The funding will also be used to update Readings Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan to ensure it is consistent with new national guidance including Gear
Change (the UK’s vision for cycling and walking) and Local Transport Note 1/20. This
will put the Council in the best possible position to secure funding for future walking
and cycling schemes.

5.17

At the time of publication of this report, confirmation of the level of funding awarded
by the DfT has not been received, therefore scheme and spend approval for the
initiatives and schemes set out in the proposal is sought from this Committee subject
to the successful award of external funding.

School Streets
5.18

The Park Lane Primary (Junior School) School Street commenced on 19th April 2021. A
Stage 3 Road Safety Audit will be undertaken within the first month of operation. Initial
feedback on this School Street has been positive, both from the school community and
residents on Downing Road and Lambourne Close. Throughout this trial period, lasting
a maximum of 18-months, officers will continue to monitor the scheme in terms of its
impact on surrounding roads, and the extent to which travel behaviours have changed
towards more active modes of travel. Further progress on this School Street will be
reported in the coming months, including any formal objections received within the
first 6-months of this trial (statutory consultation).

5.19

School Street schemes for Wilson Primary School and Thameside Primary School are
currently in preparation. Both schemes are planned to commence from Monday 7th June
2021. Promotional materials are on display for each School Street and the surrounding
roads, and the School and Council continue to raise awareness of these schemes.

5.20

Maiden Erlegh School in Reading, UTC Reading and Alfred Sutton Primary School have
undertaken an informal consultation with affected properties and parents/carers on the
proposal to implement an experimental School Street on Crescent Road (between
Wokingham Road and Bulmershe Road), details of which are shown in the Traffic
Management Plan - Appendix D. The proposed time of the road closure for the School

Page 55

Street would be 8.15 to 9.00 for morning drop-off and 14.45 to 15.30 for afternoon pickup, Monday-Friday during term time only. A summary of the consultation responses
received by the school is provided at Appendix E of this report.
5.21

Over 150 consultation responses were received by the school community and the local
community. As part of the consultation letters were sent to properties on Crescent
Road, Bulmershe Road and Hamilton Road, and in addition signs advising of the
consultation were placed in Eastern Avenue, Culver Road, College Road, Wokingham
Road local centre, Pitcroft Avenue, Norris Road and Grange Avenue. Of these responses,
54% support the proposal, 24% said maybe and 23% oppose the proposal. A full review
of these responses has been undertaken. The table below sets out the top 5 concerns
and comments addressing each concern. A full list of concerns is detailed in Appendix
D.
Concern
Displacement
of traffic on to
neighbouring
roads

Number of
Comment to address concern
respondents
32
The closure period is very minimal and is unlikely to
have a major impact on neighbouring roads. In this
particular location, there are a number of
alternative routes that can be used surrounding this
proposed School Street, therefore spreading any
potential displacement over a larger area. This
initiative is aimed at encouraging the school
community to travel more sustainably. With this in
mind, coupled with a number of complementary
measures (Park and Stride sites, Bikeability, WOW
etc), in theory there should be minimal displacement
of school traffic on neighbouring roads. Parking
surveys identified enough capacity at legitimate 2hour free parking spaces for parents/carers who have
no choice but to drive.
23
There are legal parking spaces on a number of
neighbouring roads which can be used for short term
parking without a need to inconvenience residents.

Displacement
of parking into
neighbouring
roads
Residents will
21
be subjected
to further
irresponsible
and anti-social
parents driving
and parking
Should extend
restriction
area

12

Will make
junctions on
Crescent Road
more
dangerous

9

The installation of a School Street and attendant
publicity underlining the health, climate and societal
benefits of not driving children to school and
encourages parents to consider different
arrangements to deliver children to school may help
to encourage a more responsible attitude to parking
and driving than has been shown by a minority of
parents in the past.
Increasing the extent of the closure will entail
additional closure points, resulting in more marshals
required – each closure point must be manned by at
least one marshal at all times. The schools have
already indicated difficulties with gaining support for
potential marshals.
All junctions would remain as at present apart from
being unable to enter or exit Crescent Road beyond
Bulmershe Road during the closure periods. Through
traffic which makes up the majority of vehicles on
Crescent Road will be unlikely to drive to this point
but divert from the area reducing the amount of
traffic needing to use this junction.

Page 56

5.22

In assessing the application, officers have also carried out traffic surveys and parking
surveys on the proposed School Street and neighbouring streets, to determine the
current baseline usage of the streets. A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit has been undertaken
by an independent road safety auditor on the proposed School Street, and no safety
concerns were identified within the report. Subject to approval of this School Street
proposal, a Stage 2 Road Safety Audit will be carried out prior to its implementation.

5.23

As a result of this assessment, officers recommend that a School Street on Crescent
Road (between Wokingham Road and Bulmershe Road) is recommended for approval.
However, the impact of the School Street on neighbouring roads, including the
remainder of Crescent Road, Bulmershe Road, Hamilton Road, Eastern Avenue and
others will be monitored during the initial trial period in response to concerns raised by
some residents through the consultation.

5.24

Subject to approval of the above recommendation, the Assistant Director of Legal and
Democratic Services will make the appropriate (experimental) traffic regulation order
in accordance with the Local Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales)
Regulations 1996.

5.25

After an initial 6-month period of the experimental order, and provided no objections
are received, the Committee is asked to authorise the Assistant Director of Legal and
Democratic Services to make the traffic regulation order permanent. Should objections
be received during the experimental trial period of this School Street - which may be
extended up to a maximum period of 18 months - these will be reported back to
Committee at the appropriate time.

5.26

The Council continues to promote School Streets to other schools in Reading and any
future applications from schools will be reported to the Committee.

6.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

6.1

The delivery of the schemes outlined in this report help to deliver the following service
priorities in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2021/22:
 Healthy Environment
 Thriving Communities
 Inclusive Economy

7.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS

7.1

Transport is the biggest greenhouse gas emitting sector in the UK accounting for around
27% of total carbon emissions. As set out in the draft Climate Emergency Strategy this
figure is lower in Reading with transport accounting for around 20% of carbon emissions,
however significant investment in sustainable transport solutions is vital in order to
respond to the Climate Emergency declared by the Council in February 2019 and to help
achieve our target of a carbon neutral Reading by 2030.

7.2

Proposals set out in this paper seek to support a step-change in transport infrastructure
and services and a shift towards walking and cycling as attractive alternatives to private
vehicles. This builds on the considerable success of increasing the number of walking,
cycling and public transport trips into Reading town centre to 80% as part of the delivery
of previous Local Transport Plans.

8.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION

Page 57

8.1

Advertising of the Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders will be conducted in accordance
with appropriate legislation. Notices will be advertised in the local printed newspaper
and erected on lamp columns within the affected area. If this is not possible, alternative
means will be proposed such as delivering the notice to each property within the
affected area and promoting the notice in the online version of local media.

8.2

Public consultation on the Active Tranche 2 and Schools Street schemes has/will be
undertaken as set out within the report.

9.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

9.1

Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149 the Council must, in the exercise of its
functions, have due regard to the need to:
•
Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that
is prohibited by or under this Act.
•
Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.
•
Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

9.2

The Council has reviewed the scope of the proposals as outlined within this report and
considers that the proposals have no direct impact on any groups with protected
characteristics. However, further work will be undertaken for the Active travel Tranche
2 schemes as designs are developed further.

10.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

Some interventions will not require Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs). Others will require
TROs, of which there are different types. The main ones are:


Permanent: this process includes prior consultation on the proposed scheme design,
a 21-day notice period for statutory consultees and others who can log objections;
there could be a public inquiry in some circumstances.



Temporary: these can be in place for up to 18 months. There is a 7-day notice period
prior to making the TRO and a 14-day notification requirement after it is made, plus
publicity requirements. These are most suitable for putting in place temporary
measures and road closures. Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders will require
advertisement, in accordance with the Local Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedure)
(England and Wales) Regulations 1996. A Temporary Traffic Regulation Order will
be made in accordance with section 14(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984,
as amended.



Experimental: any experimental orders will be made under the Road Traffic
Regulation Act 1984 and advertised in accordance with the Local Authorities Traffic
Orders (Procedure)(England and Wales) Regulations 1996. The order can operate for
a maximum of 18 months. Any comments or objections to the order can be made
during the first 6 months of operation, after which the Council will consider and
decide to either continue with the experiment for a further 12 months, remove the
experiment or make the scheme permanent.

10.2

Necessary changes to Highway signs and road markings, including temporary, will need
to be implemented in accordance with the Traffic Signs, Regulations and General
Directions 2016 and associated Code of Practice for temporary Highway signing.

11.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Page 58

11.1

Funding for the schemes set out within this report has been allocated from the
Department for Transport’s Active Travel Fund, Integrated Transport Block, Capability
Fund* and Travel Demand Management grant funding allocations as set out in the tables
below:
Capital Implications – Indicative Forecasts
2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

Proposed Capital Expenditure:
Active Travel – Tranche 2

25

985

500

Funded by:
Grant - Active Travel – Tranche 2
Grant – Integrated Transport Block

25
0

985
0

169
331

Total Funding

25

985

500

Revenue Implications – Indicative Forecasts
2020/21
£000
Proposed Revenue Expenditure:
Active Travel Capability Fund*
School Streets
Funded by:
Grant - Active Travel Capability
Fund*
Grant – Travel Demand
Management
Total Funding

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

0
32

249
24

0
0

0

249

0

32

24

0

32

273

0

*Please note the DfT has not confirmed allocations for the Active Travel Capability Fund
at the time of publication of this report, however an announcement is anticipated
shortly.
12.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

12.1

Active Travel Programme Report, Policy Committee - 18th May 2020

12.2

Active Travel Programme and School Streets Update Report, Strategic Environment,
Planning and Transport Committee – from July 2020 onwards

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A –
Active Travel Fund - Map of Tranche
1 and 2 Schemes

Page 61

Page 62

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B - Active Travel Fund – Summary of Initial Engagement
Responses
In line with the Active Travel Fund Programme, an initial engagement exercise on four
concept schemes ran from 24th February to 23rd April 2021. The four schemes were:
•
•
•
•

Bath Road/Castle Hill (Southcote Lane – Inner Distribution Road (IDR)/Castle
Street)
London Road (Borough Boundary to London Street)
Shinfield Road (Christchurch Green – Shinfield Rise)
Southampton Street (Pell Street/Crown Street –Bridge Street/Fobney Street)

A total of 928 responses were received. The results are as follows:
1. Types of respondent (Who)

Page 65

2. Type of respondent (Age Groups)

Page 66

3. Thinking about your normal travel habits (pre-coronavirus), on average, how
often did you use the following methods of transport when travelling in your local
area?

Page 67

4. What impact, if any, has the coronavirus had on your use of the following
methods of transport

Page 68

5. How important do you think the following factors are in deciding whether to use
an active form of travel (i.e. cycling, walking and public transport)?

Page 69

6. How effective would the following initiatives be in encouraging you to
cycle/walk/use public transport more often around your local area?

Page 70

7. How effective would the following initiatives be in encouraging you to
cycle/walk/use public transport more often around your local area – other
answers given
Code description

No. of
coded
comments

% of coded
comments

Partial support – separate space needed for
pedestrians and cyclists

20

7%

Walking/cycling opportunity – secure bike
storage

20

7%

20

7%

19

7%

15

5%

14

5%

13

5%

Discourage driving/ car-use/ rat-running
Issues with Parking
Existing maintenance issue
Other - additional proposal
Accessibility issues

Bath Road/Castle Hill
8. To what extent do you support the following improvement ideas for the area?
Total
support %

Total
opposition %

Two new predominantly segregated cycle lanes
between the IDR roundabout and Southcote Road

61%

22%

Improved segregated facilities on the IDR
roundabout for pedestrians and cyclists

67%

20%

Improved facilities for cyclists at junctions,
including early release at signals

65%

19%

Improved crossing facilities on the IDR
roundabout and along Bath Road/Castle Hill

69%

15%

Proposals

Page 71

9. Would these improvements encourage you to…

Page 72

10.

Do you think these improvements would encourage people to…

Page 73

London Road
11.

To what extent do you support the following improvement ideas for the area?
Total
support %

Total
opposition %

Two new segregated cycle lanes between
Cemetery Junction and Kendrick Road

61%

29%

New eastbound predominantly segregated cycle
route from Cemetery Junction to Liverpool Road

60%

28%

Bus and cycle lane westbound from Borough
boundary to Cemetery Junction

58%

29%

Improved facilities for cyclists at junctions,
including early release at signals

67%

21%

Improved crossing facilities along the route,
including at Cemetery Junction

72%

16%

Proposals

Page 74

12.

Would these improvements encourage you to…

Page 75

13.

Do you think these improvements would encourage people to…

Page 76

Shinfield Road
14.

To what extent do you support the following improvement ideas for the area?
Total
support %

Total
opposition %

Two new segregated cycle lanes between
Christchurch Green and Shinfield Rise

62%

19%

Segregated shared use path facilities through
Shinfield Rise

57%

22%

Improved facilities for cyclists at junctions,
including early release at signals

64%

17%

68%

13%

Proposals

Improved crossing facilities along Shinfield Road

Page 77

15.

Would these improvements encourage you to…

Page 78

16.

Do you think these improvements would encourage people to…

Page 79

Southampton Street
17.

To what extent do you support the following improvement ideas for the area?
Total
support %

Total
opposition %

New two-way segregated cycle route from Pell
Street to Bridge Street, but no shared bus and
cycle lane

57%

26%

Shared bus and cycle lane from Pell Street to
Bridge Street

48%

29%

New one-way segregated cycle route along Crown
Street

59%

24%

Improved crossing facilities on The Oracle
roundabout for pedestrians and cyclists

72%

15%

Improved crossing facilities on the Southampton
Street/Pell Street junction for pedestrians and
cyclists

70%

15%

Deansgate Road becoming one way to prevent
right turning vehicles from Southampton Street

41%

27%

Proposals

Page 80

18.

Would these improvements encourage you to…

Page 81

19.

Do you think these improvements would encourage people to…

Page 82

20.

Do you have any other comments on these initial ideas?

Comment
description

Nature of comments received

•
•
•

Page 83

Partial opposition proposal won't
reduce traffic/will
increase traffic

•
•
•
•

•
Existing safety
issues

•
•

Removing a vehicle lane will cause more
traffic and create more pollution.
All the schemes unfairly impact drivers due
to the increase in congestion they will
cause.
Any cycle lane shouldn’t be at the expense
of losing a vehicle lane.
The increase in traffic will make it less
pleasant to walk and cycle.
More congestion will mean people won’t
travel into the town centre, negatively
affecting businesses.
The London Road proposal is likely to cause
the most problems in terms of increasing
traffic.
The increase in traffic will lead to an
increase in rat running, along less suitable
roads.
Specific areas mentioned that are unsafe for
cyclists e.g. Rivermead, Caversham, Peppard
Road, Prospect Street, Oxford Road,
Christchurch Road, Castle Hill, Grovelands
Road, Vastern Road.
Currently unsafe for children to cycle.
Bus lanes unsafe for cyclists, as both the
buses and taxis that use them do not have

No. of
comments

% of
comments

Example comments

“The schemes implemented so far are
designed to make car travel more difficult and
will damage Reading’s reputation (by turning
it into an M25 like car park) and drive more
and more businesses from the town centre.”

140

8%

“The proposal for London Road is a disaster,
reducing 3 lanes of traffic to 2 would increase
congestion, and pollution”
“We are concerned the proposed reduction in
the number lanes available for cars on London
Road will result in the displacement of traffic
onto Wokingham Road and also the
surrounding residential streets.”

“I was concerned for my safety due to the lack
of adequate crossings for pedestrians as well
as car's speed on roads in central Reading”
113

6%

“Cyclists seem to think they can cycle on any
pavement these days, far removed from my
youth! Even on wide pavements they pass
pedestrians at speed without any warning.”

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Page 84

•
•
•
•
•
•

Existing traffic
issues

•
•
•

•
•

any consideration for cyclists.
Conflict between cyclists and pedestrians on
footways.
Lack of crossing facilities in areas such as
Forbury, A33, A4, A329, Kidmore Road.
Speed of cars making cycling dangerous.
Poor lighting in areas, such as the footbridge
at the top of Berkeley Avenue/Bath Road.
Some pavements are a tripping hazard for
pedestrians.
Bike theft a problem in the town.
Dangerous cyclist behaviour e.g. travelling
at speeds, jumping red lights.
New cycle lanes along Christchurch Road are
being ignored by cars, resulting in collisions
at the Kendrick Road junction.
Cycle lane at roundabout at Whitely pump
has caused driver confusion.
Existing cycle lanes ending abruptly are
dangerous.
Fear of being attacked or intimidated, which
prevents people from walking or cycling.

“The main issue I feel is that car drivers come
in huge speed to intimidate cyclists.”

Pollution from traffic.
Reading town centre can get gridlocked.
London Road, including Cemetery Junction,
suffers from congestion.
HGVs using Reading as a rat run.
Traffic on Shinfield Road.
A327 experiences traffic during peak
periods, since the mini roundabouts at Elm
Road and Whitley Wood Road junctions were
replaced with traffic lights.
Existing traffic along Bath Road/Castle Hill.
Traffic on A33, A4, and A329.

“London road from Cemetery Junction along in
front of the hospital it already congested.”

“No improvements to Vastern Rd roundabout,
or TGI Friday's roundabout, both of which are
very dangerous to pedestrians and cyclists.”
“Another issue is bike theft, town bike theft
needs to be clamped down on”
“I consider myself a reasonably confident
cyclist, but do not feel safe or comfortable
riding in Reading as there are not enough
joined up segregated cycle ways for me to get
around easily.”
“…people will need to feel safe when
walking/cycling due to fears of being attacked
or intimidated.”

“The roads are so busy with traffic now and
we're still in a lockdown.”
106

6%

“As a driver and also user of Bus services I
have noticed that traffic congestion is
increasing in Reading.”
“I cycle every day from Shinfield Road to
London Road. These are some of the most
congested roads in the area.”

Page 85

Partial opposition –
further
developments
needed

A number of suggestions have been made by
respondents, which they feel are needed as part
of the proposals. These include:
• Enforce no parking on cycle lanes to allow
for consistent travel.
• Educate motorists and cyclists – about where
the current cycle lanes are and encourage
them to use them.
• Continue with the cycle lanes across side
road junctions.
• Southampton Street proposal at the Oracle
roundabout - create a cycle and pedestrian
path which crosses the island, rather than
directing cyclists around it into and across
traffic flow/lanes.
• Improved crossing pattern at Cemetery
Junction for cyclist coming east along the
Kings Road bus lane and wanting to continue
along Wokingham Road.
• New cycle lane on Sidmouth street needs to
have an onward connection.
• Bath Road - Look to introduce segregated
facilities, such as at Berkeley Avenue and
Russell Street.
• Make all bus stops floating.
• London Road proposal – have a central bus
lane into town with places where it
discontinues to allow traffic to turn right.
• Castle Hill/Bath Road proposal – cycle lane
from IDR junction extended to include
corner outside the Advantage office, as it is
a pinch point at the moment.
• Exclude bus stops/parking bays from
cycleways.
• Priority cycleway controlled crossings at

“The Oracle roundabout needs the road
marking treatment that some other
roundabouts have had”
“I would really like to suggest to make some
routes car free and a proper separate cycle
lanes with a kerb”
[Bath Road/Castle Hill proposals] “Suggest
make one lane uphill for bus and cycle use
with over a dozen buses per hour this is
sensible and one lane each way for other
traffic.”

88

5%

“If you're going to implement the Pell Street
to Bridge Street option, you need to consider
giving priority at traffic lights to buses and
cyclists”
“Nature (trees/wildlife) along the route would
also improve the enjoyment of cycling.”
“Please do not narrow or reduce any current
lanes for cars.”
“The amount of buildings and street furniture
will need to be severely reduced to
accommodate the reduction in availability of
street space for vehicles.”
“It is also important to ensure that cycle paths
are not blocked by cars parking on them.”
“I would also like to see an improved crossing
pattern at Cemetery Junction for cyclist
coming east”

•
•

•
•

•

Page 86
Partial support –
separate space
needed for
pedestrians/buses
and cyclists

•

•
•
•
•
•

major junctions.
Improve aesthetics of the areas (such as
planting).
IDR roundabout – need to create a safe route
from the top of Wolseley Street, up the slip
road (i.e. outside the Advantage Building)
and then onto Castle Street.
London Road proposals should be changed to
on street segregated cycle lanes in both
directions.
Include a pedestrian crossing where there is
currently the traffic island at the Castle Hill
end of Coley Avenue, as this is heavily used.
Segregated cycle lanes are better for
cyclists and pedestrians, as shared paths can
be dangerous.
Cyclists do not consider pedestrians on
shared paths by travelling at high speeds and
not giving warning of them approaching from
behind. This causes conflict between the
two user groups.
Shared paths cause cyclists to think they can
cycle on any pavement.
Sharing bus and cycle lanes are dangerous as
buses are large, taking up the entire lane,
and fast.
Shared bus and cycle lanes also hold up
buses, making them unreliable and behind
the timetable.
Shared paths can cause difficulties for
disabled users.
Dedicated lanes for cyclists will encourage
more people to cycle.

“Segregated cycle rather than shared routes
always preferred”
“…could potentially increase collision risks
between pedestrians and cyclists”
“Shared use paths and shared bus lanes are
not suitable infrastructure.”
84

5%

“Shared space with buses and taxis etc is
dangerous and intimidating for cyclists as the
most vulnerable road users.”
“Mixed lanes with buses will not encourage
more women, older or disable people to cycle”
“On shared pathways pedestrians are not
respected properly.”

Page 87

Other – additional
proposals

A number of additional proposals have been
suggested by respondents. These include:
• Build the MRT over Kennetmouth, as this
would increase access to Reading town
centre.
• Build a ‘Third Bridge’.
• Early release for cyclists at traffic lights.
• Prevent cars making illegal right turns out of
Granby Gardens and going through red
lights.
• Provide funding for bikes to young people in
order to support their well-being and
develop new behaviours and attitudes to
transport.
• Charge cyclists for riding in Reading and
implement a congestion charge for vehicles,
like in London.
• Adjust traffic lights so they can detect
cyclists when cars are not around.
• Restrict cars using streets around schools
and colleges.
• Consider use of tactile cones on road signals.
• Improved signage.
• Apart from walking and cycling, Reading
needs more facilities to keep people active
such as an improved swimming pool, or
other indoor sports such as ice skating.
• CCTV to improve safety along routes.
• Park and Ride around the edges of Reading.
• Bus laybys on London Road to help with the
flow of traffic.
• Bring back ReadyBike.
• Low Traffic Neighbourhood schemes.
• Cheaper bus fairs for low income
households.

“The most needed road change in Reading is a
Thames crossing at the end of the A329M to
ensure that through traffic doesn’t go through
the town centre.”
“The council should seriously consider road
pricing or some technology-based approach to
discourage vehicle use.”
“Cameras on traffic lights catching cyclists
going through red lights”
“…having secure CCTV safety routes for people
at night-time can see the cameras and know
that the route is monitored for their
protection if they travel at night”
77

4%

“Free bus/train shuttle from a park & ride
area just outside town”
“The public transport infrastructure needs to
be more wide ranging, cheaper and reliable
than is currently”
“An improvement on Shinfield Road would be
to install traffic lights at the junction with
Cressingham Road”
“I frequently used the ReadyBike scheme as it
was really convenient to pair with walking and
bus travel to work and town”
“I think a congestion charge would help to
encourage active transport.”

•
•
•
•

Rubbish bins to prevent littering.
Ban pavement parking.
Create a car share lane, rather than a cycle
lane, to reduce the number of single-adult
cars.
Pedestrianisation of the town centre.
“London Rd is especially an area that I find has
significantly too much traffic and encourages
speeding or more dangerous driving due to the
size of the road.”

London Road
scheme

London Road was the proposal mentioned most
frequently out of all four proposals.

76

4%

Page 88

“Why are you proposing changes to London
road which gets choked with traffic, when
there is already a bus and cycle lane directly
into town via kings road, and cycle paths on
London road.
“London Road: west of Cemetery Junction,
generally good proposals.”
“London Road scheme - needs markings to
guide cyclists moving westwards from
Wokingham Road.”
“These schemes seem really good to get
people into the town centre, thank you. Just
want more of them!”

General support

These comments were in general support of the
proposal(s), but mostly provided no further
explanation as to the reasons why.

63

4%

“I am fully in support of any proposals that
will attempt to change car traffic into public
transit or car/walking space.”
“Fantastic initiatives and suggestions.”
“It would be great for all 4 of these proposals

to be enacted.”

•
•
•
Walking/cycling
issue –
misuse/speeding

•
•

•

56

3%

“9 times out of 10 cyclists don’t even stop at
red lights or obey them”
“It is my personal experience that even where
cycle lanes are present the pavement is the
preferred option for far too many cyclists.”

Page 89

“Cycles are inconsiderate to other road users
and are a danger to themselves along with
other road users.”
“Sidmouth Street cycle lane was utterly
pointless as virtually no cyclists use that
route”

•
Walking/cycling
issue - current
provision is not
being used

Cyclists jumping red lights.
Cyclists going straight through junctions.
Cyclists double breasted on shared paths,
forcing pedestrians onto the verges/road.
Cyclists using the pavement, in some cases
even when there is a cycle lane.
Cyclists not wearing the correct clothing or
having all the equipment in order to be safe,
e.g. helmets, bright coloured clothing,
lights.
Cyclists travelling at speeds along shared
pavements is a safety concern.

“There is an increasing problem of cyclists,
especially powered bikes ridden by delivery
people, and scooter riders speeding on
pavements causing real hazards to
pedestrians.”

•
•

Very few cyclists using the cycle lane on
Sidmouth Street.
Cycling tends to only take place in good
weather, and therefore when the weather is
bad, or too hot, the cycle lanes are empty.
The current cycle lanes are very rarely used,
and these proposals will not change that.

“Cycling traffic evaporated once the weather
changed and it became hot or cold. It literally
disappeared.”
56

3%

“In the past 5 months since end of September
cycle lanes are virtually empty with a handful
of cycles per hour.”
“Once the current facilities are being used it
would make sense to look at improving the
network”

“Cycling lanes and routes created last are
hardly used and have made the situation on
the roads significantly worse”
“What a waste of money”

Opposition – value
for money

•
•

Proposals are a waste of money.
Money is better spent elsewhere.

55

3%

“…a waste of money to spend it on cycle paths
and segregated routes taking up important
road space that will negatively impact
vehicular traffic flow by slowing it down and
causing congestion.”
“The money would be better spent on tidying
up the town and maintaining roads…”

Page 90

“A better use of budget would be to educate
the general public about where the current
cycle lanes etc”

Appendix C – Maiden Erlegh School in Reading, UTC Reading and Alfred Sutton Primary School – School
Street Traffic Management Plan

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix D – Maiden Erlegh School in Reading, UTC Reading and
Alfred Sutton Primary School – Summary of Consultation Responses
Responses received through informal consultation, held by the Schools. Respondents
were asked “Are you supportive of the proposal to introduce a trial School Street
Scheme in Crescent Road?”
Response
Yes (support proposal)
Maybe
No (oppose proposal)
Analysis of Maybe

General concern
raised
Displacement of traffic
on to neighbouring
roads

Displacement of
parking into
neighbouring roads
Should extend
restriction area
Residents will be
subjected to further
irresponsible and anti
social parents driving
and parking
Will make junctions on
Crescent Road more
dangerous

Number of Respondents
84 (53.5%)
37 (23.6%)
36 (22.9%)
no.

Comment to address concern

17 The closure period is very minimal and is unlikely to have a
major impact on neighbouring roads. In this particular location,
there are a number of alternative routes that can be used
surrounding this proposed School Street, therefore spreading
any potential displacement over a larger area. This initiative is
aimed at encouraging the school community to travel more
sustainably. With this in mind, coupled with a number of
complementary measures (Park and Stride sites, Bikeability,
WOW etc), in theory there should be minimal displacement of
school traffic on neighbouring roads. Parking surveys identified
enough capacity at legitimate 2-hour free parking spaces for
parents/carers who have no choice but to drive.
9 There is legal parking space on a number of neighbouring roads
which can be used for short term parking without a need to
inconvenience residents
7 Increasing the extent of the closure will entail additional
closure points, resulting in more marshals. The schools have
already indicated difficulties with gaining support for potential
marshals.
7 The installation of a School Street and attendant publicity
underlining the health, climate and societal benefits of not
driving children to school and encourages parents to consider
different arrangements to deliver children to school may help to
encourage a more responsible attitude to parking and driving
than has been shown by a minority of parents in the past.
5 All junctions would remain as at present apart from being
unable to enter or exit Crescent Road beyond Bulmershe Road
during the closure periods. Through traffic which makes up the
majority of vehicles on Crescent Road will be unlikely to drive
to this point but divert from the area reducing the amount of
traffic needing to use this junction.

Page 93

Risk of drivers not
adhering to restrictions

Impact of traffic and
safety of pedestrians
at the top of Hamilton
Road, which is
currently used as a
turning circle
School Streets should
be monitored with
cameras
How easy can residents
obtain an exemption

Speeding traffic on
Wokingham Road
The proposed Park &
Stride sites are
unspecified
Is there access for
disabled children being
driven to school?
Access to pick up child
for parental
responsibility difficult

Analysis of No

General concern
raised
Displacement of traffic
on to neighbouring
roads

Displacement of
parking into
neighbouring roads
Residents will be
subjected to further
irresponsible and antisocial parents driving
and parking

3 Trained marshals will be manning any closure point at all times
during the closure period. During the initial phase of any School
Street, PCSO's and parking enforcement officers would have a
presence within the vicinity of the area. The before and after
effects of the experimental scheme will be monitored.
3 The access to the schools at this point is not covered by the
School Street scheme and needs to be addressed separately

2 LA's outside London are currently not permitted to enforce
School Streets with cameras
1 Informal permit style stickers can be issued to residents, but
access will be controlled by trained marshalls allowing access
for residents during closure periods
1 This road is not included in the School Street scheme
1 Potential park and stride sites have been identified and will be
included in publicity aimed at encouraging parents to consider
alternative arrangements to deliver childern to school.
1 Yes, access is available in the School Street for disabled
children being driven to school.
1 Would need to discuss special arrangements with school.

no.

Comment to address concern

15 The closure period is very minimal and is unlikely to have a
major impact on neighbouring roads. In this particular location,
there are a number of alternative routes that can be used
surrounding this proposed School Street, therefore spreading
any potential displacement over a larger area. This initiative is
aimed at encouraging the school community to travel more
sustainably. With this in mind, coupled with a number of
complementary measures (Park and Stride sites, Bikeability,
WOW etc), in theory there should be minimal displacement of
school traffic on neighbouring roads. Parking surveys identified
a enough capacity at legitimate 2-hour free parking spaces for
parents/carers who have no choice but to drive.
14 There is legal parking space on a number of neighbouring roads
which can be used for short term parking without a need to
inconvenience residents
14 The installation of a School Street and attendant publicity
underlining the health, climate and societal benefits of not
driving children to school and encourages parents to consider
different arrangements to deliver children to school may help to
encourage a more responsible attitude to parking and driving
than has been shown by a minority of parents in the past.

Page 94

Inconvenience to
residents
The problems are a
result of allowing
schools to be
developed and the
schools should take
more responsibility for
sorting the problems.
Should extend
restriction area
Will make junctions on
Crescent Road more
dangerous

Inconvenience to
parents, nowhere to
park to drop off and
pick up, particularly in
wet weather.
No comment
Impact of traffic and
safety of pedestrians
at the top of Hamilton
Road, which is
currently used as a
turning circle
School Streets should
be monitored with
cameras
How do residents get in
and out of house
Speeding traffic on
Wokingham Road
Make Crescent Road
one way
Increase in pollution
due to forcing drivers
to take longer routes
Persecutes motorists

Will encourage
aggressive cyclists to
speed through the
School Street

6 The time of the School Street closure will be limited, and the
area affected also limited. Residents will be able to access
properties on the affected section of Crescent Road.
6 Schools have been provided in response to the needs of the
residents of Reading and can only be located in a limited
number of places due to the high density of development in the
town. Schools do not have powers to control or manage traffic
on the highway or dictate parking restrictions. The schools will
manage the School Street closure on a daily basis by using
properly trained marshalls in accordance with School Street
legislation.
5 Increasing the extent of the closure will entail additional
closure points, resulting in more marshals. The schools have
already indicated difficulties with gaining support for potential
marshals.
4 All junctions would remain as at present apart from being
unable to enter or exit Crescent Road beyond Bulmershe Road
during the closure periods. Through traffic which makes up the
majority of vehicles on Crescent Road will be unlikely to drive
to this point but divert from the area reducing the amount of
traffic needing to use this junction.
4 The School Street scheme prioritises the health and safety of
schoolchildren and the benefits of such do require compromises
from parents who will need to park elsewhere such as a park
and stride location. Schoolchildren will still be healthier and
safer being able to walk in the School Street regardless of west
weather.
3
2 The access to the schools at this point is not covered by the
School Street scheme and needs to be addressed separately

1 LA's outside London are currently not permitted to enforce
School Streets with cameras
1 Informal permits style stickers can be issued to residents but
access will be controlled by trained marshalls allowing access
for residents during closure periods
1 This road is not included in the School Street scheme
1 The School Street scheme is considered to be the best way to
ensure safety of schoolchildren outside schools and to
encourage greater take up of active travel to school
1 Through traffic is likely to avoid the are entirely which will not
increase pollution. Any encouragement to more active travel to
schools will tend to decrease pollution through less use of cars.
1 School Streets seek to prioritise the health and safety of
children over unrestricted motor vehicle access to a short
section of the highway for a limited period of time. There are
numerous alternative routes for motorists to use.
1 Trained marshals will be manning any closure point at all times
during the closure period. During the initial phase of any School
Street, PCSO's and parking enforcement officers would have a
presence within the vicinity of the area.

Page 95

increasing danger to
schoolchildren.
Parents need to take
responsibility for
children’s safety get
street wise
Access to school for
child with walking
difficulty

1 Society also needs to take responsibility for the health and
safety of schoolchildren and for the protection of the
environment, ignoring safety issues on roads outside schools is
not compatible with that responsibility.
1 Would need to discuss special arrangements with school.

Page 96

Agenda Item 9
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES
TO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

DATE:

30 JUNE 2021

TITLE:

NATIONAL BUS STRATEGY – NEXT STEPS

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

COUNCILLOR PAGE

SERVICE:

PLANNING, TRANSPORT AND WARDS:
REGULATORY SERVICES

ALL

LEAD
OFFICER:

CHRIS MADDOCKS /
STEPHEN WISE

TEL:

0118 937 4950 /
0118 937 3735

JOB TITLE:

STRATEGIC TRANSPORT
MANAGER / SENIOR
TRANSPORT PLANNER

E-MAIL:

PORTFOLIO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT,
PLANNING & TRANSPORT

chris.maddocks@reading,gov.uk
stephen.wise@reading.gov.uk

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

The purpose of this report is to set out the Council’s proposed next steps
following publication of the National Bus Strategy ‘Bus Back Better’ by Central
Government in March 2021 (the Strategy), and the subsequent guidance for
Local Authorities and bus operators published in May 2021. The Strategy
includes the requirement for Local Transport Authorities to prepare of a Bus
Service Improvement Plan in their area, and to establish Enhanced Partnership
arrangements with local bus operators.

1.2

Appendix A – National Bus Strategy – Reading Buses Case Study

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

That the Committee notes the opportunities and requirements resulting
from the National Bus Strategy.

2.2

That the Committee authorises officers to prepare a Bus Service
Improvement Plan for Reading, and to establish Enhanced Partnership
arrangements with local bus operators, in line with the requirements and
timetable as set out within the National Bus Strategy.

2.3

That the Committee approves publication on the Council’s website of the
‘Notice of Intent to Prepare an Enhanced Partnership Plan and Schemes’ as
set out at para 4.7 of this report.

Page 97

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

The Strategy ‘Bus Back Better’ was published on 15th March 2021 as part of a £3
billion funding package aimed at building back Britain’s bus services. The
Strategy sets out how the Government intends to deliver on its commitment to
achieve ambitious and far-reaching reform of the bus services sector, including:
how bus services are planned and delivered through the introduction of new
zero emission buses; simpler fares; improved routes; and higher frequencies.

3.2

Key elements and objectives in the Strategy include:
•

More frequent ‘turn up and go’ services on key corridors being such that
reference to a timetable is not needed.

•

Cheaper fares, daily capped fares and local ‘all operator’ fares that lower
the cost of bus use and increase interchange options with other public
transport services.

•

Support for economically as well as socially necessary services, e.g.
connecting areas of inequality to employment, education and training.

•

Hundreds of miles of more bus lanes which need to be operational 24
hours a day to improve bus journey times and reliability.

•

Extensions to bus rapid transit schemes to deliver light rail style service
improvements at a fraction of the cost.

•

Bus gates to exclude other traffic if insufficient space is available, and a
presumption against on street non-residential parking on bus corridors.

•

4,000 new zero emission (battery electric or hydrogen powered) buses to
improve air quality and reduce carbon emissions, with changes to the Bus
Service Operators Grant (BSOG) scheme to reward mileage operated by
zero emission vehicles.

3.3

A core focus of the Strategy is the need for greater cooperation between bus
operators and Local Transport Authorities (LTAs). In order to achieve this
improved partnership working, the Strategy requires LTAs to produce a Bus
Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) for their area, and to either establish Enhanced
Partnerships with local bus operators or to implement a franchise system to
manage the provision of local bus services.

3.4

The Strategy sets out the following timetable for LTAs to adhere to:
•

By the end of June 2021, LTAs will need to commit to establishing
Enhanced Partnerships under the Bus Services Act 2017 or, in the
alternative, begin the statutory process of franchising their bus services.
Bus operators in such areas are required to co-operate with the LTAs in
this process.

•

By the end of October 2021, each LTA will need to publish a local Bus
Service Improvement Plan (BSIP). Each BSIP will need to be updated
annually and the contents reflected in the local authority’s Local

Page 98

Transport Plan and other relevant local plans such as the Local Cycling
and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs).
•

From April 2022, in order to access the new discretionary streams of bus
funding, LTAs will need to have in place an Enhanced Partnership or have
commenced the statutory process to decide whether to implement a
franchising scheme. Only those bus services operating under either an
Enhanced Partnership or through a franchising scheme will be eligible to
receive the new funding streams from the government.

3.5

Reading is highlighted as an example of best practice in the Strategy (included
as Appendix A of this report) due to high levels of bus patronage and existing
partnership working between the Council and Reading Buses. However, the
Strategy is set in the context of reduced patronage levels as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic, and it is made clear that only LTAs and bus operators who
comply with the BSIP and the new partnership arrangements will be eligible for
both continued support from the Covid Bus Service Support Grant (CBSSG) and
any new opportunities from the £3 billion transformational funding. A key
overarching objective of the Strategy is to create the conditions needed for bus
patronage to not only return to the pre-pandemic levels, but to ultimately grow
beyond these levels.

4.

THE PROPOSAL

4.1

In line with the requirements as set out in Strategy, it is proposed that
officers commence work on the development of a BSIP and begin engagement
with local bus operators to establish Enhanced Partnerships arrangements. The
DfT has provided the Council with £100k to support the development of its BSIP
and local partnership arrangements.

4.2

The BSIP is required to cover the full borough area and all local bus services
operating within it. A number of key elements will need to be contained within
the BSIP, including:
•

Set out how the BSIP will achieve the objectives of the Strategy locally
to grow bus use, with a detailed plan for delivery.

•

Consider the strengths, weaknesses and requirements across the whole
local bus network, including the differing needs of any parts of that area
(e.g. urban and more rural elements).

•

Set out a coordinated and coherent target network, including Bus Rapid
Transport networks for key high-density corridors.

•

Focus on delivering the bus network that LTAs (in consultation with
operators) want to see, including how to address the under provision and
overprovision of existing bus services.

•

Set out ambitions for coordinated scheduling to support bus-to-bus and
multi-modal interchange, including integration with other forms of public
transport.

Page 99

•

Consider demand responsive transport, especially in more rural areas or
to support shift work, industrial estates and other locations not easily
accessed on scheduled services.

•

Identify locations where bus priority measures are needed (bus lanes,
traffic management, or – more ambitiously – Bus Rapid Transport
networks) with plans to put these in place.

•

State the benefits expected from new buses for air quality and
decarbonisation, with actions to decarbonise the existing bus fleet.

•

Include targets for journey time and reliability improvements, patronage
growth and passenger satisfaction.

•

Establish a bus passenger charter with rights and redress.

4.3

The BSIP will be developed in collaboration with all local bus operators and
community transport providers in Reading. It will be important to ensure that
the BSIP reflects the existing business plans of local bus operators including
Reading Transport Limited (RTL), and identifies opportunities to maximise
benefits such as reducing journey times and therefore achieving operational
efficiencies through the introduction of bus priority measures.

4.4

The initial BSIP document is required to be published by the end of October
2021, and thereafter be updated annually and reflected in the local authority’s
Local Transport Plan. It is made clear in the Strategy that the quality of the
BSIP will be a key factor in determining future funding awards from the £3
billion transformation funding to be made available nationally.

4.5

In addition to the preparation of the improvement plan, it is proposed that
officers instigate the establishment of Enhanced Partnerships with all operators
in the borough. Due to the nature of the local bus market being heavily
dominated by services provided by RTL, it is not considered necessary to pursue
a franchise system at the current time which would be a resource intensive
process to establish and maintain.

4.6

Establishing closer partnership arrangements with all local bus operators will
provide an opportunity for the Council to have a greater influence over
coordination of services, for instance in Caversham where services are currently
provided by RTL, Arriva and Thames Travel (part of the Go Ahead bus group). It
will also provide the ability to specify, for example, timetables and multioperator ticketing, and could allow the Council to take over the role of
registering bus services from the Traffic Commissioners if this is considered
desirable.

4.7

As stated above, the Council is required to publicly commit to progressing
Enhanced Partnership arrangements, therefore it is proposed that the following
statement is published on the Council’s website which is in line with the Model
Notice of Intent included within the guidance for Local Authorities published by
the DfT:
“Notice of Intent to Prepare an Enhanced Partnership Plan and Schemes
Page 100

At its meeting of the Strategic Environment, Planning and Transport
Committee on 30th June 2021, Reading Borough Council gave approval to
proceed with the development of an Enhanced Partnership. The
commencement of this is confirmed through this notice of the intention to
prepare an Enhanced Partnership Plan and accompanying Enhanced Partnership
Schemes, as required and set out in section 138F of the Transport Act 2000.”
4.8

For both the BSIP and Enhanced Partnership arrangements to be effective a key
consideration will be the provision of cross-boundary services, particularly
within the Reading urban area. Therefore, officers propose to engage with all
neighbouring authorities to identify opportunities to ensure our respective plans
and arrangements are joined-up and consistent, building on our existing close
partnership working arrangements.

4.9

Overall, the Strategy and associated future funding opportunities present a
significant opportunity for both the Council and RTL to deliver a thriving public
transport network in the town, which had the second highest bus use per head
of population in England (outside of London) prior to the pandemic. This would
support the post-pandemic economic recovery, help to achieve overarching
objectives relating to air quality and Climate Change, and reduce inequalities
in Reading by providing affordable access to education, training and
employment.

5.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

5.1

The proposals as set out within this report will help to deliver the following
service priorities in the Council’s Corporate Plan:
• Healthy Environment
• Thriving Communities
• Inclusive Economy

6.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

6.1

Transport is the biggest greenhouse gas emitting sector in the UK accounting
for around 27% of total carbon emissions. As set out in the Reading Climate
Emergency Strategy, this figure is lower in Reading with transport accounting
for around 20% of carbon emissions. However, significant investment in
sustainable transport solutions is vital in order to respond to the Climate
Emergency declared by the Council in February 2019 and to help achieve our
target of a carbon neutral Reading by 2030. Reading Climate Change
Partnership’s Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25 and the new RBC
corporate Carbon Plan 2020-25 were both adopted in November 2020.

6.2

Our transport strategy is focused on encouraging the use of sustainable
transport, walking and cycling as attractive alternatives to the private car. This
includes managing congestion and improving air quality by providing a more
efficient network and suitable alternatives for vehicular traffic, which will
enable existing highway capacity to be reallocated for the use of sustainable

Page 101

modes. The delivery of the BSIP and Enhanced Partnership arrangements as set
out within this report form part of this overall strategy, which has achieved
considerable success in recent years including bus usage in Reading being the
third highest in the country outside of London, having increased by 23% since
2010, and around 35% of trips into Reading town centre being made by
pedestrians and cyclists.
7.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION

7.1

As set out within the report, the Bus Service Improvement Plan will be
developed in collaboration with all local bus operators and community transport
providers in Reading.

8.

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1

An Equalities Impact Assessment will be undertaken at the appropriate time to
ensure the proposals set out within the Bus Service Improvement Plan provide
improved access, services and facilities for local residents.

9.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

It is proposed that the Council establishes Enhanced Partnership arrangements
with all local bus operators serving Reading Borough, which is a statutory
arrangement termed ‘enhanced partnership arrangements’ under the 2017 Bus
Services Act.

9.2

It is envisaged that an element of internal legal support will be required to assist
with the preparation of documentation required to formalise the Enhanced
Partnership arrangements with each bus operator, alongside legal resource
provided by the bus operators themselves.

10.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The Department for Transport has provided the Council with £100k grant
funding to assist with the development of the Bus Service Improvement Plan
and establishing Enhanced Partnerships with local operators.

10.2

It is made clear in the National Bus Strategy that only Local Transport
Authorities and bus operators who comply with the Bus Service Improvement
Plan and new partnership arrangements will be eligible for both continued
support from the Covid Bus Service Support Grant (CBSSG) and any opportunities
from the £3 billion transformational funding.

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1

Further details regarding the National Bus Strategy are available here –
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bus-back-better

Page 102

APPENDIX A – NATIONAL BUS STRATEGY - READING BUSES CASE STUDY

Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES
TO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

DATE:

30 JUNE 2021

TITLE:

LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN – NEXT STEPS

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

COUNCILLOR PAGE

SERVICE:

PLANNING, TRANSPORT AND WARDS:
REGULATORY SERVICES

ALL

LEAD
OFFICER:

CHRIS MADDOCKS

TEL:

0118 937 4950

JOB TITLE:

STRATEGIC TRANSPORT
MANAGER

E-MAIL:

chris.maddocks@reading,gov.uk

PORTFOLIO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT,
PLANNING & TRANSPORT

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the proposed next
steps for progression of the Council’s next Local Transport Plan (LTP), the
Reading Transport Strategy 2036, following the statutory consultation which was
undertaken last year.

1.2

The recommendations in this report are made in the context of the continuing
uncertainty regarding travel patterns in the ‘new normal’, the need to focus
limited resources on the economic recovery from the current pandemic and the
significant opportunities recently announced by Government to secure
investment to deliver sustainable transport alternatives to the private car.

1.3

Annex A: Strategic Transport Service Area Priorities (June – November 2021)

2

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That the Committee notes the contents of this report and agrees to the
recommendation to focus on existing priorities as set out in Annex A in
2021/22, including the development of detailed Local Transport Plan substrategies to put the Council in the best position to secure external funding
for sustainable transport schemes and initiatives.

2.2

To pause further work on the draft Local Transport Plan pending the
establishment of new baseline information in 2022/23 with a view to building
an evidence base to bid for any new funding streams which will deliver
sustainable, inclusive traffic demand management solutions across the town.

Page 105

3.

POLICY CONTEXT

3.1

It is a statutory duty for all Local Transport Authorities to produce and keep
under review a Local Transport Plan (LTP) under the Transport Act 2000, as
amended by the Local Transport Act 2008. Reading’s existing LTP for the period
2011-26 was adopted by Council in March 2011, setting out our overarching
strategy for transport provision in Reading to 2026.

3.2

A new draft LTP (the Reading Transport Strategy 2036) has been developed based
on feedback received from the initial visioning consultation which was
undertaken between July to September 2019, and the statutory consultation
which was undertaken between May to August 2020. The initial consultation
demonstrated strong support for the key principles, vision and objectives to
underpin development of the strategy, whilst the statutory consultation
provided valuable feedback on the detailed policies, schemes and initiatives set
out within the strategy. One key element of feedback received from the
statutory consultation was the differing views on expectations for changes to
travel behaviours in the ‘new normal’, demonstrating considerable uncertainty
in this area at the current time.

3.3

Whilst the LTP sets the context and overarching vision for future transport
provision in Reading, sub-strategies provide more detailed implementation plans
for specific topics. These form the basis for preparing funding proposals to
deliver key elements of each sub-strategy, including the recently produced Local
Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan. Further sub-strategies which are currently
being developed including a Public Rights of Way Improvement Plan, Electric
vehicles Strategy and the recently announced Bus Service Improvement Plan.

4.

BACKGROUND

4.1

The draft version of the Reading Transport Strategy 2036 sets out a 15-year vision
to transform transport provision in Reading in line with the key principles of the
‘healthy streets’ and ‘liveable neighbourhoods’ concepts. The core objectives of
the strategy, which were heavily supported by both the initial visioning and
subsequent statutory consultations, are:
•
•
•
•
•

4.2

Creating a Clean and Green Reading
Supporting Healthy Lifestyles
Enabling Sustainable and Inclusive Growth
Connecting People and Places
Embracing Smart Solutions

As part of the development the draft Reading Transport Strategy 2036, initial
work to investigate the feasibility of demand management measures (such as a
Clean Air Zone, Road User Charging or a Workplace Parking Levy) was undertaken
to compliment the provision of enhanced sustainable travel options as set out
within the strategy. This work included undertaking parking surveys of businesses
within Reading to consider options regarding a Workplace Parking Levy, and
initial business case work to investigate the environmental and economic case
for developing a Clean Air Zone.

Page 106

4.3

The initial findings from this work demonstrated limited financial and
environmental benefits resulting from implementation of a demand management
scheme at this time. The environmental case for a CAZ identified that the
expected improvements in air quality would be marginal and that only one (of
13) receptors that currently exceeds the Air Quality Standard would improve
sufficiently so that it no longer exceeded the acceptable standard, with 12 still
exceeding the AQS. The report also noted that due to the current CAZ minimum
standard, between 95% and 100% of vehicles would be compliant by 2026/27.

4.4

Subsequently, further high-level analysis has been undertaken to consider
possible demand management options to help address the issue of ‘rat-running’
and through traffic which adds to congestion in Reading, with particular
reference to Caversham Road / IDR and the two crossings over the River Thames.
The recommendations of this report noted that insufficient data was currently
available and therefore it should be revisited once traffic flows and behaviours
have re-baselined in the ‘new normal’.

4.5

The on-going pandemic has had a significant impact on travel demand in
Reading, resulting in current uncertainty regarding longer-term behavioural
changes which may result from the pandemic. In particular, public health
messaging regarding the importance of active travel and the greater flexibility
for office workers to work from home has created a unique opportunity to
improve air quality and promote cycling and walking through the provision of
high-quality routes and facilities. Sustainable transport schemes therefore have
a vital role to play in enabling a ‘green recovery’ through a model of inclusive,
green growth to help create the jobs of the future in environmental technology
and other green industries.

5.

CURRENT PROGRESS

5.1

The Council is at a critical stage in the delivery of a number of significant
sustainable transport schemes which will deliver substantial air quality and
Climate Change benefits to Reading. This includes major public transport
investments (Green Park Station, Reading West Station Upgrade and South
Reading MRT) and active travel schemes (National Cycle Network Route 422,
Active Travel Fund Tranche 2, Capability Fund – subject to Government funding
award, and School Streets). The main focus of all of these schemes is to provide
high-quality, attractive alternatives to the private car, enabling residents to
make sustainable travel choices with the resultant public health, air quality and
carbon reduction benefits.

5.2

These schemes are included in the overall priorities for the Strategic Transport
service area in 2021/22, as set out at Annex A. These priorities include
development of detailed LTP sub-strategies and take account of work resulting
from recent Government announcements such as the National Bus Strategy. It
should be noted that these priorities are in addition to the on-going business as
usual workload of the service area, and currently unknown work (such as future
funding opportunities) which may arise during this period. The service is
currently at capacity and any new workstreams will either result in pausing
another project or having funding to pay for external support.

Page 107

5.3

In addition to recent external funding awarded to the Council for walking and
cycling schemes and initiatives, it is envisaged that future opportunities will be
predicated on the Council demonstrating strong ambition through an updated
Local Cycling Walking Improvement Plan (LCWIP) (in line with the latest
Government cycling guidelines) and the recently announced Bus Service
Improvement Plan and Enhanced Partnership arrangements with local operators.
These are therefore vital pieces of work to ensure we are best placed to take
advantage of future opportunities.

5.4

In light of the information set out above, the following options have been
considered regarding the next steps for the LTP:
•

Option A – Update the draft LTP in 2021/22 for adoption to reflect what we
currently know in relation to the ‘new normal’ priorities and emerging travel
patterns. Whilst this option would result in the new LTP being finalised,
there are a number of risks in relation to the adoption of a plan at a time of
great uncertainty around for example hybrid workplaces, town centre
stability and the use of public transport. This option would also result in
limited Council resources being diverted from delivering current sustainable
transport schemes which will help to assist with the post pandemic economic
recovery to create a more inclusive society, and less resource availability to
focus on upcoming opportunities to secure additional external investment in
Reading for future sustainable schemes and initiatives.

•

Option B – Focus on the priorities as set out in Annex A in 2021/22, including
the development of detailed LTP sub-strategies to put the Council in the
best position to secure external funding for sustainable transport schemes
and initiatives. In addition, explore opportunities to secure external funding
for future schemes and the further development of demand management
measures, alongside monitoring of the ‘new normal’ to inform an update of
the draft LTP to commence later in the year. This will require at least a year
to understand how workplace and shopping patterns have changed and in
the interim, the focus on funded schemes, delivering modal shift and
significant public transport infrastructure improvements. Additionally, the
opportunity to focus limited resources on a new Bus Service Improvement
Plan will put the Council in the best position to secure funding to deliver the
plan for this vital mode of sustainable, inclusive transport provision in
Reading.

Recommendation
5.5

It is recommended that the Committee agrees that Option B is progressed to
enable the current focus of limited resources on the priorities as set out at
Annex A. This would also allow for new demand management options to be
explored alongside development of the LTP, including a review of emerging
lower cost technology which might enable different schemes to be delivered.
This work would be programmed in for 2022/23 and would align with a reestablished, more stable baseline for traffic flow, congestion and air quality
impact.

5.6

This approach would support the post-Covid economic recovery, including the
high streets in the town centre and local centres throughout the borough. It
Page 108

would also align with a key corporate priority to build a more inclusive economy
in Reading through the provision of affordable transport options to enable access
to education, training, employment and leisure opportunities for everyone. This
would also be a key focus of any future demand management work to ensure
social inequalities are not inadvertently impacted by a potential charging
scheme without high-quality, affordable alternatives in place.
5.7

This approach would also align with the recent findings of the National
Infrastructure Commission which found ‘making policy decisions during
continued uncertainty may mean taking a more adaptive approach to longer
term project commitments and investing in new data sources which can help
understand how these changes are unfolding. All these approaches are
preferable to planning on the basis of fixed assumptions about what will happen
based on short term observations. The Commission’s analysis suggests that the
spread of potential outcomes for transport, particularly public transport, is
wider compared to digital, energy, waste and water’.

6.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

6.1

The development and delivery of sustainable transport strategies and schemes
as outlined in this report help to deliver the following service priorities in the
Council’s Corporate Plan 2021/22:
•
•
•

Healthy Environment
Thriving Communities
Inclusive Economy

7.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS

7.1

Transport is the biggest greenhouse gas emitting sector in the UK accounting for
around 27% of total carbon emissions. As set out in our Climate Emergency
Strategy this figure is lower in Reading with transport accounting for around 20%
of carbon emissions, however significant investment in sustainable transport
solutions is vital in order to respond to the Climate Emergency declared by the
Council in February 2019 and to help achieve our target of a carbon neutral
Reading by 2030.

7.2

The proposals set out in this paper respond to this challenge by promoting a
step-change in transport infrastructure and services and a shift towards walking
and cycling as attractive alternatives to private vehicles. This builds on the
considerable success we have achieved in recent years of increasing the number
of walking, cycling and public transport trips into Reading town centre to 80%
and bus usage in Reading being the second highest in the country outside of
London, having increased by 23% since 2010, (both pre-pandemic figures).

7.3

The draft transport strategy has been developed in parallel with the Climate
Change strategy, particularly the transport theme, to ensure consistency
between the two strategies and to ensure the delivery of each strategy supports
the overarching objections of both strategies.

8.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION
Page 109

8.1

Statutory consultation was undertaken as part of the development of the
Council’s current LTP 2011-26.

8.2

In addition, a fundamental element to development of the draft Reading
Transport Strategy 2036 has been engagement and consultation with a wide
range of stakeholders, local interest groups and residents, with the final strategy
being based upon the main themes of feedback received. The overarching vision
and key principles underpinning the strategy were overwhelmingly supported in
the initial consultation, and the statutory consultation built upon these strong
foundations with valuable feedback and suggestions for the final document.

9.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

9.1

Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149 the Council must, in the exercise of its
functions, have due regard to the need to:
•
•
•

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act.
Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.
Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

9.2

An equalities Impact Assessment was undertaken to support development of the
current LTP 2011-26. In addition, an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA), which
incorporates an Equality Impact Assessment, has been undertaken as an integral
part of the development of the Reading Transport Strategy 2036. In addition to
equality, the IIA also considers the health and environmental implications of the
proposed policies, schemes and initiatives contained within the strategy.

9.3

Sub-strategies and future schemes and initiatives as outlined in the draft
strategy will be subject to further Equality Impact Assessments as they are
developed.

10.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The Local Transport Plan is a statutory requirement as set out in the Transport
Act 2000, as amended by the Local Transport Act 2008. The Strategic
Environmental Assessment, Equality Impact Assessment and Health Impact
Assessment, considered in the overarching Integrated Impact Assessment, is also
a statutory requirement.

10.2

The Council is fulfilling its statutory duty with an existing adopted LTP to 2026
and currently updating LTP sub-strategies including the Local Cycling & Walking
Infrastructure Plan, Public Rights of Way Improvement Plan, Electric Vehicles
Strategy and the recently announced Bus Service Improvement Plan.

11.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

11.1

There are no direct financial implications resulting from this report. The
development of the draft transport strategy has been funded by existing
transport revenue budgets to date.
Page 110

11.2

The development and delivery of schemes set out in the draft strategy will be
subject to future funding being identified and/or secured, such as grants issued
by Central Government, Thames Valley Berkshire LEP and private sector
contributions secured through the planning process.

12.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

12.1

Local Transport Plan 3: Strategy 2011-2026, Council, 29 March 2011

12.2

New Local Transport Plan & Borough-Wide Car Parking and Air Quality Strategy,
Policy Committee, 16 July 2018

12.3

Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan – Draft for Consultation, Strategic
Environment, Planning & Transport Committee, 20 November 2019

12.4

Rights of Way Improvement Plan – Update Report, Traffic Management SubCommittee, 9 January 2020

12.5

Reading Transport Strategy 2036 – Draft for Statutory Consultation, Strategic
Environment, Planning & Transport Committee, 16 March 2020

Page 111

ANNEX A – STRATEGIC TRANSPORT SERVICE AREA PRIORITIES (JUNE – OCTOBER 2021)
Draft Reading Transport Strategy 2036 - Objectives

2021/22
Priority Project
Milestones
Quarter
Q1
Active Travel –
Tranche 2

Q1

Active Travel
Capability Fund –
Subject to Gov
funding decision

Q1

School Streets

Q1

Enhanced
Partnerships with
Bus Operators

Q1

Zero Emission Bus
Fund - Subject to

Next Key Milestone
Analyse consultation
responses and Committee
approval to proceed with
detailed design – June
2021
Committee approval and
programme delivery
(including the town
centre cycle hub) – June
2021
Finalise arrangements for
Wilson and Thameside
schemes, Committee
decision on Crescent Road
- June 2021
Publish confirmation of
the Council’s intention to
establish Enhanced
Partnership arrangements
– June 2021
Preparation of initial
Expression of Interest (in
Page 112

Resources –
Internal /
External
Both

Both

Both

Both

Both

LTP 4
Objectives

internal approval
to proceed
NCN Route 422

partnership with RTL) –
June 2021
Finalise land purchase
and complete
construction works –
August 2021

Q2

South Reading
MRT - Phases 3 &
4

Ongoing management of
contractor and scheme
completion – August 2021

Both

Q2

Reading West
Station Upgrade

Start construction works,
finalise land transfer and
funding agreements with
NR/GWR – Summer 2021

Both

Q2

Rights of Way
Improvement Plan

Undertake initial
consultation to inform
plan update – Summer
2021

Internal

Q2

Electric Vehicle
Strategy

Develop draft strategy for
internal review – Summer
2021

Both

Q2

Transport
Consultancy Term
Contract

Internal

Q2

Travel Demand
Management –
Covid Grant

Preparation of
specification for
procurement – Summer
2021
Programme delivery and
grant funding claims September 2021

Q2

Concessionary
Travel Scheme
(in-year saving)

Six monthly review with
operators - September
2021

Internal

Q3

Bus Service
Improvement Plan

Prepare draft plan for
publication – October
2021

Both

Q3

Local Walking &
Cycling
Implementation
Plan

Update based on
consultation responses
and Gear Change strategy
requirements – Autumn
2021

Both

Q2

Page 113

Internal

Both

Q3

Sustainable Modes
of Travel to
School Plan

Review and update plan
in light of recent
developments - Autumn
2021

Internal

Q3

Welcome Back /
High Streets Fund

Internal

Q3

Enhanced
Partnerships with
Bus Operators

Coordination of grant
funding claims and review
of social distancing
measures – Autumn 2021
Commence negotiation
with operators to develop
partnership arrangements
–Autumn 2021

Q3

Community
Transport
Contract (Dial-aRide and Adult
Social Care)
Local Transport
Plan

Develop strategy for new
procurement of service
(to be agreed with ASC) –
Autumn 2021

Internal

Commence update to
draft LTP document –
April 2022

Both

Q3

Green Park
Station

Ongoing management of
contractor and scheme
completion and handover
to NR/GWR – Winter 2021

Both

Q3

Electric Vehicle
Charging Points

Development of initial
programme of new charge
points – Winter 2021

Internal

Q3

Page 114

Both

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL

Agenda Item 11

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES
TO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

DATE:

30 JUNE 2021

TITLE:

MAJOR TRANSPORT SCHEMES UPDATE

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

PORTFOLIO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT,
PLANNING AND TRANSPORT

COUNCILLOR
PAGE

SERVICE:

PLANNING,
TRANSPORT AND
REGULATORY
SERVICES

WARDS:

BOROUGHWIDE

LEAD
OFFICER:

CHRIS MADDOCKS
/ JAMES TURNER

TEL:

0118 937 4950 /
0118 937 2451

JOB TITLE:

STRATEGIC
TRANSPORT
MANAGER /
TRANSPORT
PLANNER

E-MAIL:

chris.maddocks@reading.gov.uk
james.turner@reading.gov.uk

1.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

This report provides an update on the progress with delivery of the current
programme of Major Transport Schemes in Reading, as listed below:
 Reading Station Interchanges
 South Reading Mass Rapid Transit
 Thames Valley Park, Park & Ride
 Reading Green Park Station
 Reading West Station Upgrade
 National Cycle Network Route 422

1.2

The report also provides an update on the development of future transport
schemes and funding opportunities.

1.3

Appendix A – Reading West Station Upgrade – Station Building Footprint

2.

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That the Committee notes the progress made on the delivery of the current
programme of major transport schemes as outlined in this report.

2.2

That delegated authority is given to the Executive Director of Economic
Growth & Neighbourhood Services, in consultation with the Lead Councillor
for Strategic Environment, Planning and Transport, the Assistant Director of

Page 115

Legal & Democratic Services and the Director of Finance, to enter into a
Funding Agreement with Great Western Railway (GWR) for the delivery of
the Reading West Railway Station Upgrade scheme.
2.3

That delegated authority is given to the Executive Director of Economic
Growth & Neighbourhood Services, in consultation with the Lead Councillor
for Strategic Environment, Planning and Transport, the Assistant Director of
Legal & Democratic Services and the Director of Finance, in liaison with
Network Rail to transfer to Network Rail any Council land identified as
required to facilitate the construction of the new Reading West Railway
Station passenger building.

2.4

That Committee note the separate application being undertaken by the
Head of Transportation and Streetcare pursuant to authority delegated to
him under the Council’s Scheme of Officer Delegations for the “stopping up
of the public highway” at Reading West Railway Station under Section 247
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2.5

That Committee notes the progress made with developing future transport
schemes and potential funding opportunities for the Council.

3.

POLICY CONTEXT

3.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan supports the delivery of new transport
infrastructure in order to manage levels of congestion, improve air quality and
reduce carbon emissions, whilst enabling the economic recovery and planned
levels of growth in the borough and wider urban area. The Council’s approved
Capital Programme provides capital funding of over £50m for the projects listed
in this report. Funding is provided from grants received from the Local
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and Central Government, developer contributions
(Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) contributions),
investment from Network Rail and GWR, and Council borrowing.

3.2

The Council’s current Local Transport Plan (LTP) sets out its transport strategy
for Reading up to 2026. Consultation on a new LTP was undertaken from 4th May
to 30th August 2020. The new strategy is being developed to help achieve wider
objectives including the Reading 2050 Vision, the Climate Emergency and
improved air quality, and to be aligned with other Council strategies including
the new Local Plan and Health & Wellbeing Strategy. However, given the impact
of the current pandemic and potential for significant changes in travel patterns
which will require at least a year to understand, further monitoring is currently
being undertaken to understand these changes to ensure the new LTP is
updated with the latest information before being finalised, as set out in a
separate report to this Committee.

3.3

Whilst the LTP sets the context and overarching vision for future transport
provision in Reading, sub-strategies provide more detailed implementation
plans for specific topics. These form the basis for preparing funding proposals
to deliver key elements of each sub-strategy, including the recently produced
Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan. Further sub-strategies which are
currently being developed including a Public Rights of Way Improvement Plan,

Page 116

Electric Vehicles Strategy and the recently announced Bus Service Improvement
Plan.
4.

THE PROPOSAL
Major Transport Schemes - Current Programme
Reading Station Interchanges

4.1

Following completion of the Network Rail led £850m redevelopment of Reading
Station, further improvements are being made to the multi-modal interchanges
at the south and north of the station. The Council has secured £36,000 funding
from GWR’s Customer and Communities Improvement Fund for the delivery of
further wayfinding and cycle parking security improvements in this area.

4.2

The scheme also includes the installation of additional CCTV cameras within
the cycle parking hub at the northern interchange, and new high-quality
pedestrian wayfinding units to the north and south of the station. These units
have been designed to complement the soon to be upgraded signage within the
station, and the significant amount of pedestrian signage which has been
installed throughout the town as part of the Abbey Quarter project.

4.3

Installation of the three wayfinding units outside Reading Station was
successfully completed by our in-house Highways team in November last year.
The CCTV cameras for the cycle hub were subsequently installed in May this
year, which are connected to the central CCTV facility overseen by the Council
and Thames Valley Police.
South Reading Mass Rapid Transit (Phases 1-4)

4.4

The overall vision for the South Reading Mass Rapid Transit (MRT) scheme is a
dedicated fast-track public transport priority route on the A33 growth corridor,
between Mereoak Park & Ride and Reading town centre. The current scheme is
a series of bus priority measures which are being delivered in phases as funding
is secured. In future, the scheme has the potential to become a guided-bus,
tram or autonomous shared vehicle system.

4.5

Funding of over £15m has been secured for the scheme from the Local Growth
Fund (LGF) and fettered S106 developer contributions, with phases 1-3 of the
scheme successfully delivered. Phase 4 is currently being constructed on-site,
which includes an outbound bus lane on the A33 between Rose Kiln Lane and
Lindisfarne Way (Kennet Island), and the upgrade of the traffic signals to a
MOVA method of control at the A33 / Bennet Road gyratory. Construction has
been delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic, however works are progressing
well on-site with a planned completion date of August 2021.
Thames Valley Park, Park & Ride

4.6

Thames Valley Park, Park & Ride is a new facility off the A3290 to the east of
Reading, in close proximity to Thames Valley Park business park. The facility
forms a vital part of the Council’s strategy for a comprehensive network of park

Page 117

& ride sites surrounding the urban area, with dedicated priority for fast-track
public transport services linking the P&R sites and Reading town centre.
4.7

Delivery of the scheme is being led by Wokingham Borough Council. The latest
programme from Wokingham is that construction works are now complete and
the facility will become operational as travel demand picks up following the
current downturn as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. The site is currently
being used as a mobile testing facility by the NHS, alongside Mereoak P&R site
which is located south of the M4 Junction11.
Reading Green Park Station

4.8

Reading Green Park Station is a proposed new railway station on the Reading
to Basingstoke line. The station and multi-modal interchange will significantly
improve accessibility and connectivity to this area of south Reading which has
large-scale development proposed including the expansion of Green Park
business park, Green Park Village residential development and the Royal Elm
Park mixed use development.

4.9

The scheme is being progressed in partnership with Network Rail and GWR, who
will ultimately own and operate the station respectively. Funding for the
scheme has been secured from the Local Growth Fund (£9.7m), Section 106
developer contributions (£5.6m) and the New Station’s Fund 2 (£4.8m), with
planning permission granted in 2015.

4.10

Construction of the station and multi-modal interchange has continued on-site
for the duration of the Covid-19 pandemic, however this has resulted in further
delays to the programme and the current timeline indicates construction works
will be complete by late 2021. Once complete, the station will go through a
period of testing before its official opening and public use. The Council is
working with Network Rail and GWR to ensure that the station is open as soon
as possible after construction works are complete.
Reading West Station Upgrade

4.11

A Masterplan for significant enhancements to the station and wider interchange
has been prepared by the Council, in partnership with GWR and Network Rail.
Funding of £3.1m has been secured from the LGF and £200,000 Section 106
developer contributions for the current phases of works which will deliver
enhanced passenger facilities and security improvements in line with the
overall Masterplan vision for the station.

4.12

The proposals for the current phase of works include a new station building on
the Oxford Road with associated highway alterations and interchange
improvements, increased cycle parking, improvements within the station itself
such as enhanced lighting, and a new ticket gateline at the Tilehurst Road
station entrance. The scheme will provide enhanced safety and security at both
entrances and within the station through enhanced CCTV coverage and lighting,
which have been designed with input from the British Transport Police. Detailed
designs for the interchange and highway enhancements of the current phase of
works are complete, and the Council is working with GWR and Network Rail to
progress the station elements of the scheme.

Page 118

4.13

Planning consent for the scheme was granted at the Council’s Planning
Applications Committee in January 2021. Detailed design for the station
elements of the scheme are being progressed in partnership with GWR, and
construction of the enhanced interchange and highway arrangements
commenced on-site in February. In order to facilitate the station building on
the southern side of the Oxford Road on what will be a widened footway this
area of land (outlined in Appendix A) is required to be ‘stopped-up’ from
highway land to form part of the railway as per the conditions of the planning
approval. The Council is continuing to work with Network Rail to identify
existing land boundaries, and to transfer any necessary land within the
“stopped up” area to Network Rail to form part of the station lease area of
GWR.

4.14

Following completion of the highways and interchange works, GWR will take
possession of the southern footway and commence their station build
construction programme. Due to the LEP funding being awarded directly to the
Council, a Funding Agreement will need to be entered into between the Council
and GWR for the station elements of the overall scheme. The final completion
of the overall project is currently projected to be summer 2022.

4.15

The current scheme being delivered by GWR will include passive provision for
accessibility enhancements within the designs, however Network Rail’s
requirement for a full rebuild of the platforms to enable full accessibility
enhancements such as the implementation of lifts means delivery of these
elements is not currently affordable within the funding envelope for the current
scheme. A full platform rebuild is also required to deliver the necessary
minimum widths to enable safe usage of the station for wheelchair users,
passengers with buggies etc. Therefore, the Council will continue to work with
railway partners including Network Rail to seek opportunities to secure funding
for these elements of the overall Masterplan vision for the station.
NCN (National Cycle Network) Route 422

4.16

National Cycle Network (NCN) Route 422 is a new cross-Berkshire cycle route
between Newbury and Ascot. The route will provide an enhanced east-west
cycle facility through Reading, linking to existing cycle routes to the north and
south of the Borough, as well as the continuation of the NCN route to the west
into West Berkshire and the east into Wokingham and beyond.

4.17

The final significant element of the scheme included widening the footway and
associated improvements on Bath Road between the junctions with New Lane
Hill and Greenwood Road, to create a shared facility for cyclists and
pedestrians. These works were delayed by the presence of a poorly maintained,
privately-owned retaining wall at the edge of the footway, however these works
are scheduled to be completed within the next month. The full NCN route will
be officially opened when works in neighbouring authorities have also been
completed and monitoring arrangements will be established with all authorities
in line with the requirements of the grant funding.

Page 119

Major Transport Schemes - Future Funding Opportunities
Thames Valley Berkshire LEP – Future Schemes
4.18

Thames Valley Berkshire LEP, through the Berkshire Local Transport Body
(BLTB), maintains a prioritised pipeline of future schemes across Berkshire to
be in the best possible position to secure funding from future opportunities
from Government. The Council has submitted a proposal to continue works for
the overall South Reading MRT scheme, through phases 5 & 6, which the LEP
has ranked as the joint second highest priority out of the 16 schemes submitted
across Berkshire. The total cost of the phases 5 & 6 scheme is £12m, with the
bid seeking £10m from the LEP and £2m local contribution from the Council, as
included in our existing approved Capital Programme. The proposal also sets
out options to deliver the full MRT scheme if funding is available, or to deliver
sub-sections depending on the level of funding available to the LEP.

4.19

The South Reading MRT scheme is a key element of our wider vision to provide
sustainable travel options in Reading, delivering benefits relating to air quality,
climate change, health & wellbeing and inclusive economic growth. The LEP
has confirmed there will be further opportunities to submit additional bids to
be included in the future pipeline of schemes. Any further schemes would need
to be worked up and may require local contributions from the Council. A
detailed business case would be prepared, and individual schemes considered
on their own merits, alongside other Council proposals which require finite
capital funding.

4.20

In addition, the Council has supported proposals submitted to the BLTB by Great
Western Railway (GWR) for Tilehurst Station Upgrade, a Berkshire wide ‘Smart
City Cluster’ technology project and proposals from Wokingham Borough
Council for sustainable transport infrastructure to support delivery of the
proposed Four Valleys development to the south of the M4.
Third Thames Crossing East of Reading

4.21

A third vehicular and sustainable transport crossing over the River Thames is a
longstanding element of Reading’s transport strategy to improve travel options
in the wider area, and to help relieve traffic congestion in Caversham, Reading,
Sonning and Henley. The Cross Thames Travel Group has been established to
progress the scheme, which is currently led by Wokingham Borough Council in
partnership with Reading Borough Council, South Oxfordshire District Council,
Oxfordshire County Council, Thames Valley Berkshire LEP and Oxfordshire LEP.

4.22

The scheme has been submitted to the DfT by Transport for the South East
(TfSE) for possible funding through the Large Local Major Schemes programme.
TfSE ranked the scheme as the second highest priority scheme of this magnitude
in the South East region. As set out in a separate report to this Committee,
further work is required to understand the travel implications of the ‘new
normal’ resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic to enable the draft Reading
Transport Strategy 2036 to be updated with the latest information. This work
will include a review of all current schemes within the strategy and will feed

Page 120

into future work with neighbouring authorities through the Cross Thames Travel
Group, including liaison with colleagues at the DfT and TfSE.
5.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

5.1

The delivery of the schemes outlined in this report will help to deliver the
following priorities in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2021/22:
 Healthy Environment
 Thriving Communities
 Inclusive Economy

6.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS

6.1

Transport is the biggest greenhouse gas emitting sector in the UK accounting
for around 27% of total carbon emissions. As set out in the Reading Climate
Emergency Strategy, this figure is lower in Reading with transport accounting
for around 20% of carbon emissions. However, significant investment in
sustainable transport solutions is vital in order to respond to the Climate
Emergency declared by the Council in February 2019 and to help achieve our
target of a carbon neutral Reading by 2030. Reading Climate Change
Partnership’s Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25 and the new RBC
corporate Carbon Plan 2020-25 were both adopted in November 2020.

6.2

Our transport strategy is focused on encouraging the use of sustainable
transport, walking and cycling as attractive alternatives to the private car. This
includes managing congestion and improving air quality by providing a more
efficient network and suitable alternatives for vehicular traffic, which will
enable existing highway capacity to be reallocated for the use of sustainable
modes. The delivery of the major transport schemes as set out within this
report form part of this overall strategy, which has achieved considerable
success in recent years including bus usage in Reading being the third highest
in the country outside of London, having increased by 23% since 2010, and
around 35% of trips into Reading town centre being made by pedestrians and
cyclists.

7.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION

7.1

The projects have and will be communicated to the local community through
public exhibitions and Council meetings.

7.2

Statutory consultation will be conducted in accordance with appropriate
legislation. Notices will be advertised in the local printed newspaper and will
be erected on lamp columns within the affected area.

8.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1

Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public
authority must, in the exercise of its functions, l to have due regard to the need
to: eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;

Page 121




advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

8.2

The Council, and where appropriate partner delivery organisations, have
carried out an equality impact assessment scoping exercise on all of the
projects included within the current capital programme.

9.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

It will be necessary for the Council to enter into a funding agreement with GWR
for the Reading West Railway Station Upgrade scheme to ensure GWR’s
compliance with the LEP’s Capital Grant Letter and Conditions dated 18
December 2019, including delivery of the scheme in accordance with the
business case submitted by the Council, to protect the Council in the event of
clawback of funding by the LEP.

9.2

The Council will need to satisfy itself that the funding made available to GWR
for the Reading West Railway upgrade is in compliance with the Subsidy Control
regime.

9.3

The Stopping up process will involve making an application to the Secretary of
State. In exercise of its powers under section 247 Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (“TCPA 1990”), the Secretary of State will carry out the full statutory
consultation and it will make the Stopping up order if satisfied of the legal tests
as contained in 247(1) TCPA 1990 as follows;
“The Secretary of State may by order authorise the stopping up or diversion of
any highway outside Greater London if he is satisfied that it is necessary to do
so in order to enable development to be carried out —
(a) in accordance with planning permission granted under Part III or
section 293A, or
(b) by a government department”.

9.4

As the Highway Authority, the Secretary of State will consult the Council on the
proposals. Where any objection(s) received during the 28 day consultation
period are not withdrawn, the Secretary of State, in accordance with Section
252 TCPA 1990 may hold a local inquiry unless it is satisfied that in the special
circumstances of the case the holding of such an inquiry is unnecessary he may
dispense with the inquiry.

10.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

All relevant schemes under delivery are monitored regularly as part of the
Council’s wider Capital Programme. This sets out the funding sources and
funding profile for each scheme.

10.2

With regards to future schemes, timescales for a decision on funding from
Central Government and the LEP are not currently known, however a minimum

Page 122

20% local contribution from the Council is generally required towards the total
cost of each scheme. The South Reading MRT Phases 5&6 scheme is included in
the Council’s approved Capital Programme with the same levels of funding as
set out in the proposal to the BLTB. The Third Thames Crossing bid submitted
to the DfT by Wokingham BC did not include any commitment to local match
funding for the current phase of works. Reading supported Wokingham’s bid as
part of the work of the Cross Thames Travel Group.
11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1

Major Transport Scheme Update Reports, Strategic Environment, Planning and
Transport Committee from 2015 onwards.

Page 123

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

SALISBURY RD

GOWER ST

DO NOT SCALE

BUS
SHELTER

OXFORD ROAD

OXFORD ROAD

Page 125

File name\\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\70080XXX\70080804 - READING WEST STATION UPGRADE - UTILITIES\03 WIP\DE DEVELOPMENT\03 DRAWINGS\0804-WSP-XX-XX-DR-C-00200.DWG
, printed on13 February 2007 16:08:13
, by Belaj, Silvia

BUS SHELTER

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map
with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office. Licence no.
100048755. Crown copyright reserved.

CLIENT:

Mountbatten House
Basing View
Basingstoke
RG21 4HJ, UK
SJD

T+ 44 (0) 1256 318 800
F+ 44 (0) 1256 318 700
wsp.com

S2 - FOR INFORMATION

READING WEST STATION IMPROVEMENTS,
OXFORD ROAD

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL

CHECKED:

1:250
PROJECT No:

70080804
ARCHITECT:

SJD

SCALE @ A2:

PROJECT:

TITLE:

APPROVED:

SJD
DESIGNED:

SB

SJD

DRAWN:

DATE:

SB

DRAWING No:

PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT

March 21
REV:

0804-WSP-XX-XX-DR-C-00200
c WSP UK Ltd

P01

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES
TO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING & TRANSPORT

DATE:

30th JUNE 2021

TITLE:

BRIDGE MAINTENANCE (WORKS) TERM CONTRACT 2021-2025
CONTRACT AWARD – INFORMATION REPORT

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

COUNCILLOR TONY
PAGE

PORTFOLIO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT,
PLANNING & TRANSPORT

SERVICE:

TRANSPORTATION
AND STREETCARE

WARDS:

BOROUGHWIDE

LEAD OFFICER:
JOB TITLE:

SAM SHEAN
STREETCARE
SERVICES MANAGER

TEL:
E-MAIL:

0118 9372138
sam.shean@reading.gov.uk

AGENDA ITEM:

1.

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

The purpose of the report is to inform the Committee and Councillors of the
outcome of the procurement process for the Bridge Maintenance (Works)
Term Contract 2021-2025.

2.

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That the Committee note the outcome of the Bridge Maintenance (Works)
Term Contract 2021-2025 with a possible 3 year extension.

3.

POLICY CONTEXT

3.1

Policy Committee of 26th September 2019 provided delegated authority to the
Assistant Director of Environmental & Commercial Services in consultation
with the Lead Councillor for Strategic Environment Planning and Transport,
the Assistant Director of Legal & Democratic Services and the Director of
Finance to enter into a contract with the successful tenderer for the Bridge
Maintenance (Works) Term Contract 2020-2024 with a possible 3 year
extension.

3.2

To secure the most effective use of resources in the delivery of high quality,
best value public service.
1 127
Page

3.3
3.4

To ensure that all bridges and highway structures are secure, safe and
comfortable for all users of the public
To provide a public highway network as safe as reasonably practical having
due regard to financial constraints and statutory duties.

4.

THE PROPOSAL

4.1

Reading Borough Council, as Highway Authority, has a duty under the
Highways Act 1980 (Section 41) to maintain public highway at public expense
and (Section 90) protection of Bridges

4.2

The Council is responsible for the maintenance of over 260 bridges and
structures on the public highway. The Council employs a term consultant who
carries out a programme of routine inspections of all the bridges and
structures on their behalf and produces a 5 year rolling programme of
maintenance work.

4.3

Since 2015 all programmed structural maintenance works have been awarded
on a competitive mini tender basis in line with the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015 for works value under £ 100,000.

4.5

All major structural repair works, (for example Reading Bridge Strengthening)
have been separately tendered for in line with the Public Contracts
Regulations. This practice will continue going forward for all large projects,
including the proposed Council Investment of £7M for the IDR Bridge Bearing
Replacement and Structural Strengthening of the Berkeley Avenue Bridges
Project, due to take place during 2022/23 to 2023/24.

4.6

The tender for a new term bridge maintenance contract 2021-2025
commencing in July 2021 is for an initial term of 48 months (4 years) with the
option to extend by a further 36 months (3 years) subject to performance.
Procurement

4.7

The total estimated value of the contract is approximately £2M over the first
4 years (48 months), at the rate of approximately £500k per year and
potentially up to an additional £1.5M should the contract be extended for the
subsequent 3 year duration.

4.8

In accordance with the Public Procurement Rules the opportunity was
published on the 24 December 2020 on the Official Journal of European Union
(OJEU) contract notice number in the OJ S: 2020/S 251-634160. In addition,
in accordance Council Contract Procedure Rules, the opportunity was
advertised on the Council’s electronic tendering portal, as well as via
‘Contracts Finder’.

Page2128

4.9

Four tender responses were received and following the tender evaluation
process Volker Laser Limited have been found to meet the quality (30%) and
price (70%) tender evaluation criteria as follows:



Quality 26.6% out of 30%
Price 68.5% out of 70%

4.10

Volker Laser Limited shall therefore be awarded the Bridge Maintenance
(Works) Term Contact 2021-2025 in accordance with ‘the regulations’ and the
specification.

5.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

5.1

The Bridge Maintenance (Works) Term Contract 2021-2025 will contribute to
the Council’s Corporate Plan 2019 – 2022 objectives of:

•
•
•

Securing the economic success of Reading
Keeping Reading’s environment clean, green and safe
Ensuring the Council is fit for the future

6.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION

6.1

The approved Bridge Term (Works) Contract 2021 – 2025 Committee report
will be released into the public domain in the lead up to the Committee
meeting.

7.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, the Council must, in the exercise
of its functions, have due regard to the need to:


Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act.



Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.



Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

7.2

The Council has reviewed the scope of the service as outlined within this
report and considers that the proposals have an equal impact on all members
of the general public.

7.3

There is no overall change to service delivery at this time. Should any future
updates/amendments be required, which result in service delivery changes,
an equality impact assessment will be carried out.

3 129
Page

8.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1

It will be necessary to enter into a contract with the successful tenderer.

8.2

The tender process is being undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Contract
Procedure Rules and the principles of the Open Process as defined by the
Public Contract Regulations 2015 (“the Regulations”). It is intended to enter
into a contract based upon the most economically advantageous tender.

8.3

Reading Borough Council, as Highway Authority, has a duty under the
Highways Act 1980 (Section 41) to maintain public highway at public expense
and (Section 90) protection of Bridges.

9.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The costs of the contract of up to £3.5m proposed in this paper will be met
from existing budgets.

9.2

The cost of the Bridge Maintenance (Works) Term Contract 2021-2025 will be
met from the Transport and Streetcare Local Transport Plan Annual Capital
Award for Bridges & Carriageways & the existing Bridge Maintenance Revenue
Budget.

9.3

The annual Highway Bridge Maintenance Revenue spend for 2021/22 financial
year is approximately £100,000 and the proposed 4 year contract assumes a
similar budget will be agreed per annum for 2022/23 to 2024/25.

9.4

The annual Highway Bridge Maintenance Capital spend for 2021/22 financial
year is approximately £400,000 and the proposed 4 year contract assumes a
similar budget will be agreed per annum for 2022/23 to 2024/25.

9.5

Budgets identified are not currently uplifted annually and may be impacted
by contract inflation in future years as this forms part of the contract
agreement.

9.6

The proposed Council Investment of £7m for the IDR Bridge Bearing
Replacement and Structural Strengthening of the Berkeley Avenue Bridges
Project is included in the Capital Programme approved by Council in February
2021, and will be funded by capital borrowing. The Council continues to
actively seeks alternate sources of income from the Department of Transport
and will bid for capital funding as and when the opportunity arrives.

10.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The Council declared a climate emergency at its meeting in February 2019
and as such recognises the need to minimise the climate impacts of its
decisions. To this end, Council on 15th October 2019 formally adopted of the
‘Unite Construction Charter’ where the Authority supports the ‘Get Britain
Page4130

Building’ campaign, which is aimed at supporting and sustaining the British
construction industry. All relevant construction contracts will be required to
comply with the Authority’s Sustainable Buying Standard for Highways and
Construction Materials, which requires structural steel and other relevant
materials to be covered by BES 6001 Responsible Sourcing of Construction
Product certification, or equivalent.
10.2

Tenders will be invited to submit Environmental Implications proposals to
assist the Council in delivering the Climate Emergency issued by the Council.

10.3 Tenders will need to include carbon reduction targets and improved
sustainability within tender returns.

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1

Policy Committee Report 26th September 2019; Highway Maintenance (Works)
Term Contract Award Update (delegation to enter contract).

11.2

Unite Construction Charter

5 131
Page

This page is intentionally left blank

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL

Agenda Item 13

REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES
TO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING & TRANSPORT

DATE:

30th JUNE 2021

TITLE:

NATIONAL FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (FRMP) 2021-2027

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

COUNCILLOR PAGE

PORTFOLIO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT,
PLANNING & TRANSPORT

SERVICE:

TRANSPORTATION
AND STREETCARE

WARDS:

BOROUGHWIDE

LEAD OFFICER:
JOB TITLE:

SAM SHEAN
STREETCARE
SERVICES MANAGER

TEL:
E-MAIL:

0118 9372138
sam.shean@reading.gov.uk

1.

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

The purpose of the report is to inform the Committee of the National Flood
Risk Management Plan 2021-2027 (2nd Cycle), which will set the specific flood
reduction measures and priorities for the period 2021 to 2027.

1.2

To update and inform the Committee of Reading Borough Council’s
contribution towards the updated National Flood Risk Management Plan
2021-2027 and to obtain delegated authority to submit the final draft to the
Environment Agency.

1.3

To update and inform the Committee of Reading Borough Council’s
successful Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid Allocation
from the Environment Agency to deliver a flood reduction scheme in Stone
Street Reading and to obtain spend authority.

2.

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That authority is given to the Executive Director for Economic Growth &
Neighbourhood Services, in consultation with the Lead Councillor for
Strategic Environment, Planning and Transport, the Assistant Director of
Legal & Democratic Services and the Director of Finance to agree and
accept Reading Borough Council’s final contribution towards the National
Flood Risk Management Plan 2021 to 2027.

2.2

That the Committee grants spend approval for the Flood and Coastal
Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid Allocation for Stone Street.

Page1 133

2.3

That the Committee gives delegated authority to the Assistant Director of
Environmental & Commercial Services in consultation with the Lead
Councillor for Strategic Environment Planning and Transport, the Assistant
Director of Legal & Democratic Services and the Director of Finance to
enter into relevant contracts required to undertake the proposed Flood
Reduction Programme.

APPENDICES:


Appendix 1: Environment Agency Flood Risk Management Plan Question &
Answer brochure
 Appendix 2: Reading Borough Council Submission National 2nd cycle Flood
Risk Management Plan 2021 to 2027
 Appendix 3: Stone Street Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant
in Aid Allocation (FDGiA) from the Environment Agency
3.

POLICY CONTEXT

3.1

To reduce the risk of flooding within the Borough and public highway to
ensure that we have a secure, safe and sustainable environment.

3.2

To secure the most effective use of resources in the delivery of high quality,
best value public service.

3.3

To provide a public highway network as safe as reasonably practical having
due regard to financial constraints and statutory duties.

3.4

Reading Borough Council’s contribution to the National Flood Risk
Management Plan gives consideration to the existing Local Plan, Local Flood
Risk Management Strategy and Strategic Flood Risk Assessment for the
Borough along with other local policy and guidance.

4.

BACKGROUND

4.1

Reading Borough Council is the Lead Local Flood Authority for Reading, as
designated under the Flood & Water Management Act 2010. This places the
responsibility on Reading Borough Council to lead in managing local flood
risks from surface water, groundwater and ordinary (smaller) watercourses.
It also requires us to meet the requirements of the National Flood & Coastal
Erosion Risk Management Strategy, as developed and led by the Environment
Agency.

4.2

It is recognised that there are three main watercourses running through
Reading including the River Thames, the Kennet and the Holy Brook, all of
which fall within the Environment Agency responsibility, but which pose a
severe flood risk to Reading during extreme flood conditions.

Page2134

4.3

To fulfil our flood risk management duties the Council has been working in
partnership with the Environment Agency to develop the 2nd cycle Flood Risk
Management Plan 2021 to 2027. The updated Plan is a requirement of the
Flood Risk Regulations (2009).

4.4

The first phase of the Flood Risk Management Plan covered years 2015 to
2021. The Plan is now being updated and Reading Borough Council have been
asked to submit measures that address local flood risk which will be included
within the new National Flood Risk Management Plan covering 2021 to 2027.

4.5

The Environment Agency have provided a Flood Risk Management Plan
Question & Answer brochure detailing the scheme, attached as Appendix 1.
THE PROPOSAL

4.6

The Council has been working in partnership with the Environment Agency to
develop Reading’s submission to include within the National 2nd cycle Flood
Risk Management Plan 2021 to 2027, see attached at Appendix 2.

4.7

Reading Borough Council has been actively reducing the risk of flooding in
Reading since the extreme rainfall flood event of July 2007 with successful
schemes delivered including the following:







Kingsley Close / Vernon Crescent underground surface water holding tank
Harness Close Flood Alleviation overflow system
Stockton Road / The Cowsey holding pond installation
Lousehill Copse / Tay Road holding pond enhancement works
Numerous minor works including ordinary watercourse reprofiling and
installation of features to divert excess flood water.
Property Level Protection measures in Kingsley Close and Circuit Lane

4.8

The Council has successfully Secured £150k Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk
Management Grant in Aid Allocation (FDGiA) from the Environment Agency to
deliver a flood reduction scheme in Stone Street Reading, (Appendix 3
refers). The Stone Street scheme will alleviate and reduce flood risk during
extreme rainfall events by providing an overflow and surcharge facility in the
wide verge area adjacent to Portman Road through the use of swales and
shallow ponds to store water and improve biodiversity.

4.9

The Council will continue to explore options to further reduce the risk of
flooding in Reading taking into consideration climate change and continue to
seek funding opportunities and bring appropriate schemes forward.

5.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

5.1

The National Flood Risk Management Plan 2021-2027 will contribute to the
Council’s Corporate Plan 2019 – 2022 objectives of:

•
•

Securing the economic success of Reading
Keeping Reading’s environment clean, green and safe
3 135
Page

•

Ensuring the Council is fit for the future

6.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION

6.1

The approved National Flood Risk Management Plan 2021-2027 and the
Council’s Committee report will be released into the public domain in the
lead up to the Committee meeting and outcomes published.

6.2

Public consultation on the National Flood Risk Management Plan 2021-2027
and publication of the plan will be managed by the Environment Agency on
our behalf.

7.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, the Council must, in the exercise
of its functions, have due regard to the need to:


Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act.



Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.



Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

7.2

The Council has reviewed the scope of the service as outlined within this
report and considers that the proposals have an equal impact on all members
of the general public.

7.3

There is no overall change to service delivery at this time. Should any future
updates/amendments be required, which result in service delivery changes,
an equality impact assessment will be carried out.

8.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1

Reading Borough Council, as Highway Authority, has a duty under the
Highways Act 1980 (Section 41) to maintain public highway at public
expense.

8.2

Reading Borough Council, as Lead Local Flood Authority and Highway
Authority, has a duty under the Flood & Water Management Act 2010 to
manage and reduce the risk of flooding.

9.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The cost of producing Reading Borough Council’s submission to the National
Flood Risk Management Plan 2021-2027 will be met from the existing
Streetcare Revenue Surface Water Management Budget.

9.2

The cost of the Stone Street Flood Alleviation scheme will be covered by the
Environment Agency Flood Grant in Aid allocation, as well a contribution of
Page4136

up to £50k from the existing Streetcare Revenue Surface Water Management
budget in line with Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).
9.2

The Council will continue to actively seek appropriate external funding
opportunities for any schemes identified by the National Flood Risk
Management Plan 2021-2027 that helps reduce the flood risk to Reading.

10.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The Council declared a climate emergency at its meeting in February 2019
and as such recognises the need to minimise the climate impacts of its
decisions. To this end, Council on 15th October 2019 formally adopted of the
‘Unite Construction Charter’ where the Authority supports the ‘Get Britain
Building’ campaign, which is aimed at supporting and sustaining the British
construction industry. All relevant construction contracts will be required to
comply with the Authority’s Sustainable Buying Standard for Highways and
Construction Materials, which requires structural steel and other relevant
materials to be covered by BES 6001 Responsible Sourcing of Construction
Product certification, or equivalent.

10.2

Tenders for any subsequent contracts that may become necessary will be
invited to submit Environmental Implications proposals.

10.3 Tenders will also need to include carbon reduction targets and improved
sustainability within tender returns.
10.4

The Reading Climate Emergency Strategy, which was endorsed by the Council
in November 2020, highlights the importance of adapting to climate impacts
as well as reducing the emissions which are driving climate change. An
increase in flood risk as a result of wetter winters and/or increased intensity
and frequency of extreme rainfall events is one of the anticipated impacts of
climate change. The recommendations in this report seek to improve
Reading’s resilience to such events by improving the town’s flood risk
management infrastructure.

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
11.1

Strategic Environment Planning & Transport Committee Report 9th July 2013;
Flood & Water Management Act 2010 Lead Local Flood Authority Duties.

11.2

Unite Construction Charter

11.3

Detailed

information

on

Flood

Risk

Management

Plans:

https://www.gov.uk/search/all?keywords=flood+risk+management+plans&order=relevance

refer to ‘Flood Risk Management Plans (FRMPs): Responsibilities and ‘Flood
Risk Management Plans (FRMPs): how to prepare them
5 137
Page

Page6138

Appendix 1

Flood risk management plans
Qs and As for Lead Local Flood Authorities, October 2020
What are flood risk management plans and why do we need
them?
The Flood Risk Regulations 2009 (FRR) transposed the EU Floods Directive into English
and Welsh law and continue to apply now that we have left the European Union. They set
out a process for preparing, reviewing and updating flood risk management plans
(FRMPs) over a six year planning cycle. The planning cycle starts with a preliminary flood
risk assessment and the identification of flood risk areas following ministerial guidance,
followed by flood risk and hazard mapping and finally FRMPs.
The first planning cycle ran from 2009-2015, with our first FRMPs published in England in
2016 (these contain measures for the period 2015-2021). Our current FRMPs are
published on GOV.UK.
The second cycle of planning runs from 2016-2021. We must review and update revised
FRMPs every six years. Second cycle FRMPs will contain measures for the period 20212027.
The national flood and coastal erosion risk management (FCERM) strategy says:
"Flood risk management plans (under the Flood Risk Regulations 2009) describe current
and future risk of flooding from rivers, the sea, surface water, groundwater and reservoirs,
including specific actions to manage risk. The first cycle of plans for 2015 to 2021 were
developed in partnership with the Environment Agency, lead local flood authorities and
water and sewerage companies. The second cycle of flood risk management plans will
set out specific actions between 2021 and 2027 and encourage authorities to start to take
an adaptive approach to strategic flood risk planning using the 2018 UK climate change
projections".

Who needs to produce flood risk management plans?
The statutory obligation in the FRR requires the Environment Agency and lead local flood
authorities (LLFAs) to prepare FRMPs for the flood risk areas (FRAs) identified in the
preliminary flood risk assessment (PFRA) stage of the planning cycle. For the second
cycle of FRR work there are both FRAs for river and sea flooding and surface water
flooding.
The Environment Agency worked with LLFAs to review first cycle PFRAs and identify
FRAs for the second cycle in 2017/18. LLFA PFRAs are published here. These are
different to the FRAs that were agreed in 2011 for the first cycle and more FRAs were
identified for the second cycle. They are different because they use more up to date
information and the method for defining them and criteria used were different to the first
cycle - you can find out more about that process here.
You can find a map that shows the extent of the final second cycle flood risk areas here.
You can also find the second cycle flood risk and hazard mapping by following the same
link.
customer service line
03706 506 506
floodline
03459 88 11 88
incident hotline

0800 80 70 60Page 139

Page 1 of 4

If a FRA or FRAs for surface water flooding were identified in your 2017 PFRA, then you
have a statutory duty to prepare a FRMP in this second planning cycle.
In 2019, we asked all LLFAs if they would like to work together on the development of joint
FRMPs, like we did for the first cycle. All LLFAs with an FRA have agreed to work with us
and we have not been made aware of any LLFAs that are producing separate FRMPs.
If no FRA or FRAs were identified in your LLFA area in your 2017 PFRA, then there is no
statutory obligation for you to prepare a FRMP in this second planning cycle. However, we
would encourage you still to participate in the preparation of FRMPs in your LLFA area on
a voluntary basis. For example, you may wish to do this to highlight high priority and high
profile work you are doing outside of FRAs.

How are second cycle FRMPs different?
The FRMPs will be more strategic and streamlined than the first cycle plans and the most
detailed measures will be set out for FRAs. We are also developing an accessible online
map based tool (Flood Plan Explorer) to support the public consultation.
We are working closely with teams producing river basin management plans (RBMPs) to
ensure alignment between measures to manage both flood risk and the wider water
environment. You can find out more about updates to RBMPs here. It is also a
requirement to consider improvements to the wider water environment when developing
measures for FRMPs. You can find out more the legal requirements to refer to RBMPs
when developing FRMPs here.
We would like to work with LLFAs, other risk management authorities and catchment
partnerships to identify measures for both FRMPs and RBMPs that deliver multiple
benefits for people, places and nature. For example, these could include measures like
retrofitting sustainable drainage systems and implementing nature based solutions to
manage flood risk.

What do I need to do to review measures from the first cycle
FRMPs?
Where a LLFA had measures in the first cycle FRMP, they are required to review the
FRMP, including a review of progress made in implementing the measures by the 22 June
2021. Your local Environment Agency Partnership and Strategic Overview (PSO) team
lead will be able to provide you with a list of FRMP1 measures if this applies to your LLFA
area. The measure development guidance has a process for reviewing these measures.
You will also need to complete a table showing how the FRMP1 measures have
progressed for the FRMP2 report and we will be providing a template for that shortly.
The list of measures will be the same as the list the Environment Agency ask you to report
on annually as part of monitoring the implementation of the first cycle FRMPs. However,
reviewing if the measures should be transitioned to the second cycle FRMPs is a different
task.
It is the opinion of the ADEPT Task and Finish Group and the Environment Agency that
reviewing the first cycle measures and preparing second cycle FRMPs for public
consultation before 22 June 2021 would constitute a review of the first cycle FRMP.
However we do recommend that LLFAs also satisfy themselves that this meets their own
legal requirements for the review of first cycle FRMP measures. You can find the FRRs
customer service line

03706 506 506

floodline

incident hotline

Page 140
0800 80 70 60

Page 2 of 4

03459 88 11 88

here. If LLFAs have any concerns regarding their legal requirements in this regard then
please provide feedback to your PSO lead by mid-November.

What do I need to do if I have a flood risk area for the second
cycle?
We have produced guidance documents, templates and tools to help LLFAs to provide the
information needed for second cycle FRMPs. These include:
– A template report. We will coordinate the production of a FRMP for each RBD. You can
find a map of the RBDs here. You will need to work closely with your local PSO lead to
provide information to help populate the relevant sections.
– A measure development tool, accompanying measure development guidance and a
training video. You will need to populate Tab 3 of the measure development tool with
your LLFA led measures and return it to your local PSO lead. As a minimum, LLFAs
with a FRA will need to develop local measures using this tool.
To support LLFAs, we have also produced:
– A set of National measures that cover day to day LLFA work. We have worked with the
ADEPT Flood and Water Group to develop these so that you do not need to replicate
these measures in your FRMP. If you have any questions or feedback on these please
contact your local PSO lead.
– A national set of objectives for FRMPs that align with the new national FCERM
strategy. We advise that each FRA has a minimum of at least 1 objective from each of
the five objectives sub-headings associated with it.
All of the above are available from your local PSO lead for FRMPs.
We are also working on:
– A national overview document for FRMPs that covers all RBDs
– An publicly available interactive map based web application called Flood Plan Explorer
that will display the measures. This will be ready for the consultation in 2021 and be
informed by the information collected from the completed measure development tool
returns. We aim to give a demo of Flood Plan Explorer to LLFAs before it goes live.
– Further guidance on how measure information should be provided in GIS format
– A template for each FRMP to show progress on cycle one FRMP measures
– A Strategic Environmental Assessment Environmental Report and where necessary, a
Habitat Regulations Assessment to accompany each FRMP. We will contact you if we
need any specific further information for these
– A communications and engagement plan to support the consultation on the FRMPs
next year. We will provide a further update to LLFAs about this prior to consultation

What is the most recent programme for FRMPs?
The latest national programme for developing FRMPs is below. You should also check
with your local PSO lead for any locally agreed programme dates:
– January 15 2021: measure development freeze date. All measures should be
developed by this date, with local approval as outlined below
customer service line

03706 506 506

floodline

incident hotline

0800 80 70 60Page 141

Page 3 of 4

03459 88 11 88

– End of March 2021: LLFAs should complete relevant sections of the RBD FRMP
templates
– April to June 2021: Environment Agency and LLFA approvals
– Summer 2021: Consultation on draft FRMPs goes live for three months
We will keep you updated of any further developments.

What local authority approval is needed for the consultation on
FRMPs?
Individual LLFA Schedules of Delegation and local democratic arrangements for political
approval and scrutiny processes will vary. We recommend that:
– Now - LLFAs consult internally to see what sign off process will be required and make
the arrangements to facilitate this by the end of June 2021.
– By the mid-Jan 2021 measure development freeze date that there is sign off of the
measures at a level which is equivalent to the Environment Agency's Area Flood and
Coastal Risk Manager (this may be at Flood Risk Manager/ Group Manager/ Assistant
Director level depending on your Schedule of Delegation)
– Between April and June 2021 (before documents are finalised for consultation) that
there is Elected Member sign off. Who signs it off and whether it needs to go to
committee will vary between LLFAs and will depend on your local democratic
arrangements.
The programme is very tight for developing the consultation FRMPs and so we encourage
LLFAs to have an early discussion with their internal teams around what sign off is needed
and to schedule Elected Member and/or Committee review of the draft plans at the earliest
opportunity. It is unlikely the Environment Agency will be able to delay the consultation
going live if any individual LLFAs have not got the necessary approval by those dates.

How will FRMPs align with other plans and strategies?
There is an opportunity to align the measures in FRMPs with the implementation of other
plans and strategies such as shoreline management plans, local flood risk management
strategies and drainage and wastewater management plans. Detailed guidance on this is
available in the measure development guidance.

Since the UK has now left the European Union, do we still have
to prepare FRMPs?
Yes. The FRR are in our domestic legislation in England and this continues to be the case
following EU exit (unless there is a legislative change e.g. to amend or remove them in the
future). As long as the FRR remain in place in England, we are obliged to abide by them.
The Environment Agency are currently working with Defra on the long term outlook for
strategic planning for flood risk and water management. This may mean that third cycle
FRMPs that are due in 2027 are produced in a different way.

customer service line

03706 506 506

floodline

incident hotline

Page 142
0800 80 70 60

Page 4 of 4

03459 88 11 88

Appendix 2

The Reading Surface Water FRA
Introduction to the Reading Surface Water FRA
Description of location / reason designated as FRA
[Map of FRA and relevant place names (seems this will be provided by EA national
team)]
The Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area was identified based on a method that
differs from the approach taken during the first cycle of the Flood Risk Management
Plans. The latest information on flood risk to human health, the economy and
environmental and cultural heritage sites has been used to assess which areas
nationally are the most significantly affected from surface water flooding. The
Surface Water Flood Risk Area was identified in 2011 for the first cycle of Flood Risk
Management Plans. For more information, refer to Part A.
The Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area covers the entire of Reading Borough.
The Flood risk Area is primarily urban with a very low proportion of arable land.
The Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area overlaps with a Reading Rivers and
Sea Flood Risk Area associated with the River Thames and Kennet which flow
through the centre of Reading. The Reading Surface Water FRA overlaps with the
Reading Rivers and Sea FRA.
The surface water flood risk across the Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area
follows flow paths. These flow paths are created by topography and is influenced by
urban features such as the road network within Reading.
Topography, Geology, Hydrogeology, Land Use
Description of Topography
The topography of the Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area is strongly influenced
by the River Thames which divides the Flood Risk Area. The River Thames flows
west to east through the middle of the Flood Risk Area. The area to the north of the
River Thames slopes to the south and the area to the south of the Thames slopes to
the north. The River Kennet joins the River Thames from the south west forming a
topographical valley through the southern part of the Reading Surface Water Flood
Risk Area. Surface water flows towards the River Kennet and River Thames.
Land rises more steeply to the south of the River Thames towards the centre of
Reading and West Reading. Land rises from a level of approximately 37 metres
above ordnance datum (mAOD) to a level of approximately 80mAOD. Land rises
more gradually to the north towards Caversham and Emmer Green to a level of
approximately 92mAOD.
Description of bedrock geology, superficial geology, soil type and aquifers

Page 143

The underlying geology is variable. There is chalk in the north of the Reading
Surface Water Flood Risk Area and clay and sandy, gravelly clay (Lambeth Group)
in the south. Within northern areas, the porosity of the chalk is low, which can result
in fast infiltration rates and reduced surface water run-off. However, infiltration is
heavily reduced by the urban extent across the Flood Risk Area.
Description of principal land uses
The vast majority of the Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area is urban with a
minority of green spaces made up of arable land and grassland. Immediately next to
the River Thames there are some areas of arable floodplain. There are also some
areas of arable and grassland floodplain associated with the River Kennet in the
south of the Flood Risk Area.
Description of drainage system & description of the river(s) condition(s)/
channel morphology (if applicable)
Within the Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area, the River Kennet and Thames
run in man-made channels but are open throughout. However there are short
sections for culverted highway crossings. The River Kennet is more naturalised in its
upstream sections in the south west of the Flood Risk Area and is constrained
through the city centre. The River Thames follows a more natural path but with manmade banks on either side as it passes through the Reading Surface Water Flood
Risk Area. The River Thames is used for navigation and forms a focal point for
recreation within the city.
The urban areas are served by a drainage system which is primarily the
responsibility of Thames Water.
Identify RMAs
The Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area falls entirely within Reading Borough
Council’s Area.
There are a number of risk management authorities operating in the Reading
Surface Water Flood Risk Area including:
• The Environment Agency
• Lead Local Flood Authority: Reading Borough Council
• District Council: Reading Borough Council
• Regional Flood and Coastal Committee: Thames
• Highways Authorities: Reading Borough Council
• Water and sewerage company: Thames Water
• Department of Communities and Local Government through local planning
authorities: Reading Borough Council
Refer to Part A of this report to find out more about the Environment Agency’s and
lead local flood authorities’ “National Once Measures”. These aim to describe some
of the generic responsibilities of these risk management authorities.

Page 144

Current flood risk
The main source of flood risk within this Surface Water Flood Risk Area is surface
water. This section will discuss the surface water risk within this Flood Risk Area. For
more information on fluvial risk in this area, please refer to the Rivers and Sea Flood
Risk Area section of this document to gain a holistic understanding of the sources of
risk.
Surface Water Flood Risk — Overview of risk
Details of areas of high risk
Surface water flooding occurs when heavy rainfall exceeds the capacity of local
drainage networks and water flows over the ground. The Reading Surface Water
Flood Risk Area has been identified as being at significant risk of flooding due to the
dense urban areas and associated impermeable surfacing.
Surface Water Flood Risk — Conclusions based on / Description of Risk
Statistics
For more detail, please use the online Flood Risk and Hazard maps: [link]
The flood hazards and risk maps estimate that 27,009 people are living within the
Reading Surface Water FRA. Of those, 13,023 (48.2%) are at risk of flooding from
surface water.
Also shown to be at risk of surface water flooding:
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

24 services (12.1% of the total in the area).
579 Non-residential properties at risk (43.7% of the total in the area).
Critical Infrastructure: 1.22 kilometres of road (31.4% of the total in the area),
and 1.12 kilometres of railway (7.0% of the total in the area). Disruption to
transport routes as a result of flood risk can have an impact at both local and
larger scales. The lengths of road or railway at risk only provide part of the
picture of transport network flood risk as the duration of possible flooding has
implications on wider impacts due to closure or restriction of routes or
services.
109.92 hectares of agricultural land (53.9% of the total in the area).
Protected areas: 0.69 hectares of parks and gardens (47.6% of the total in the
area).
Historical landmarks: 0.07 (5.1% of the total in the area) hectares of
Scheduled Ancient Monument area and 35 (30.2% of the total in the area)
listed buildings
2 (28.6% of the total in the area) licensed water abstraction sites

Based on this information it is concluded that we are generally managing existing
flood risk effectively in parts of the Flood Risk Area. However, we keep our approach
under review, looking for improvements and responding to new challenges or

Page 145

information as they emerge. In other parts of the Flood Risk Area, we can generally
take further action to reduce the likelihood of flooding and the impact it can have on
people, the economy and the environment both for now and the future.
Taking further action to reduce risk will require additional appraisal to assess
whether there are socially and environmentally sustainable, technically viable and
economically justified options.
The flood risk and hazard maps provide more detailed information on the likelihood
and consequence of flooding for the Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area and
can be found here #.

How the risk is currently managed
Surface Water flood risk within the Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area is
currently managed through the drainage network which is the responsibility of
Thames Water. Reading Borough Council monitor critical assets to ensure these are
maintained.
Details about partnership working and how it links with the River Basin
Management Plan
Reading Borough Council also works collaboratively with partners and communities
to improve the water environment. Please refer to the Thames River Basin section of
this report for more information on this.
The Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area falls within the South Chilterns
Catchment Partnership area, which is hosted by Thames 21.
Reading Borough Council is working collaboratively with other risk management
authorities and partners through the Berkshire Strategic Flood Risk Management
Partnership. The aim is to better understand the wider Berkshire area and to develop
joint plans to improve the health of the local water environment. Better understanding
of the catchment and the ideas and commitment of our partners means that we can
be confident that together we can resolve the issues we have identified.
Reading Borough Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority, have a responsibility to
manage surface water flood risk across the Reading Surface Water Flood Risk
Areas. Reading Borough Council work collaboratively with Thames Water and the
Environment Agency to determine how surface water flood risk can best be
managed,
This section should be read in conjunction with the following local documents:
•
•
•

Reading Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (2015);
Reading Surface Water Management Plan (2013); and
Reading Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (2011).

Page 146

This chapter should be read in conjunction with other sections of this plan (including
the Reading Rivers and Sea Flood Risk Area, specifically) for information on how
risk from other sources (mainly fluvial) will be managed.
Flood defences
Reading Borough Council have installed several important flood defences within this
Flood Risk Area for specific localities. This includes an underground storage tank in
the vicinity of Vernon Crescent and Kingsley Close. Furthermore a surface water
overflow system at Harness Close has been constructed to improve the capacity of
the sewer network. Small scale flood alleviation schemes have also been
implemented at Merrival Gardens, Lousehill Copse, in the form of an enhanced
network of existing ponds, and a large open storage area in Stockton Road/the
Cowsey. Property Flood Resilience measures have been installed at residential
properties at Circuit Lane and Kingsley Close.
Hydraulic Modelling
Climate change is potentially the most significant factor that will increase flood risk in
the future. Climate change allowances, which are based on UK climate change
projections that are regularly updated, are predictions of the anticipated change to
peak river flow, peak rainfall intensity, sea level rise, offshore wind speed and
extreme wave height. There are different allowances for different epochs or time
periods over the coming century.
The best available hydraulic modelling for surface water flood risk within the Reading
Surface Water Flood Risk Area is the Environment Agency Risk of Flooding from
Surface Water mapping.

The impact of climate change and future flood risk
[Point to the RBD section of the report, which describes general impact of climate
change in the RBD.]
Details of changes to flood extents indicated by hydraulic modelling (A generic
statement may be needed if there is no up to date hydraulic modelling)
It is possible that areas within the Surface Water Flood Risk Area could experience
flooding in the future. As a result of larger flood extents and deeper depths of flood
water due to the impacts of climate change, the level of protection provided by flood
defences will likely decrease. There will also likely be additional maintenance needs
and stresses on assets that function with a higher frequencies than were designed.
There is currently no up to date hydraulic modelling for the Flood Risk Area to show
how the impact of climate change will affect future flood risk. However, it is expected
that the increase in rainfall intensity would increase flood extents and depths across
the Flood Risk Area putting a greater number of people, properties and infrastructure
at risk.

Page 147

Objectives and measures for the # Rivers and Sea / Surface Water Flood
Risk Area
The measures that apply specifically to the Reading Surface Water Flood Risk Area
can be found in Flood Plan Explorer at [link to flood plan explorer].

Page 148

Appendix 3

Date:
Our Ref:

26 April 2021
LA/IDB Final Grant/2021

Peter Sloman
Reading Borough Council
peter.sloman@reading.gov.uk
Dear Peter
Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid Allocation
In its spring budget last year, Government announced a £5.2 billion, six year programme
(2021/22 to 2026/27) of flood and coastal erosion risk management (FCERM) capital
investment. A further £170m was announced in the Summer Economic Update to accelerate
22 specific FCERM schemes. The aim of this investment is to better protect 336,000 properties
(homes and non-residential) in communities across England, increasing our resilience as a
country to future climate change and increasing flood risk.
The £5.2bn capital programme was re-confirmed in the latest Government spending review
and I am pleased to confirm that the Environment Agency’s Board has approved the allocation
of FCERM Grant in Aid (GiA) funding for the first year of this new programme, including eligible
Reading Borough Council schemes and studies.
The enclosed programme details the funding available for schemes in Reading Borough
Council. The full national programme will be published on gov.uk shortly.
Please note that the amounts shown on the enclosed programme relate to full indicative costs
of the schemes, and that the grant in aid actually paid will be confirmed on a scheme-byscheme basis in line with Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG)
rules for allocating funding on approval.
As set out in both the December and January Regional Flood and Coastal Committee (RFCC)
papers, the capital allocation for 2021/22 has been created using a prioritisation method based
on partnership funding score, which compliments the allocation principles, and maximises the
wider benefits that flood and coastal schemes can achieve. The programme has been
reviewed and ‘consented’ by the Thames RFCC.
We would like to thank all Risk Management Authorities (RMAs) and RFCCs for their excellent
partnership working in helping to define how FCERM GiA is best used within the Thames
RFCC area. You make a vital contribution to FCERM planning and delivery, and will continue
to do so over the next 6 year capital investment programme. There are around 2,000 schemes
within the new programme (compared to 1,300 schemes in the last 6 year programme), of
which around 55% are led by RMAs.
The partnership funding contributions required to achieve the 336,000 properties better
protected target for the 6 year programme are in the range of £1.3bn to £1.6bn. The good
news is that around £990m has already been secured, £810m of which was from Government
and was announced in the March 2020 Budget. The remaining £310m to £610m will need to
be sourced locally. This is really important as the Partnership Funding framework provides ‘at-

Page 149

risk’ communities the opportunity to invest in, and benefit from, local flood and coastal erosion
risk management measures that could not be afforded from central Government funding alone.
Throughout 2020 we have collectively delivered a great deal for FCERM despite all the
challenges presented by the coronavirus pandemic. The Government wants construction and
maintenance activity to continue where it is safe to do so. We recognise however, that due to
the ongoing implications of coronavirus it may be difficult to progress some schemes and of
course, the health and safety of our colleagues, partners and suppliers remains paramount.
Please let us know if any schemes are not progressing as planned as we may be able to offer
advice and support.
If you are interested in using the Collaborative Delivery Framework for procuring and tendering
work for any part of project identification, development or delivery please discuss this with your
Area Flood and Coastal Risk Manager.
Finally, on 24th March we were able to announce that together we have achieved our target to
better protect 300,000 homes from flooding and coastal erosion risks during the 6 year capital
investment programme 2015/16 to 2020/21. This is a fantastic achievement. We have also
protected nearly 600,000 acres of agricultural land, 280 miles of railway lines and 5,000 miles
of roads, protected and improved the environment and helped to unlock development and
deliver economic growth. Thousands of business and major pieces of infrastructure are also
now better protected from the effects of climate change. I would like to take this opportunity to
thank you for your involvement in delivering this £2.6 billion programme and the important part
you played in better protecting homes in communities across England.
Yours sincerely

Julia Simpson
Area Director
Environment Agency
Please direct any enquiries to the Area Flood and Coast Risk Manager, Sarah Hale
Sarah.Hale@environment-agency.gov.uk.
cc.

Caroline Douglass Executive Director, Flood and Coast Risk Management

Encs: 2021/22 FCERM Programme

National
Project
Number

Project Name

RFCC

EA Area

THC501E
/000A/15
6A

Stone Street Flood
Alleviation Scheme

Thames

Thames

Lead Risk
Management
Authority Name
Reading
Borough
Council

Page 150

Total Project
Expenditure
- PROJECT
TOTAL £s
200,000

Total Project
Expenditure
21/22 £s
175,000

Grant in
Aid
21/22
£s
150,000

Local
Levy 2021/
22 £s
0

OM2+
3
21/22
48

Agenda Item 14
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT BY DIRECTOR FOR ECONOMIC GROWTH & NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES
TO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING & TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

DATE:

30 JUNE 2021

TITLE:

REVIEW OF GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR READING CLIMATE
CHANGE PARTNERSHIP

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

COUNCILLOR PAGE

PORTFOLIO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT,
PLANNING & TRANSPORT

SERVICE:

DEGNS

WARDS:

ALL

LEAD OFFICER:

Peter Moore

TEL:

0118 937 4275 (x74275)

JOB TITLE:

Head of Climate
Strategy

E-MAIL:

peter.moore@reading.gov.u
k

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

The Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25 included a commitment to review
the governance arrangements for the Reading Climate Change Partnership (RCCP) to
ensure that they remain fit for the purpose of delivering the Strategy over the next
five years. This review has now been concluded by the Partnership and the
conclusions reflected in a new Partnership Agreement which is now being presented
to the Council and other partners for their endorsement and signature. Under the new
Agreement, for which Committee approval is required, the Council will continue to
act as ‘host’ and accountable body for the Partnership, a role which it has performed
since the inception of the Partnership.

1.2

The appendices to this report are as follows:



Appendix 1 – Partnership Agreement for Reading Climate Change Partnership
Appendix 2 – table illustrating how the Partnership Agreement aligns with
requirements of the Council’s Constitution

2.

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That the Committee:

(i)

Confirms the Council’s willingness to continue to act as host and accountable body
for the Reading Climate Change Partnership
Endorses the Partnership Agreement attached at Appendix 1
Authorises the Director for Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services to sign the
Partnership Agreement on behalf of the Council
Confirms the appointment of the Lead Member for Strategic Environment,
Planning and Transportation to the Reading Climate Change Partnership Board

(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

3.

POLICY CONTEXT

Page 151

3.1

The Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25, which was endorsed by the Policy
Committee in November 2020, included a commitment to review the governance
arrangements for RCCP to ensure that they remain fit for the purpose of delivering
the Strategy over the next five years, and set a target for this review to be completed
within six months of the Strategy being published i.e. by May 2021.

3.1.1 The Partnership Board therefore commissioned a governance review at its meeting in
December 2020, appointing Prof Tim Dixon (Co-Chair of the Partnership) and Peter
Moore (Head of Climate Strategy at RBC) to act as a review team. The aims of the
review were agreed by the Partnership Board in December 2020 as follows:
Aim: ‘To develop an operating model and governance arrangements for RCCP which
maximises our ability to deliver Reading Climate Emergency Strategy objectives by
supporting:






Improved engagement (including via Theme Groups and wider networks) through
a more inclusive and diverse partnership
Improved transparency, accountability and clarity around roles, responsibilities
and relationships between various entities within the partnership ‘family’
Improved delivery capacity within the partnership and partner organisations
Improved ability/capacity to secure resources/funding (whilst being mindful of
need not to cannibalise funding from existing partners)
Clearer identity for the purposes of wider communications and engagement’

3.1.2 The review team presented three broad options (summarised in section 4 below) to
the Partnership Board in February 2021, accompanied by a detailed options appraisal
and seeking a decision ‘in principle’ on the preferred option.
4.

THE PROPOSAL

4.1

Current Position: the Partnership has an existing governing document but this is
limited in scope and dates back to 2009 when the Partnership was a sub-group of the
now disbanded Local Strategic Partnership. This document also does not align fully
with the requirements for Partnerships hosted by the Council as set out in the
Council’s constitution. A review was therefore overdue.

4.2

Options Proposed: the review team presented three broad strategic options to the
Partnership Board in February 2021 and the Board expressed a preference for the
option based on ‘a refinement of the existing model’ (i.e. an unincorporated
Partnership retaining its operational independence but still hosted by RBC), with
changes to its constitution to better address the aims of the review. It was agreed
that these changes should be reflected in a new Partnership Agreement to serve as
the governing document for the Partnership going forward.

4.3

Other Options Considered: the two strategic options considered but rejected by the
Partnership Board in February 2020 were (i) re-constitution of the Partnership as a
new stand-alone legal entity (e.g. charity or Community Interest Company) and (iii)
an alternative hosting arrangement with transfer of assets/contracts etc from the
Council to a new, third-party host.

5.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

5.1

The recommendations in this report align with Corporate Plan priorities as follows:



Healthy Environment: the recommendations are designed to ensure that RCCP is
well placed to deliver the actions and aspirations set out in the Reading Climate
Emergency Strategy as a key part of Reading’s response to the climate emergency.

Page 152




Thriving Communities: the review of governance arrangements for RCCP includes a
specific objective to create ‘a more diverse and inclusive partnership’ and
proposals for broader and more inclusive representation on the Partnership Board.
Inclusive Economy: the recommendations are designed to ensure more effective
delivery of the Reading Climate Emergency Strategy which will support
development of Reading’s low carbon economy which offers the potential for more
inclusive economic development via more skilled employment opportunities.

6.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

6.1

The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 2019 (Minute
48 refers) and endorsed the Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25 in
November 2020. While the recommendations in this report have no direct
environmental or climate implications, they are designed to support more effective
delivery of the actions within the Strategy and thus to make a positive contribution
towards the goal of a ‘net zero carbon Reading by 2030’.

7.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION

7.1

Section 138 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
places a duty on local authorities to involve local representatives when carrying out
"any of its functions" by providing information, consulting or "involving in another
way". The recommendations in this report take forward a specific commitment within
the Reading Climate Emergency Strategy, which was the subject of extensive public
consultation from March-June 2020.

8.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1

An Equality Impact Assessment was not considered relevant to the governance review
as it was primarily a matter for the Reading Climate Change Partnership rather than
the Council, although the aims of the governance review did include an aspiration to
create ‘a more inclusive and diverse partnership’ and the composition of the
Partnership Board has been amended and expanded to reflect this.

9.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The Reading Climate Change Partnership is not a separate legal entity so legal liability
for the Partnership ultimately rests with the Council by virtue of the Council agreeing
to serve as host and accountable body. The proposed Partnership Agreement
therefore sets out the respective obligations of the Partnership and of the Council as
host, based on a good practice template for partnership governance developed
initially by Manchester City Council. The Partnership Agreement is not legally binding
but seeks to establish the necessary clarity in the arrangements for the effective
operation of the Partnership.

10.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The Partnership Agreement attached at Appendix 1 sets out the financial
arrangements (see section 8) for RCCP. This confirms the existing funding mechanism
for the Partnership under which it receives ring-fenced feed-in-tariff income from
solar panel investments made previously (in the region of £20,000 per annum). The
Agreement does not create any new costs or liabilities for the Council, and the risks
to the Council associated with hosting the Partnership are considered low. The
Agreement confirms in writing, for the first time, provision for the Partnership to
maintain a financial reserve to cover its potential liabilities (e.g. in relation to the
employment of staff), further protecting the Council from any notional financial risk
arising from its role as host and accountable body.

Page 153

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1

Documents that have been relied upon to a material extent in drafting this report are
as follows:




The Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25, Reading Climate Change
Partnership, November 2020
Partnership Governance Framework and Guidance, Manchester City Council,
December 2013

Page 154

Appendix 1
NEW PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT FOR READING CLIMATE CHANGE PARTNERSHIP

Dated _________________________2021

(1) READING BOROUGH COUNCIL

(2) BRIGHTER FUTURES FOR CHILDREN

(3) ENVIRONMENT AGENCY

(4) BERKSHIRE HEALTHCARE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

(5) ALLIANCE FOR COHESION AND RACIAL EQUALITY

(6) CONNECT READING

(7) UNIVERSITY OF READING

(8) GREATER READING ENVIRONMENT NETWORK

(9) READING UK

(10) RCCP BOARD

(11) READING YOUTH COUNCIL

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT IN RESPECT OF THE READING CLIMATE CHANGE PARTNERSHIP

Page 155

THIS AGREEMENT dated

2021 is made BETWEEN:

(1)

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL, whose administrative offices are at Civic Offices, Bridge Street,
Reading, Berkshire, RG1 2LU (RBC);

(2)

BRIGHTER FUTURES FOR CHILDREN LIMITED, of Civic Offices, Bridge Street, Reading,
Berkshire, RG1 2LU (BFFC);

(3)

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY, whose administrative offices are at [] (EA);

(4)

BERKSHIRE HEALTHCARE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST, whose administrative offices are at []
(BHNFT)

(5)

ALLIANCE FOR COHESION AND RACIAL EQUALITY, whose administrative offices are at Middle
Building, 344 Oxford Road, Reading RG30 1AF (ACRE)

(6)

THAMES VALLEY BERKSHIRE LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP, whose administrative
offices are at 100 Longwater Avenue, Green Park, Reading, Berkshire RG2 6GP (TVB LEP)

(7)

UNIVERSITY OF READING, a corporation with charitable status, established by Royal Charter
with company number RC000665, whose administrative offices are at Whiteknights House,
Whiteknights, PO Box 217, Reading, Berkshire, RG6 6AH (UOR)

(8)

GREATER READING ENVIRONMENT NETWORK whose administrative offices are at [] (GREN)

(9)

READING UK whose administrative offices are at Thames Tower, Station Road, Reading, RG1
1LX (RUK)

(10)

RCCP BOARD whose administrative offices are at Civic Offices, Bridge Street, Reading,
Berkshire, RG1 2LU (RCCPB)

(11)

READING YOUTH COUNCIL whose administrative offices are at c/o Brighter Futures for
Children, Civic Offices, Bridge Street, Reading, Berkshire, RG1 2LU (RYC)

Collectively referred to as “the Partners”.
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1

The Reading Climate Change Partnership (“RCCP”) is an unincorporated, non-executive
Partnership established to develop and deliver action on climate change in Reading. The
Partnership is independent in terms of decision-making (see section 4) but is not a separate
legal entity and is hosted by Reading Borough Council which serves as ‘accountable body’ for
the Partnership.

1.2

The Partnership was originally established in 2008 to develop the first climate change
strategy for the Borough of Reading. This has since been reviewed and updated, the most
recent iteration being the Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25 (the “Strategy”)

Page 156

which was published by RBC in November 2020. This Strategy sets out the action necessary
to work towards the goal of a net zero carbon, resilient Reading by 2030, incorporating the
central aim of the climate emergency declaration passed by RBC on behalf of the whole
community in February 2019.
1.3

It is envisaged that the Partnership will continue indefinitely or until such time as its key
objectives as set out in this Agreement are met. This Agreement will, however, be reviewed
and updated every five years, with the next target review date being June 2026 or within 6
months of the publication of the successor to the Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 202025.

2.

PARTNERSHIP OBJECTIVES

2.1

Partnership vision

2.1.1

The vision of the Partnership will be as per the latest iteration of the Strategy. Currently, the
vision in the Strategy is:
‘Our vision for 2025 is for a Reading which is working rapidly towards:



Net zero carbon dioxide emissions in the Reading area by 2030
Being better prepared to deal with the impacts of a changing climate

We want and need to whole of Reading – residents, communities, businesses and other
organisations – to mobilise in pursuit of this vision.’
2.2

Delivery of the vision

2.2.1

The Strategy sets out in detail the role of individual delivery partners, the key actions to be
taken forward and the timescale over which that action is envisaged. The Strategy will be
reviewed and revised as the fifth anniversary of the current iteration approaches to ensure
that it remains fit for the purpose of delivering the vision.

3.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

3.1

Purpose

3.1.1

The purpose of the Partnership is to lead the development and co-ordinate the delivery of a
comprehensive and ambitious programme of climate action for Reading, as set out in the
Strategy.

3.2

Scope

3.2.1

The scope of the Partnership reflects the scope of the Strategy – namely, the development
and delivery of action to mitigate climate change and adapt to its impacts. The Partnership
will operate over the Borough of Reading but will work across administrative boundaries
where this facilitates the achievement of key goals and delivery set out in the Strategy and
related documents such as the Reading 2050 Vision in so far as they address climate change.

3.2.2

The Partnership will seek to deliver its purpose by:

Page 157










Developing and periodically reviewing the framework for climate action in the Borough
of Reading
Ensuring that climate action is embedded into the strategies and plans of key partners
Building citizen, business, public and voluntary sector consensus for action
Acting as a catalyst and attracting resources for climate action across the Borough of
Reading
Supporting collaboration between Partners and joint working to maximise impact
Supporting innovation to identify new solutions to climate challenges
Collaborating and networking beyond the Borough of Reading to share learning and best
practice
Informing and engaging the public about climate change and the work of the Partnership

3.2.3

As a voluntary, non-executive partnership, the Partnership does not possess the resources to
implement every action identified within the Strategy – rather, that is the role of individual
delivery partners as identified within the Strategy – but it will deliver those actions where
the Partnership itself is identified as lead delivery partner on a ‘best endeavours’ basis.

3.3

Structure of the Partnership
The Partnership will operate at two levels:



The Reading Climate Change Partnership Board (the “Board”): the Board is the decisionmaking body for the Partnership, as set out in section 4 below.
The Reading Climate Action Network (“the Network”): ReadingCAN is an informal
network of individuals and organisations, which are key to the delivery of the Strategy.
The Partnership maintains a database of interested parties who have signed up to
ReadingCAN to facilitate communication.

3.4

Partnership Agreement

3.4.1

This document represents (i) the partnership agreement for the Reading Climate Change
Partnership and (ii) a memorandum of understanding between the Partnership and Reading
Borough Council as ‘host’ authority and accountable body for the Partnership.

3.4.2

It should be noted that by signing this document or by participating in the Partnership, the
Partners are not committing to legally binding obligations. It is intended that the Partners
remain independent of each other and that their collaboration and use of the term ‘partner’
does not constitute the creation of a legal entity, nor authorise the entry into a commitment
for or on behalf of each other.

3.5

Partnership Principles and Codes of Conduct

3.5.1

As a quasi-public body in receipt of public funds, Board members will observe the Nolan
Principles of public life in discharging their responsibilities on behalf of the Partnership.
These are:



Selflessness: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
Integrity: Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits

Page 158







for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests
and relationships.
Objectivity: Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on
merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
Accountability: Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions
and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
Openness: Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there
are clear and lawful reasons for so doing.
Honesty: Holders of public office should be truthful.
Leadership: Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own
behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be
willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

3.5.2

Individual Partners may additionally be bound by the relevant code of conduct which applies
to their own organisation.

4.

LEADERSHIP AND MEMBERSHIP

4.1

Membership of the Partnership Board

4.1.1

The Board will have a maximum of 20 members, comprising 11 sector representatives, as set
out in Annex 1; 7 Climate Emergency Strategy Theme Leads as set out in Annex 1; and up to
2 co-opted members to meet specific requirements as defined by the Board in line with the
stipulations at paragraph 4.5.1. Sector representatives will be appointed by the body as set
out in Annex 1 and who is a party to this Agreement. Theme lead appointments will be
confirmed by the Board and, on confirmation, theme leads will become members of the
Board with full voting rights subject to the following exceptions:



Where a theme lead is already a Board member by virtue of performing one of the
sector representative roles, the relevant theme lead’s seat on the Board will remain
vacant
Any one organisation will be limited to one voting member of the Board (presumed to
be the most senior representative of that organisation if more than one are present).

4.1.2

Board meetings may also be attended by (i) RBC’s Head of Climate Strategy, in their capacity
as the senior responsible officer for the Partnership’s ‘host’ authority/accountable body (ii)
RBC’s Sustainability Team Manager, in their capacity as Treasurer for the Partnership and (iii)
the Partnership’s Climate Change Partnership Officer, in their capacity as secretariat to the
Board. None of these officers will have voting rights.

4.2

Chairing the Partnership Board

4.2.1

A chair of the Board (the “Chair”) will be elected (or up to two co-chairs in the event of a cochairing candidacy) by secret ballot of the members of the Board. Elections shall be overseen
by the sitting Chair, unless the sitting Chair is a candidate for election in which case elections
shall be overseen by the Treasurer (RBC Sustainability Team Manager).

4.2.2

As the 3 year term of the sitting Chair(s) approaches its end, the Chair(s) will give notice of
their intention to stand for election again (or otherwise) no later than the pre-penultimate
meeting of the Board prior to the expiry of their term (i.e. approximately 6 months’ notice),

Page 159

enabling an election/recruitment process to be held at the penultimate meeting of their
term (i.e. approximately 3 months before their term ends), and an induction and formal
handover process to be completed by/at the final meeting of their 3 year term.
4.2.3

Candidates for the role of Chair may be nominated and seconded by e-mail by other Board
members during the 12 week period prior to the Board meeting at which the election is to
be held.

4.2.4

In electing the Chair(s), Board members will have regard to the role description for the
Chair(s) and generic person specification at Annex 2.

4.3

Voting rights of Board members

4.3.1

The Board will seek to reach decisions via consensus but where a vote is necessary, each
Board member will have one vote. Organisations represented on the Board by more than
one person will have a maximum of one vote per organisation.

4.4

Time limits for Board membership

4.4.1

Board appointments will be for 3 years, with a maximum of 3 consecutive terms to be
served, effective from the date this Agreement becomes operational being the date of this
Agreement.

4.5

Representation on the Board

4.5.1

The appointment of Board members by representative bodies as set out in Annex 1 is
designed to ensure that the composition of the Board adequately reflects the full diversity of
communities and interests in the Borough of Reading. Should a deficiency in representation
from any one sector or section of the community be identified, however, the Board may use
its co-option powers to address this (up to 2 additional co-opted Board members). Co-opted
members may be drawn from any sector at the discretion of the Board.

4.6

Roles and responsibilities of Board members

4.6.1

Board members will serve in a personal capacity representing key sectors as listed in Annex
1, column 1, rather than as representatives of their individual/employing organisations. The
generic role description for Board members is at Annex 2.

4.7

Secretariat and support to the Board

4.7.1

The Board secretariat will be provided by the Climate Change Partnership Officer employed
by RBC on behalf of the Partnership.

4.7.2

Financial management will be overseen by the RBC Sustainability Team Manager as
Treasurer to the Partnership.

4.7.3

The Board Chair(s) will be supported in fulfilment of their duties to plan Board meetings and
agendas, progress actions between Board meetings, and deal with matters arising, by an
Operations Team comprising the Chair(s), RBC Head of Climate Strategy, RBC Sustainability
Team Manager and Climate Change Partnership Officer. The Operations Team will meet on
approximately a monthly basis.

Page 160

4.8

Theme leads and theme groups

4.8.1

Additional roles and responsibilities of theme leads in their capacity as Board members are
set out in Annex 2.

4.8.2

Additional guidance for theme leads on the purposes and operation of theme groups is set
out an Annex 3.

5.

ACCOUNTABILITY

5.1

Introduction

5.1.1

Board members are accountable to each other in the context of their collective
responsibility for delivery of the Partnership’s objectives. As a non-executive Partnership
with limited direct delivery capacity, however, the primary accountability for delivery of the
action set out in the Strategy lies with the individual delivery partners identified within the
Strategy. Accountability in this context will depend on the respective constitutional and
policy obligations of individual delivery partners.

5.2

Reporting lines

5.2.1

The Board is the highest level of decision-making within the Partnership and while it is not
directly accountable to RBC, it will submit an annual progress report on strategy delivery to a
relevant RBC Committee in the interests of transparency. Any theme groups which may be
established must be formally approved by the Board and will report to the Board in line with
the guidance set out at Annex 3.

5.2.2

Individual members of the Network do not report to, act with the authority of or represent
the Partnership or the Board and are not bound by its decisions, other than in the context of
5.3 below. The Board will, however, undertake to keep members of the Network informed
of relevant developments in a timely manner, and as a minimum to share the annual
progress report on strategy delivery with members of the Network in electronic format.

5.3

Statement on members’ accountability to each other including behaviour

5.3.1

Climate action is everyone’s responsibility. In this context, Board members, theme group
members and members of the Network share accountability and will treat each other with
mutual trust and respect in the context of this shared accountability for delivery of
Partnership objectives. Failure to observe this principle may result in censure by the Board
and, in the event of serious or repeated breaches, may ultimately result in exclusion from
the Board, theme groups or the Network.

5.4

External communication strategy

5.4.1

The communications and engagement strategy for the Partnership will be as set out in the
Strategy. The Chair(s) will have sole authority to act as spokesperson(s) for the Partnership
for the purposes of media interviews etc though this responsibility may be delegated by the
Chair(s) on a case by case basis.

Page 161

5.4.2

Board members or staff should consult the Chair(s) if invited to carry out media interviews
etc prior to speaking to the media. Media releases will be drafted by the Partnership’s
communications and engagement team in consultation with the relevant RBC
communications officer.

5.4.3

Social media activity will be developed by the Partnership communications and engagement
team and issued subject to approval by the Chair(s).

5.4.4

RBC will arrange for media releases to be issued on behalf of the Partnership to all relevant
media outlets and to promote appropriate Partnership content via relevant RBC channels.

5.4.5

It is the Partnership’s intention to make the website an authoritative, unbiased and
comprehensive public source of reliable information on climate change that aligns with its
aims and objectives. To facilitate this, individual members of the partnership or the network
may be granted access to directly upload content; in doing so they agree to follow the
content guide published by the communications and engagement team. The team
undertakes to retain for the foreseeable future contributed content that supports its aims
and objectives, and to advise the contributor in the case of any necessary revisions or
corrections

5.4.6

RBC is subject to restrictions on some content being promoted during immediate preelection periods to avoid political bias in line with election law – these restrictions could also
apply legally to Partnership content during such periods as it is not a separate legal entity
and is hosted by RBC. The Chair(s) and/or communications and engagement team should
therefore consult the appropriate RBC communications officer on promotion of content
during such periods, details of which will be advised to the Partnership by RBC.

5.5

Auditable processes (arrangements for internal and external audit): RBC hosts the
Partnership for the purposes of managing its finances. RBC has internal and external auditors
that may, from time to time, examine the financial records and processes that relate to the
Partnership. The Partnership shall co-operate fully with any enquiry or investigation made by
RBC’s internal or external auditors, or any other quality or performance inspectors, that in
any way concerns this Agreement or any sums claimed or charged in relation to this
Agreement. The Partnership acknowledges that RBC may use information given by the
Partnership in connection with this Agreement to prevent and detect fraud and moneylaundering; it may also share this information, for the same purpose, with other
organisations that handle public funds.

6.

GOVERNANCE

6.1

Statutory Powers/Obligations

6.1.1

The Partnership’s activity is not covered by any specific legislation and regulation, other than
the prevailing context of environmental and climate legislation being relevant. The
Partnership is not acting on behalf of RBC in delivering any statutory obligations, which
remain with RBC or individual partner organisations.

6.2

Formal constitution

6.2.1

This Agreement represents the formal constitution of the Partnership.

Page 162

6.3

Partnership Meetings

6.3.1

Added value - the Partnership achieves more through the collective effort of Partners than if
Partners acted alone by:




6.3.2

Providing a single focus for commitment, shared aims and action in the form of the
Strategy
Bringing together disparate organisations facing common challenges to provide
pathways for action with practical and moral support
Providing consistent and effective communications about organisational and individual
action on climate change to complement the communications activities of individual
Partners

Governance of meetings - the following principles will be observed for meetings of the
Board:













The Board will meet a minimum of four times per annum.
Board meetings will not be open to the public but meeting minutes will be available to
the public as specified in 13.2.
The Chair(s) will take lead responsibility for setting meeting agendas and preparing
papers/minutes etc with the support of the Operations Team.
The Partnership support officer will take responsibility for identifying suitable dates,
timing and venues for Board meetings and other Partnership meetings as directed by the
Chair(s)
In the interests of keeping costs and time commitments to a minimum, Board meetings
shall be held virtually wherever possible and physical only where necessary. Hybrid
meetings may be held where practicable.
Other physical Partnership meetings (i.e. non-Board meetings) will be held in accessible
venues with good access by walking, cycling and public transport wherever practicable.
Partnership meetings may be held during the working day or in the evenings, if
necessary, to improve the breadth representation at meetings.
Board meetings will require a minimum of 6 Board members or 33% of the voting
membership (whichever is lower) to be present for the meeting to be quorate.
Board members will conduct themselves appropriately, treating each other with mutual
trust and respect in line with the statement at 5.3.1.
The Board may elect a deputy Chair to lead meetings in the absence of the Chair(s).
Extraordinary meetings of the Board may be convened by the Chair(s) with one week’s
notice.
Board members will make any relevant declarations of interest at the start of Board
meetings and will withdraw their participation from any relevant discussion items if
requested to by other members of the Board.

6.3.3

A schedule of meetings for each year shall be finalised by the Partnership support officer as
soon as is practicable with the aim of giving at least 1 month’s notice for any one meeting.

6.4

Dissolution of the Partnership

6.4.1

In the event that the Partnership’s objectives are achieved, the Partnership may be dissolved
by unanimous agreement of the Board. The Board will give 6 months’ notice of its intention
to dissolve to RBC to enable an orderly winding up of its affairs. In such an eventuality,
responsibility for any outstanding contracts, including contracts of employment, financial

Page 163

commitments, and financial or other assets, would be retained by RBC as ‘host’ and
accountable body for the Partnership. The maintenance of a financial reserve by the
Partnership as set out in 8.2 is designed in part to ensure that such liabilities could be met
without undue costs falling to RBC.
7.

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

7.1

Inputs

7.1.1

The Partnership will receive income as set out in 8.1. Any additional financial contributions
from Partners will be held in a ring-fenced Partnership budget by RBC on behalf of the
Partnership. The Partnership may seek additional financial support from appropriate
external funders. Any funding bids submitted by RBC on behalf of the Partnership in its
capacity as accountable body will be prepared in accordance with RBC constitutional
requirements for such bids.

7.1.2

Voluntary and in-kind contributions from Partners and individuals have been historically
important to the successful operation of the Partnership, and this is likely to continue. Inkind contributions (not exhaustive) may include:




Gifts of time from individuals or via donation of paid staff time for work on behalf of
the Partnership
Free use of equipment, buildings, venues for Partnership events/activities
Advice on pursuit of Partnership objectives

7.1.3

Volunteers and Partners supporting the Partnership through gifts of time or in-kind
contributions will be appropriately recognised and credited by the Partnership.

7.1.4

Where employment of paid staff is deemed by the Board to be the most effective means of
delivering Partnership objectives, RBC will manage the creation of new posts, recruitment
and management of paid staff in line with its normal HR policies and practises on behalf of
the Partnership. RBC’s Sustainability Team Manager will be the formal line manager of paid
staff though will liaise with the Chair(s) to give direction to and ensure effective day-to-day
management of staff, and in the completion of objective-setting and performance appraisal.

7.1.5

RBC will identify a lead officer for each of the key policy areas covered by the Strategy to
help ensure that RBC’s commitments within the strategy are delivered. A list of these lead
officers and the role they will perform in this context is at Annex 4. Other delivery Partners
are invited to adopt a similar approach.

7.2

Services (the type of service the partnership will use or purchase)

7.2.1

The Partnership will procure such services as are required to deliver the Partnership’s
objectives, in line with the Contract Procedure Rules of RBC as host and accountable body.
These may include, but will not be limited to:





Web design and website maintenance services
Social media accounts, packages and advertising
ICT support services and licenses
Design and print services

Page 164



Training for staff and volunteers to meet identified needs which can not be met via RBC
‘core’ training offer

7.2.2

Legal, financial, HR, procurement and other ‘corporate’ services will be provided by the
appropriate RBC team in RBC’s capacity as ‘host’ and accountable body for the Partnership
and will represent an ‘in-kind’ contribution to the successful operation of the Partnership.

8.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

8.1

Provision

8.1.1

The Partnership’s core income is in the form of Feed-in-Tariff (FiT) income from solar panel
investments made by the Partnership with funds allocated to the Partnership when it was
formally constituted as a sub-group of the (now disbanded) Reading Local Strategic
Partnership. The FiT income varies annually according to the performance of the relevant
solar systems but is in the region of £20,000 per annum. Subject to this annual variation, this
income stream is secure until FiT agreements begin to expire from 2032.

8.1.2

Under this Agreement RBC agrees to:




8.1.3

Continue to allocate FiT income received on behalf of the Partnership to an identifiable,
ring-fenced Partnership budget;
Acknowledge the need for the Partnership to maintain a financial reserve at the level
specified below; and
Work with the Partnership to identify and secure additional sources of funding to enable
delivery of its vision and purpose.

Under this Agreement the Board agrees that:


The Partnership budget will cover the operational and maintenance costs of the solar
systems from which FiT income is derived by the Partnership.

8.2

Financial reserves policy

8.2.1

As a modest Partnership with limited means, but some accruing liabilities relating to, for
example, the employment of staff, and recurring costs such as website maintenance, ICT
licenses etc, the Partnership has a legitimate need to maintain a financial reserve to cover
such liabilities into the longer-term in the event of a significant change of circumstances or
in the event of its dissolution. This reserve will be maintained at a level equivalent to not less
than 12 months and not more than 36 months of the Partnership’s annual operating
expenditure. Should either limit within this range be exceeded in any one financial year, the
Board will agree a plan with the Treasurer for the following financial year to reduce or
commit expenditure as necessary to return to within the parameters of this financial
reserves policy as soon as is practicable.

8.3

Financial regulations

8.3.1

The management of Partnership finances will be in line with the financial regulations of RBC
as host authority and accountable body for the Partnership.

8.4

Financial decision-making

Page 165

8.4.1

Significant financial decisions (defined as £1,000 or approximately 5% of annual Partnership
income) will require agreement by the Board (e-mail confirmation would be acceptable in
line with the quoracy requirement at 6.7.1), and will be subject to agreement of the
Treasurer. The Treasurer’s agreement would not be unreasonably withheld, and would likely
only be withheld in the event of a conflict with the financial regulations or statutory/policy
obligations of RBC as accountable body for the Partnership.

8.4.2

Other financial decisions (defined as less than £1,000 or approximately 5% of annual
Partnership income) may be made by the Chair(s) in consultation with the Operations Team
and subject to the agreement of the Treasurer. Again, the Treasurer’s agreement would not
be unreasonably withheld, and would likely only be withheld in the event of a conflict with
the financial regulations or statutory/policy obligations of RBC as accountable body for the
Partnership. Such decisions would be reported to the full Board at next available
opportunity.

8.4.3

Minor expenditure (defined as less than £500) may be approved at the Treasurer’s discretion
subject to the expenditure being in line with Partnership objectives. Again, such decisions
would be reported to the full Board at next available opportunity.

8.5

Financial reporting arrangements

8.5.1

Partnership accounts will be reported as part of RBC’s financial reporting mechanisms as
host authority and accountable body in the context of the RBC sustainability team budget.

8.5.2

Additionally, the RBC Sustainability Team Manager in their capacity as Treasurer will
produce a written financial statement for the first available Board meeting after the
finalisation of RBC’s annual accounts. The RBC Sustainability Team Manager will also give a
written report on the status of Partnership finances at quarterly Board meetings in their
capacity as Treasurer.

8.6

Volunteer expenses

8.6.1

Volunteer Board members will be entitled to coverage of reasonable expenses incurred in
the delivery of Partnership objectives but as the Partnership is unable to maintain a petty
cash reserve, volunteers should in all cases:




Secure the agreement of the Chair(s) to expenses in excess of £50 prior to commitment
of any expenditure;
Contact the partnership officer at the earliest opportunity to ensure that fares/booking
fees etc are purchased via a corporate credit card maintained for this purpose prior to
incurring any personal expenditure;
Keep expenses to a minimum and follow the process for claiming expenses as prescribed
by the Treasurer.

8.6.2

In line with the Partnership’s commitment to emissions reduction, car mileage will not be
reimbursed other than for the purposes of transporting equipment.

9.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

9.1

Arrangements and delivery

Page 166

9.1.1

The Partnership will take account of both output measures (‘have we done what we said we
would do?’) and outcome measures (‘is it having the desired effect?’) in managing the
performance of strategy delivery as follows:


Output measures: the action plans in the Strategy set out the activity and outputs to
which delivery Partners have committed individually and collectively. The Board will
therefore monitor progress with action plan delivery at quarterly meetings and publish
an annual progress report for public consumption on or around the anniversary of the
publication of the Strategy (November). In the interests of transparency and to provide
an opportunity for public scrutiny, this annual progress report will be tabled at an
appropriate RBC Committee meeting at the earliest available opportunity following
publication.



Outcome measures: the Strategy sets out a headline target of achieving a ‘net zero
Reading by 2030’. The key means of measuring progress towards this objective is the
national emissions inventory dataset published by Government annually by local
authority area. Reporting and commentary against this metric will therefore be a key
feature in the Partnership’s annual progress report on strategy delivery.

10.

EQUALITY AND INCLUSION

10.1

Ensuring equality

10.1.1 The composition of the Board as set out at Annex 1 is designed to reflect the diversity of the
Borough of Reading’s communities. Should a deficiency in representation from any one
sector or section of the community be identified, however, the Board may use its co-option
powers to address this as set out in 4.5.1.
10.1.2 The Partnership will actively value the benefits of diversity, ensure fair treatment and
equality of opportunity, including representation and participation within the Partnership. In
making future appointments to the Board, Board members will be mindful of the need for all
sections of the community to be represented as far as possible, in addition to the person
specification criteria at Annex 2.
10.1.3 The Partnership will consider the need for equalities impacts assessments when reviewing
its strategic objectives as set out in the Strategy. Screening will be undertaken as part of the
strategy development process, and should screening and/or public consultation suggest a
need for a full equalities impact assessment then one will be conducted in line with the
process used within RBC as host authority for the Partnership.
11.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

11.1

In a Board constituted from sectoral/thematic representatives, it is inevitable and indeed
welcome that Board members will bring with them connections with external interests. The
principle of transparency will therefore be key to managing conflicts of interest, whether
perceived, potential or real - Board members will therefore be mindful of the Nolan
principles as set out at 3.5.1 in fulfilling their duties to the Board, and will declare potential
conflicts of interest in line with the provisions at 6.7.2.

Page 167

11.2

Resolution of issues - in the event of a conflict of interest leading to a dispute within the
Board which can not be resolved by the Board itself, advice will be taken from RBC’s
Assistant Director of Legal & Democratic Services with a view to achieving a satisfactory
resolution. The advice of the Assistant Director of Legal & Democratic Services will be
binding in such an eventuality.

12.

RISK MANAGEMENT

12.1

Key risks

12.1.1 The key risks to the achievement of the Partnership’s objectives, and associated mitigations,
are:


The action committed to by delivery partners within the Strategy not being delivered or
not having the intended effect. This is most appropriately managed via the risk
management processes of individual delivery partners. The Partnership’s monitoring and
reporting arrangements, as set out in section 13, will, however, ensure that delivery risk
is monitored and reported so that corrective action can be taken.



Central Government action/resources are not forthcoming as envisaged in RBC’s Climate
Emergency Declaration or are forthcoming in a way which does not align with local
priorities and objectives. The Partnership’s communication and engagement plan (as set
out in the Strategy) and other relevant actions within the Strategy will seek to mitigate
this risk.

12.1.2 RBC accepts a degree of risk in its capacity as host and accountable body for the Partnership.
The key risks, and mitigations, in this regard are:


Financial: the Partnership has contractual and other liabilities associated with
employment which ultimately sit with RBC. The financial reserves policy outlined at 8.2
is designed to mitigate this risk by covering these liabilities. Observance of RBC financial
policies regulations as set out in 8.3 will mitigate other financial risks.



Reputational: inappropriate activity by the Partnership could potentially reflect on RBC
in its capacity as host and accountable body. The communications protocol set out in 5.4
is designed to mitigate this risk by ensuring close liaison between the Partnership and
RBC over communications.

13.

Monitoring and reporting

13.1

The monitoring and reporting arrangements for the Partnership will be as set out in the
Strategy, i.e.:


Progress with delivery of theme action plans will be monitored at quarterly Board
meetings, using a template to be specified by the Board.



An annual progress report on delivery of the Strategy on or around the anniversary of
publication (November) will be presented to an appropriate RBC Committee for
consideration at the nearest available opportunity thereafter.

Page 168

13.2

In addition, the approved minutes of the Partnership Board will be submitted to the next
available meeting of RBC’s Strategic Environment, Planning and Transportation Committee.

IN WITNESS of which this Agreement has been duly executed by the parties.
SIGNED for and on behalf of Reading Borough Council
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

SIGNED for and on behalf of Brighter Futures for Children
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

SIGNED for and on behalf of Environment Agency
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

SIGNED for and on behalf of Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

Page 169

SIGNED for and on behalf of Alliance for Cohesion and Racial Equality
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

SIGNED for and on behalf of Thames Valley Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

SIGNED for and on behalf of University of Reading
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

SIGNED for and on behalf of Greater Reading Environment Network
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

SIGNED for and on behalf of Reading UK
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Page 170

Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

SIGNED for and on behalf of RCAP Board
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

SIGNED for and on behalf of Reading Youth Council
Signature: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Position: …………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Date: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

Page 171

ANNEX 1: COMPOSITION OF READING CLIMATE CHANGE PARTNERSHIP BOARD FROM JUNE 2021
SECTOR TO BE REPRESENTED
Education and schools
Defra agencies
Local government
Health services

Reading’s diverse communities
Business

APPOINTING BODY
Brighter Futures for Children
Environment Agency, Natural
England
Reading Borough Council
Berkshire Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust (in
consultation with other NHS
Trusts/Public Health England)
Alliance for Cohesion and
Racial Equality
Thames Valley Local Enterprise
Partnership (LEP)

Higher education and research

University of Reading

Environmental NGOs and
community groups
Small and medium sized
enterprises in Reading
Larger businesses in Reading

Greater Reading Environment
Network
Reading UK

Young people

Reading Youth Council

RCAP Board

REPRESENTATIVE
New position – tbc
Chris Beales (provisional,
subject to confirmation)
Cllr Tony Page (provisional,
subject to confirmation)
Paul Harrison (provisional,
subject to confirmation)

New position – tbc
Tracey Rawling Church
(provisional, subject to
confirmation)
Prof Tim Dixon (provisional,
subject to confirmation)
Trish Marcuse (provisional,
subject to confirmation)
New position – tbc
Poppy Harris (Oracle UK)
(provisional, subject to
confirmation)
Zara Khan MYP (provisional,
subject to confirmation)

Seven theme leads will be appointed by the Board above but on appointment will become full
members of the Board subject to the following conditions:



Where a theme lead is already a Board member by virtue of performing one of the roles listed
above, the relevant theme lead seat on the Board will remain vacant
Where a theme lead’s employing organisation is already represented on the Board, the relevant
organisations will only have one voting member of the Board

The seven theme leads are currently:
THEME
Communications & Engagement
Energy & low carbon development
Health & Wellbeing
Nature
Transport
Resources
Water

THEME LEAD
Rachel Hazell
Ben Burfoot
Natalie Ganpatsingh
Trish Marcuse
Chris Maddocks
Paul Ducker
Chris Beales

POSITION
Volunteer theme lead
Employed by RBC
Volunteer theme lead
Volunteer theme lead
Employed by RBC
Volunteer theme lead
Employed by EA

Board meetings may also be attended by RBC’s Head of Climate Strategy, on behalf of RBC as host
authority, RBC’s Sustainability Team Manager, as Treasurer for the Partnership, and the Partnership
support officer, all in a non-voting capacity.

Page 172

ANNEX 2: ROLE DESCRIPTION AND PERSON SPECIFICATION FOR BOARD MEMBERS, PARTNERSHIP
CHAIRS AND THEME LEADS
A. ROLE DESCRIPTION OF BOARD MEMBERS
The role description for all Board members (sector representatives, theme leads and co-opted
members) is as follows:













Provide leadership on climate change in relevant sectoral/thematic context/wider community
Contribute to the development and delivery of the Strategy (and successor strategies) and its
constituent action plans
Work with the Chair(s) and officer support to shape the agenda for Board meetings
Initiate and/or participate in bi-lateral/multi-lateral dialogues with external organisations,
delivery partners, businesses and potential funders to develop relationships for the purposes of
delivering the Partnership’s objectives
Identify strategic issues and opportunities arising from relevant sectors/themes to bring to the
attention of the Board
Identify strategic needs and opportunities for collaboration within and between sectors/themes
to maximise effective delivery of Partnership objectives
Provide a conduit to/from the Board for stakeholders in the relevant sector/theme, listening to
and communicating with a diverse range of people, organisations and opinions
Contribute to quarterly monitoring and annual reporting of Strategy and action plan delivery,
Contribute to and approve Partnership annual reports and other publications
Establish sub-groups/task and finish groups as required to deliver the Partnership’s objectives
Be responsible for delivery and follow-up of actions as agreed at Board meetings
Approve Partnership expenditure

B. PERSON SPECIFICATION FOR BOARD MEMBERS
The person specification for Board members, to be considered by appointing bodies in the process of
making appointments to the Board, and by the Board in the process of confirming the appointment
of theme leads and co-opted members, is as follows:
Essential criteria1:
 A commitment to ambitious and urgent action on climate change
 Ability to speak credibly about taking action to tackle the climate emergency
 Ability to convene multiple organisations with different priorities and develop a consensus
leading to collective commitment and action on climate change
 Experience of serving on or leading groups of a similar nature
 Ability to engage at a senior level, with a broad spectrum of both organisations and opinions
 Strong presentation and communication skills
 Track record of overseeing and managing delivery of ambitious action plans
Desirable criteria:
 Experience of change management processes
 Experience of recruitment and performance management processes
1

‘Essential’ criteria may be waived where it would be unreasonable to expect the sector representative to
meet the criteria (e.g. experience/track record in the case of the representative for ‘young people’).

Page 173





Experience/ability to work with all three sectors – public, private and third sector - and the
ability to gain the cooperation of new and existing partners
Ability to increase the positive public profile of the partnership
Experience in overseeing financially viable organisations, including fund-raising

C. ADDITIONAL ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF PARTNERSHIP CHAIR(S)
In addition to the roles and responsibilities of Board members identified above, the Chair(s) will:








Chair Board meetings (currently four meetings p.a. minimum)
Take the lead in planning the agenda for Board meetings
Champion climate action at a senior level within existing networks, business and the community
Develop the work programme and contribute to performance management and appraisal of
partnership staff in conjunction with RBC Sustainability Team Manager as formal line manager
Present on behalf of the Partnership at high-profile events
Represent the Partnership for the purposes of publicity and media work
Oversee the Partnership’s finances in conjunction with RBC Sustainability Team Manager as
Treasurer of the Partnership

D. ADDITIONAL ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THEME LEADS
In addition to the roles and responsibilities of Board members identified above, theme leads will:






Co-ordinate delivery of the relevant theme action plan, liaising with delivery partners and others
as necessary to encourage timely and efficient delivery of actions
Report to the Board on a quarterly basis on progress with theme action plan delivery, in a format
specified by the Board
Contribute to the Partnership’s annual report on Strategy delivery (November) and the
identification of any corrective action arising from this
Convene bi-lateral/multi-lateral dialogues with delivery partners and others to ensure effective
and timely delivery of action plans in line with the guidance for theme leads at Annex 3.
Establish and chair a theme group and/or sub-groups as required.

Page 174

ANNEX 3: GUIDANCE FOR THEME LEADS
A. Purpose of Climate Strategy Themes
During the development of the Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25, six key policy themes
were identified as a logical basis for structuring the strategy document (energy, transport, resources,
water, nature and health). An action plan was developed around each theme and while this provided
a rational basis for the document’s structure, the boundaries between themes are necessarily fluid.
Subsequently, a seventh cross-cutting theme was identified (communications and engagement) and
an action plan for this included within the Strategy.
B. Role of theme leads
During the strategy development process, a theme lead was identified by the Reading Climate
Change Partnership Board to co-ordinate development of the relevant action plan and feed into the
wider process. The role of Theme Leads was not previously documented but is now being defined as
follows:






To co-ordinate delivery of the relevant theme action plan, liaising with delivery partners and
others as necessary to encourage timely and efficient delivery of actions
To report to the Board on a quarterly basis on progress with theme action plan delivery, in a
format specified by the Board
To contribute to the Partnership’s annual report on Strategy delivery (November) and the
identification of any corrective action arising from this
To convene bi-lateral/multi-lateral dialogues with delivery partners and others to ensure
effective and timely delivery of action plans in line with this guidance for theme leads
To establish and chair a theme group and/or sub-groups if required

C. Role of theme group
During the Strategy development process, each theme had a theme group of interested parties who
contributed to the drafting process for the action plans. As the Partnership moves from strategy
development to implementation, the nature of these theme groups is evolving, and it is not
therefore possible to be prescriptive about whether and how each theme now needs a ‘theme
group’ as originally constituted to take forward the action plan.
Some theme groups are well established, geared up for delivery and are likely to continue in their
current format. Other theme groups have effectively been discontinued/disbanded, and may or may
not need to be re-convened in their original or alternative formats. The key is for theme leads to
maintain a meaningful dialogue with key delivery partners, and wider stakeholders where this will
support or enable delivery. Where the establishment of an identifiable theme group will assist in
this, chairs have the freedom to establish one, subject to ratification by the Board; where chairs
believe that their role can be performed without the establishment of a theme group and is, for
example, better assisted by maintaining a dialogue with key delivery partners, that is a matter for
the theme lead’s discretion.
Where a Theme Lead believes that a Theme Group is necessary, the guidance at section D of this
annex will apply.

Page 175

D. Guidelines for Theme Groups where established
Where a theme group is established:










The theme lead will prepare Terms of Reference and submit these to the Board for approval
Terms of Reference for theme groups should generally reflect the need to support the
theme lead in their role as defined above at section B of this Annex
The frequency of theme group meetings will be a matter for the theme lead’s discretion but
up to 4 meetings a year might be advisable (e.g. to align with the quarterly reporting
schedule), depending on the Terms of Reference for the Theme Group
Theme group meetings need not be minuted or reported to the Board, though theme leads
would be advised to maintain a record of any actions agreed
Theme Groups will not have delegated budgets so any need for financial support identified
should be raised with the Board
This guidance, and the Terms of Reference of the theme group, should be shared with all
members of a theme group at the point which they join the group, in the interests of
establishing clarity about the role of the group and setting the expectations of individual
theme group members.
Invitations to join a theme group will be at the theme lead’s discretion though proposed
membership should be reported to the Board
The number of theme groups members will be at the theme lead’s discretion though a
maximum of 20 members is recommended. Theme leads may wish to maintain contact with
a wider ‘reference group’, however, in excess of this number, again at their discretion.

E. Management of theme group meetings
The purpose of theme groups and theme group meetings is primarily to focus on the positive,
collective action needed to deliver the objectives and specific action plan of the relevant theme.
Theme group meetings should therefore be conducted in the spirit of mutual support and
encouragement, and not be used as an opportunity to lobby, criticise or embarrass any individual
delivery partner or group of partners. Theme Group members who fail to operate within this spirit
may be asked to withdraw from the theme group by the theme lead.
The principles to those set out in 5.4.1 of the Partnership Agreement also apply to theme groups,
namely: ‘Climate action is everyone’s responsibility. In this context, Board members, theme group
members and members of the Network share accountability and will treat each other with mutual
trust and respect in the context of this shared accountability for delivery of Partnership objectives.
Failure to observe this principle may result in censure by the Board and, in the event of serious or
repeated breaches, may ultimately result in exclusion from the Board, theme groups or the
Network’.

Page 176

ANNEX 4: CLIMATE STRATEGY THEME/POLICY AREA AND RBC LEAD OFFICERS (CORRECT AT 10
MAY 2021 AS APPROVED BY RBC CLIMATE PROGRAMME BOARD)
STRATEGY
THEME
ENERGY & LOW
CARBON
DEVELPOMENT

POLICY/SUBJECT
AREA
Energy
Housing

TRANSPORT

Planning/low
carbon
development
Transport

RESOURCES

Resources/waste

WATER

Water/flood risk

NATURE

Landscape and
biodiversity
Parks and open
spaces
Health & Wellbeing
Communications &
Engagement

HEALTH &
WELLBEING
COMMS &
ENGAGEMENT

RBC TEAM

LEAD OFFICER

Climate Strategy &
Sustainability
Housing & Communities

Sustainability Manager (Ben
Burfoot)
Strategic Housing Finance and
Development Manager (Sarah
Tapliss)
Planning Policy Team Leader
(Mark Worringham)

Planning, Transport &
Regulatory Services
Planning, Transport &
Regulatory Services
Environment &
Commercial Services
Environment &
Commercial Services
Environment &
Commercial Services
Environment &
Commercial Services
Public Health
Communications

Strategic Transport Manager
(Chris Maddocks)
Oliver Burt (re3 Strategic
Waste Manager and Project
Director)
Streetcare Services Manager
(Sam Shean)
Landscape Services Manager
(Carolyn Jenkins)
Parks & Open Spaces
Manager (Andy Gillespie)
Public Health Consultant
(Karen Buckley)
Media & Comms Manager
(Amanda McDonnell)

The role of RBC lead officers in this context will be:





To ensure that actions within the relevant policy area where RBC is identified as a delivery
partner are taken forward in accordance with the relevant action plan
To liaise with partners (internal and external) to ensure effective, efficient and timely
delivery of these actions
To liaise with the RBC Climate Strategy & Sustainability Team as required to ensure good coordination and communication across RBC’s work in support of Strategy delivery
To attend relevant Theme Group meetings as and when required, and to provide
constructive input to these on behalf of RBC as a key delivery partner (NB Themes are
structured in different ways and are at different stages of development – not all Theme
Groups hold regular meetings but those that do meet up to 4 x p.a.).

The role of RBC lead officers in this context will be specific to the relevant posts (rather than to the
individuals occupying those posts) to ensure continuity in the event of staff turnover. As such there
will be an obligation on the relevant Assistant Director to ensure that the officers in these roles are
aware of their responsibilities, are discharging them effectively and that these are borne in mind in
the context of any recruitment, re-allocation of roles or restructuring affecting the relevant posts.

Page 177

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2: EXTRACT FROM RBC CONSTITUTION (SECTION 9.2 PARTNERSHIPS) WITH
DESCRIPTION OF HOW NEW PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT MEETS REQUIREMENTS
EXTRACT FROM RBC CONSTITUTION

REFERENCE IN
PARTNERSHIP
AGREEMENT
n/a

9.2.1 Context
Partnerships include any arrangements where the Council agrees to undertake, part
fund or participate in a project with other bodies; either as a beneficiary of the project,
or because the nature or status of the project gives the Council a right or obligation to
support it. It is important to understand and distinguish between a partnership in this
context and a supplier who the Council may refer to as a ‘partner’ due to the status that
the Council has contractually awarded to it. Irrespective of the title applied to it, this
latter type of partnership is a supplier relationship, which will be entered into in
accordance with, and governed by, the Council’s Procurement Policies and Contract
Procedure Rules.
9.2.2 Forming of partnerships
The approval of both the Head of Legal & Democratic Services and Strategic Finance
Director must be obtained prior to the Council entering into any partnership agreement
where it is proposed that the Council adopts the role of ‘Accountable Body’ for a
partnership. This is to ensure that the:

Approvals being
sought as part of
sign-off process
prior to
submission to
SEPT in June.

(i)

Legal status and financial viability of the arrangement are clearly
established and that they are acceptable.

See section 1.1 of
Agreement on
legal status

(ii)

Council’s financial commitment to the partnership is quantified and that
this is can be accommodated within the existing budget provision.

See 8.1 finance

(iii)

Financial and corporate governance arrangements in place for the
partnership are robust, and acceptable from the Council’s perspective.

See 8 finance & 6
governance

(iv)

The Council is not exposed to undue financial, legal or reputation risk as a
consequence of its involvement in the partnership.

See 8 finance and
12 risk

(v)

Council’s own financial accounting and reporting requirements can be
satisfied.

See 8.5 on
reporting

A partnership agreement must be produced that documents each of the above matters,
and the arrangements for dispute resolution and for exiting the arrangement. The
relevant service Committee is responsible for approving the partnership agreement, and
any delegations and frameworks required by it, in respect of functions and services
delegated to that committee. The Policy Committee will approve partnership
agreements, delegations and frameworks which affect services which cut across the
delegation of functions to committees, or where the decision falls outside the service
committee’s normal cycle of meetings or is urgent.

The proposed
Partnership
Agreement
documents these
as set out above.

Directors will ensure that:
(i)

The approval of the Strategic Finance Director and the Head of Legal &
Democratic Services is obtained prior to entering into a partnership
agreement.

Page 179

Approvals being
sought as part of
sign-off process

(ii)

An appraisal is undertaken which demonstrates that the risks associated
with the arrangement are minimal, or that appropriate arrangements are
in place to mitigate any such risks.

As part of SEPT
report

(iii)

The partnership agreement and arrangements will not impact adversely
upon the services provided by the Council or upon its finances.

As part of SEPT
report

(iv)

The proposed financial contribution by the Council to the partnership can
be met from existing budget provision.

As part of SEPT
report

(v)

Committee approval is secured for the agreement, and for all delegations
and frameworks for the proposed partnership.

SEPT Report will
secure this

9.2.3 Delegation of budget to a partnership
Directors and Heads of Service must make clear, in their report to Committee, the
Council’s budget provision for the service covered by the proposed partnership
arrangement. The report must specify where the authority will be the accountable body
under the partnership, set out the financial implications and seek the necessary budget
transfers and officer delegations to exercise this role.
9.2.4 Financial administration

As part of SEPT
report – see also
8 on finance

Where the Council is the ‘accountable body’, these Financial Regulations apply to
decisions relating to the expenditure of that money. All expenditure must be authorised
by an appropriate RBC officer, or by someone else who has a statutory power to
authorise expenditure. Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Council is
promoting and applying the same high standards of financial administration to the
partnership that apply throughout the Council. Whenever any such arrangements are
made there must be a written document which clearly establishes the responsibilities of
the respective partners for managing the arrangement and the resources made
available to the partnership. The document must also set out the arrangements in
respect of unspent funding at each year end, unless this is to be returned to the Council
as unspent money. Directors must provide information on the partnership arrangements
to the Strategic Finance Director, in order that the appropriate disclosures can be made
within the Council’s annual Statement of Accounts.

Reflects current
situation but
made explicit in
Partnership
Agreement – see
8 on finance

9.2.5 Documenting and recording of partnership agreements

Adoption of
Partnership
Agreement by
both the
Partnership and
SEPT Committee
will enable this

Directors must ensure that all partnership agreements and arrangements are properly
documented, and that all money for which the Council is accountable is spent via a
written contract with the recipient (even if the recipient is a party to the arrangements)
and that a register of those contracts must be maintained in accordance with
procedures specified by the Strategic Finance Director.

Page 180

Agenda Item 15
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT BY DIRECTOR FOR ECONOMIC GROWTH & NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES
TO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING & TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

DATE:

30 JUNE 2021

TITLE:

PROGRAMME AND SPEND APPROVAL FOR LOW CARBON CAPITAL
INVESTMENTS

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

CLLR PAGE

PORTFOLIO:

STRATEGIC ENVIRONMENT,
PLANNING & TRANSPORT

SERVICE:

DEGNS

WARDS:

ALL

LEAD OFFICER:

Peter Moore

TEL:

0118 937 4275 (x74275)

JOB TITLE:

Head of Climate
Strategy

E-MAIL:

peter.moore@reading.gov.u
k

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

The 2021/22 Budget, approved by Council in in February 2021, included capital
funding for the period to 2023/24 for a programme of low carbon investment (energy
efficiency and renewable energy installations) to help achieve the corporate Carbon
Plan target of an 85% reduction in the Council’s carbon emissions by 2025. The
contents of this programme have now been further developed (see summary at
Appendix 1) with governance being provided by the corporate Climate Programme
Board. The programme consists of a series of small and medium sized projects for
which it would be impractical to seek approval to spend on an individual basis. Spend
on projects needs to commence shortly for the programme to deliver the anticipated
benefits in the required timescales. Approval to spend is therefore being sought via
this paper for the programme as a whole based on the summary set out in Appendix 1.

1.2

The programme involves some new technologies and approaches, so some flexibility is
needed as projects may drop out of the programme (e.g. if an adequate business case
can not be made), and new projects brought in to deliver the requisite carbon savings
and returns on investment where required. As such, the recommendations seek this
flexibility. Similarly, various Government funding streams will become available over
the coming years and, given the tight timescales anticipated for submission of bids,
the paper seeks appropriate delegations to submit bids and commit sums within the
approved capital programme as match funding where required.

1.3

See also Appendix 1: summary of low carbon investment programme.

2.

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That the Committee:

(i)

Notes progress with the development of the Council’s low carbon investment plans
as summarised in Appendix 1
Gives programme and spend approval for the programme as set out in Appendix 1
within the budgetary limits set in the MTFS

(ii)

Page 181

(iii)
(iv)

Delegates agreement of any significant variance from the programme as set out in
Appendix 1 to the Director for Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services in
their capacity as Chair of the Climate Programme Board
Authorises the Director for Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services, in
consultation with the Director of Finance and Lead Member for Strategic
Environment, Planning and Transport, to submit external funding bids relevant to
the programme and to commit sums identified within the programme’s approved
capital budgets as match funding for bids as required.

3.

POLICY CONTEXT

3.1

The Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25, which was endorsed by the Policy
Committee in November 2020, reaffirmed the goal of achieving a net zero carbon
Reading by 2030 as set out in the Council’s climate emergency declaration of
February 2019. At the same time as endorsing the Climate Emergency Strategy for the
Borough, the Policy Committee also adopted a new corporate Carbon Plan for the
organisation covering the period 2020-25. This set an ambitious target of an 85%
reduction in the Council’s CO2 emissions by 2025, compared to the 2008/09 baseline.
Key to achievement of this target is additional investment in the Council’s assets to
reduce energy use, improve energy efficiency and increase renewable energy
generation, and the 2021/22 Budget and MTFS included provision for £7.111m
investment in this area up to 2023/24 (including an assumed £450k from grant
income). This investment is reflected in three budget lines in the capital programme
as follows:
Capital budget £

20/21

Salix
Re-circulation 288,000
Fund
Salix Decarbonisation 384,000
Fund
Renewable energy
-

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

300,000

250,000

250,000

416,000

600,000

400,000

2,073,000
1,546,000
(inc. 450,000
grant income)

604,000

4.

THE PROPOSAL

4.1

Current Position: the low carbon investment programme is now developing apace. A
summary of the programme is at Appendix 1. At the forefront of these plans is
equipping the Bennet Road depot with the infrastructure required to accommodate
the planned fleet of EV Refuse Collection Vehicles, the first of which is due to arrive
in the summer, and installation of solar arrays at Bennet Road to enable ‘self-supply’
of renewable electricity.

4.2

Options Proposed: the programme consists of a series of small and medium sized
projects for which it would be impractical to seek approval to spend on an individual
basis. Spend on projects needs to commence for the programme to deliver the
anticipated benefits in the required timescales. Approval to spend is therefore being
sought via this paper for the programme as a whole as set out in Appendix 1, with
appropriate delegations to approve variance from this as required.

4.3

Other Options Considered: approval to spend could in theory be sought on a project
by project basis but the urgency with which decisions may need to be taken are
unlikely to align with Committee timescales. This is therefore considered impractical
and a potential barrier to timely implementation of the programme.

Page 182

5.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

5.1

The recommendations in this report align with Corporate Plan priorities as follows:







Healthy Environment: the recommendations are designed to support effective and
timely implementation of investment plans which will help deliver the Council’s
ambitions to become a ‘net zero carbon’ organisation by 2030, as part of the
wider ambition set out in the corporate plan of a carbon neutral Reading by 2030.
Thriving Communities: the recommendations are designed to support effective and
timely implementation of investment plans which will help deliver the Council’s
ambitions for Reading’s communities to be protected from the worst impacts of a
changing climate.
Inclusive Economy: the recommendations are designed to ensure effective and
timely implementation of investment plans which will help deliver the Council’s
ambitions for development of Reading’s ‘low carbon economy’ by stimulating
demand for low carbon goods and services.

6.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

6.1

The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 2019 (Minute
48 refers), endorsed the Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25 in November
2020 and adopted a new corporate Carbon Plan 2020-25 also in November 2020. The
recommendations in this report will enable more timely and effective delivery of
investment plans designed to deliver the key aims of the Carbon Plan and will
contribute directly towards the Carbon Plan target of an 85% reduction in RBC
emissions by 2025, en route to becoming a net zero organisation by 2030.

7.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION

7.1

Section 138 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
places a duty on local authorities to involve local representatives when carrying out
"any of its functions" by providing information, consulting or "involving in another
way". The recommendations in this report relate to approved budgets which were the
subject of public consultation as part of the budget setting process.

8.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1

An Equality Impact Assessment is not considered necessary for the recommendations
in this report as they do not have implications for groups with protected
characteristics.

9.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this report.

10.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The expenditure proposals in this paper are fully funded in the 2021/22 capital budget
approved by the council in February 2021. Energy savings will accrue from the
programme and there will also be future energy costs avoided. There will be some
modest maintenance costs arising from some renewable energy installations (e.g.
solar panels) which will need to be absorbed within maintenance budgets of the
relevant buildings or assets.

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1

Documents that have been relied upon to a material extent in drafting this report are
as follows:

Page 183




Carbon Plan 2020-25, Reading Borough Council, November 2020
Capital Strategy 2021/22, Reading Borough Council, February 2021

Page 184

Appendix 1: Summary of RBC Low Carbon Capital Investment Programme
Notes
1. The 2021/22 Budget and MTFS included provision for £7.111m investment across three budget lines (Renewable Energy, Decarbonisation Fund and
SALIX Recirculation Fund) up to 2023/24. This figure comprises £6.661m in RBC capital supplemented by an assumed income from grants of £0.45m.
2. The table below identifies projects currently within the programme to be funded from RBC capital totalling £6.661m (marked ‘*’ in the table).
Where external funding bids envisaged in relation to these are successful, this could enable additional projects to be brought into the programme.
3. The table below sets these projects in the context of the wider low carbon investment programme worth some £10.798m to be funded by the
£6.661m in RBC capital, plus other projects for which external grant has been secured or for which it is envisaged funding bids will be submitted.
4. Approval to spend is already in place for the school window projects and solar PV projects but they are included here for completeness.
5. Feasibility studies have generally been funded via successful Low Carbon Skills Fund grant applications as per Policy Committee report on External
Funding Applications (January 2021).
Details

Hexagon*

Civic Offices*











Insulation
Ground Source Heat Pump
LED stage lighting
Solar PV
Battery storage
EV charging infrastructure
Solar PV
Battery storage
Water Source Heat Pump

Weirside Court*



Bristow Court*
Smallmead/Island
Road*
Crematorium*

Page 185

Building/Site

Bennet Road*

Cost
estimate
(£000's)
892*

21/
22

22/
23

23/
24

RBC Capital Budget

Decarbonisation Fund
Renewable Energy

External
funding
streams
PSDS (future
round),
CHG, HNIP

Current status

Feasibility complete

1,072*

Decarbonisation Fund
Renewable Energy

n/a

Feasibility complete

800*

Decarbonisation Fund

Feasibility complete

Water Source Heat Pump

325*



Ground Source Heat Pumps

597*



Solar PV

1,150*

Decarbonisation Fund
Renewable Energy
Decarbonisation Fund
Renewable Energy
Renewable Energy

PSDS (future
round)
PSDS (future
round)
PSDS (future
round)
n/a





Solar PV
Battery storage
Energy efficiency measures

70*

Renewable Energy

n/a

Feasibility complete

Feasibility complete
Feasibility complete
Cashflow analysis

Details

Schools



Double glazing for windows

Schools





850

Schools



Whole school retrofit
Heat pumps
Fabric improvements
Renewable energy
Solar PV arrays x 5

560

PSDS

PSDS (round
1)

Rivermead
Leisure Centre
Insulation
projects (sites to
be specified)*
Energy efficiency
projects (sites to
be specified)*
Heat pumps
projects (sites to
be specified)*
Miscellaneous*



Water source heat pump

250

CHG



Insulation programme

300*

CHG (subject to successful
bid)
SALIX Recirculation Fund



Corporate estate energy
efficiency measures

577*

SALIX Recirculation Fund

SALIX

Programme of minor
works



Heat Pumps x 5 for
corporate buildings

825*

Decarbonisation Fund

PSDS (future
round)

Details of future
rounds of PSDS
awaited



Contingency

53*

Renewable Energy
Decarbonisation Fund

Page 186

Building/Site

Total (including externally funded projects)
Total (funded from RBC approved capital budget)

Cost
estimate
(£000's)
2,477

21/
22

22/
23

23/
24

RBC Capital Budget

PSDS (50%)
School Condition Grant
(50%)
PSDS (subject to
successful funding bid)

External
funding
streams
PSDS (round
1)
PSDS (future
round)

SALIX

10,798
6,661

Key to external funding streams
CHG = Clean Heat Grant (government grant scheme in design phase, to replace Renewable Heat Incentive)
HNIP = Heat Network Investment Project (existing government grant scheme)
PSDS = Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (existing government grant scheme administered by SALIX)
SALIX = existing ‘recirculation’ loan fund operated by SALIX finance at 0% interest

Current status

Grant awarded,
procurement
underway
Details of future
rounds of PSDS
awaited
Grant awarded,
procurement
underway
Details of CHG
awaited
Programme of minor
works

